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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains numerous “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Litigation Securities Reform Act of 1995. These
forward-looking statements address our future objectives, plans and goals, as well as our intent, beliefs and current expectations regarding future operating performance, and can
generally be identified by words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “foresee” and other similar words or phrases. Specific
events addressed by these forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
 
 •  future acquisitions or dispositions;
 
 •  industry trends;
 
 •  general economic trends, including employment rates and consumer confidence levels;
 
 •  vehicle sales rates and same store sales growth;
 
 •  our financing plans; and
 
 •  our business and growth strategies.
 

These forward-looking statements are based on our current estimates and assumptions and involve various risks and uncertainties. As a result, you are cautioned that
these forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, and that actual results could differ materially from those projected in these forward-looking
statements. Factors which may cause actual results to differ materially from our projections include those risks described in Item 1A of this Form 10-K and elsewhere in this
report, as well as:
 
 •  our ability to generate sufficient cash flows or obtain additional financing to support acquisitions, capital expenditures, our share repurchase program, dividends on

our Common Stock and general operating activities;
 
 •  the reputation and financial condition of vehicle manufacturers whose brands we represent, the financial incentives they offer and their ability to design,

manufacture, deliver and market their vehicles successfully;
 
 •  our relationships with manufacturers, which may affect our ability to complete additional acquisitions;
 
 •  changes in laws and regulations governing the operation of automobile franchises, accounting standards, taxation requirements, and environmental laws;
 
 •  general economic conditions in the markets in which we operate, including fluctuations in interest rates, employment levels, the level of consumer spending and

consumer credit availability;
 
 •  high competition in the automotive retailing industry, which not only creates pricing pressures on the products and services we offer, but on businesses we seek to

acquire; and
 
 •  the timing of and our ability to successfully integrate recent and potential future acquisitions.
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 PART I
 
 Item 1. Business.
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in 1997. We are one of the largest automotive retailers in the United States. As of March 8, 2007, we operated 173
dealership franchises at 150 dealership locations, representing 36 different brands of cars and light trucks, and 38 collision repair centers in 15 states. Each of our dealerships
provides comprehensive services including (1) sales of both new and used cars and light trucks; (2) sales of replacement parts and performance of vehicle maintenance,
warranty, paint and repair services (collectively, “Fixed Operations”); and (3) arrangement of extended service contracts, financing and insurance and other aftermarket products
(collectively, “F&I”) for our automotive customers.
 

The following charts depict the diversity of our sources of revenue and gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2006:
 

 
Our dealership network is geographically organized into divisional and regional dealership groups. As of December 31, 2006, we operated dealerships in the following

geographic markets:
 

Market

  

Number of
Dealerships

  

Number of
Franchises

  

Percent of
2006 Total
Revenue

 
North/South Carolina/Georgia   19  21  9.7%
Alabama/Tennessee   16  19  9.9%
Florida   14  17  8.6%
Ohio   6  9  2.3%
Michigan   6  6  3.1%
Mid-Atlantic   6  7  5.3%
       

Eastern Division   67  79  38.9%
Houston   18  21  15.7%
Dallas   7  9  7.9%
Oklahoma   7  7  4.8%
       

Central Division   32  37  28.4%
North Bay (San Francisco)   11  13  9.1%
South Bay (San Francisco)   13  14  7.3%
Los Angeles North   12  14  7.6%
Los Angeles South   6  6  3.3%
San Diego   2  2  1.7%
Las Vegas   4  4  2.6%
Colorado   2  2  1.1%
       

Western Division   50  55  32.7%
       

Total   149  171  100.0%
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During 2006, we acquired seven dealerships, representing eight franchises, and disposed of nine dealerships, representing 12 franchises. We expect our acquisition
activity to provide approximately 10% to 15% of additional annual revenues each year and 2007 activity to be weighted toward the latter half of the year.
 

The automotive retailing industry remains highly fragmented, and we believe that further consolidation is likely. We believe that attractive acquisition opportunities
continue to exist for dealership groups with the capital and experience to identify, acquire and professionally manage dealerships.
 
BUSINESS STRATEGY
 

Further Develop Strategic Markets and Brands.    Our growth strategy is focused on large metropolitan markets, predominantly in the Southeast, Southwest, Midwest
and California. We also seek to acquire stable franchises that we believe have above average sales prospects. A majority of our dealerships are either luxury or mid-line import
brands. For the year ended December 31, 2006, 83.3% of our total revenue was generated by import and luxury dealerships, which generally have higher operating margins,
more stable fixed operations departments, lower associate turnover and lower inventory levels. We expect this trend toward acquiring more import and luxury dealerships to
continue in the near future.
 

The following table depicts the breakdown of our new vehicle revenues by brand:
 

   

Percentage of
New Vehicle Revenue

 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 
Brand (1)

  

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
Honda   14.4% 15.3% 15.2%
BMW   13.5% 14.5% 13.7%
Toyota   12.7% 11.8% 13.0%
Mercedes   3.6% 6.5% 9.5%
Cadillac   11.2% 9.2% 8.8%
General Motors (2)   10.1% 8.8% 8.0%
Ford   8.9% 8.1% 7.7%
Lexus   6.9% 7.4% 6.8%
Volvo   3.5% 3.1% 2.5%
Nissan   2.2% 2.1% 1.8%
Hyundai   1.5% 1.4% 1.5%
Audi   1.6% 1.6% 1.4%
Chrysler (3)   1.5% 1.4% 1.0%
Volkswagen   0.9% 0.9% 0.9%
Other Luxury (4)   5.2% 5.3% 5.7%
Other (5)   2.3% 2.6% 2.5%
     
Total   100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
     

(1) In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, prior years’ income statement data reflect reclassifications to exclude additional franchises sold, identified for sale, or
terminated subsequent to December 31, 2005 which had not been previously included in discontinued operations. See Notes 1 and 2 to our accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements which discusses these and other factors that affect the comparability of the information for the periods presented.

(2) Includes Buick, Chevrolet, GMC, Pontiac and Saturn
(3) Includes Chrysler, Dodge and Jeep
(4) Includes Acura, Hummer, Infiniti, Jaguar, Land Rover, Maybach, Morgan, Porsche and Saab
(5) Includes Isuzu, KIA, Mini, Scion and Subaru
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Increase Sales of Higher Margin Products and Services.    We continue to pursue opportunities to increase our sales of higher-margin products and services by
expanding the following:
 

Finance, Insurance and Other Aftermarket Products:    Each sale of a new or used vehicle provides us with an opportunity to earn financing fees and insurance
commissions and to sell extended service contracts and other aftermarket products. We currently offer a wide range of nonrecourse financing, leasing, other aftermarket
products, service contracts and insurance products to our customers. We are continuing to emphasize menu-selling techniques and other best practices to increase our sales
of F&I products at both newly acquired and existing dealerships.

 
Parts, Service & Repair:    Each of our dealerships offers a fully integrated service and parts department. Manufacturers permit warranty work to be performed only

at franchised dealerships. As a result, franchised dealerships are uniquely qualified to perform work covered by manufacturer warranties on increasingly complex vehicles.
We believe we can continue to grow our profitable parts and service business by using our access to capital to increase service capacity, investing in sophisticated
equipment and well trained technicians, using variable rate pricing structures, focusing on customer service and efficiently managing our parts inventory. In addition, we
believe our emphasis on selling extended service contracts will drive further service and parts business in our dealerships as we increase the potential to retain current
customers beyond the term of the standard manufacturer warranty period.

 
Certified Pre-Owned Vehicles.    Various manufacturers provide franchised dealers the opportunity to sell certified pre-owned (“CPO”) vehicles. This certification

process extends the standard manufacturer warranty on the particular vehicle. We typically earn higher revenues and gross margins on CPO vehicles compared to non-certified
vehicles. We also believe the extended manufacturer warranty increases our potential to retain the pre-owned purchaser as a future parts and service customer. Since CPO
warranty work can only be performed at franchised dealerships, we believe the used vehicle business will become more clearly segmented and CPO sales and similar products
will increase in volume.
 

“Value” Used Vehicles:    A market segment that drives used vehicle volume that we have not historically participated in is vehicles with retail prices below $10,000.
Historically, if we received a trade-in which did not meet our then existing internal criteria for used vehicles (in many instances these would be “value” vehicles), we would
wholesale the vehicle. We believe the market for these “value” vehicles is deep and not as sensitive to market fluctuations as higher priced used vehicles. We have begun to
more aggressively market and retail these vehicles.
 

Emphasize Expense Control.    We continually focus on controlling expenses and expanding margins at the dealerships we acquire and integrate into our organization.
We manage these costs, such as advertising and variable compensation expenses, so that they are generally related to vehicle sales and can be adjusted in response to changes in
vehicle sales volume. The majority of our non-clerical dealership personnel are paid either a commission or a modest salary plus commissions. In addition, dealership
management compensation is tied to individual dealership profitability. We believe we can further manage these types of costs through best practices, standardization of
compensation plans, controlled oversight and accountability, reducing associate turnover and centralizing and standardizing processes and systems such as a single dealership
management system, accounting office consolidation, payroll system consolidation and inventory management technology.
 

Achieve High Levels of Customer Satisfaction.    We focus on maintaining high levels of customer satisfaction. Our personalized sales process is designed to satisfy
customers by providing high-quality vehicles in a positive, “consumer friendly” buying environment. Several manufacturers offer specific financial incentives on a per vehicle
basis if certain Customer Satisfaction Index (“CSI”) levels (which vary by manufacturer) are achieved by a dealership. In addition, all manufacturers consider CSI scores in
approving acquisitions. In order to keep management focused on customer satisfaction, we include CSI results as a component of our incentive-based compensation programs.
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Manage Leverage.    Prior to 2004, we had maintained a long-term debt to total capital ratio of approximately 48% to 52%, depending on the timing of our acquisitions.
We have been steadily reducing that ratio in recent years. We believe it prudent over time to maintain our long-term debt to total capital ratio to be between 35% and 40% over
the long term. At December 31, 2006, our long-term debt to total capital ratio, net of cash and cash equivalents, was 39.4%.
 
Relationships with Manufacturers
 

Each of our dealerships operates under a separate franchise or dealer agreement that governs the relationship between the dealership and the manufacturer. In general,
each dealer agreement specifies the location of the dealership for the sale of vehicles and for the performance of certain approved services in a specified market area. The
designation of such areas generally does not guarantee exclusivity within a specified territory. In addition, most manufacturers allocate vehicles on a “turn and earn” basis that
rewards high volume. A dealer agreement requires the dealer to meet specified standards regarding showrooms, facilities and equipment for servicing vehicles, inventories,
minimum net working capital, personnel training and other aspects of the business. Each dealer agreement also gives the related manufacturer the right to approve the dealer
operator and any material change in management or ownership of the dealership. Each manufacturer may terminate a dealer agreement under certain circumstances, such as a
change in control of the dealership without manufacturer approval, the impairment of the reputation or financial condition of the dealership, the death, removal or withdrawal of
the dealer operator, the conviction of the dealership or the dealership’s owner or dealer operator of certain crimes, the failure to adequately operate the dealership or maintain
new vehicle financing arrangements, insolvency or bankruptcy of the dealership or a material breach of other provisions of the dealer agreement.
 

Many automobile manufacturers have developed policies regarding public ownership of dealerships. Policies implemented by manufacturers include the following
restrictions:
 
 •  The ability to force the sale of their respective franchises upon a change in control of our company or a material change in the composition of our Board of

Directors;
 
 •  The ability to force the sale of their respective franchises if an automobile manufacturer or distributor acquires more than 5% of the voting power of our securities;

and
 
 •  The ability to force the sale of their respective franchises if an individual or entity (other than an automobile manufacturer or distributor) acquires more than 20% of

the voting power of our securities, and the manufacturer disapproves of such individual’s or entity’s ownership interest.
 

To the extent that new or amended manufacturer policies restrict the number of dealerships which may be owned by a dealership group, or the transferability of our
common stock, such policies could have a material adverse effect on us. We believe that we will be able to renew at expiration all of our existing franchise and dealer
agreements.
 

Many states have placed limitations upon manufacturers’ and distributors’ ability to sell new motor vehicles directly to customers in their respective states in an effort to
protect dealers from practices they believe constitute unfair competition. In general, these statutes make it unlawful for a manufacturer or distributor to compete with a new
motor vehicle dealer in the same brand operating under an agreement or franchise from the manufacturer or distributor in the relevant market area. Certain states, such as
Florida, Georgia, Oklahoma, South Carolina, North Carolina and Virginia, limit the amount of time that a manufacturer may temporarily operate a dealership.
 

In addition, all of the states in which our dealerships currently do business require manufacturers to show “good cause” for terminating or failing to renew a dealer’s
franchise agreement. Further, each of the states provides some method for dealers to challenge manufacturer attempts to establish dealerships of the same brand in their relevant
market area.
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Competition
 

The retail automotive industry is highly competitive. Depending on the geographic market, we compete both with dealers offering the same brands and product lines as
ours and dealers offering other manufacturers’ vehicles. We also compete for vehicle sales with auto brokers, leasing companies and services offered on the Internet that provide
customer referrals to other dealerships or who broker vehicle sales between customers and other dealerships. We compete with small, local dealerships and with large multi-
franchise auto dealerships.
 

We believe that the principal competitive factors in vehicle sales are the location of dealerships, the marketing campaigns conducted by manufacturers, the ability of
dealerships to offer an attractive selection of the most popular vehicles, pricing (including manufacturer rebates and other special offers) and the quality of customer service.
Other competitive factors include customer preference for makes of automobiles and manufacturer warranties.
 

In addition to competition for vehicle sales, we also compete with other auto dealers, service stores, auto parts retailers and independent mechanics in providing parts and
service. We believe that the principal competitive factors in parts and service sales are price, the use of factory-approved replacement parts, factory-trained technicians, the
familiarity with a dealer’s makes and models and the quality of customer service. A number of regional and national chains offer selected parts and service at prices that may be
lower than our prices.
 

In arranging or providing financing for our customers’ vehicle purchases, we compete with a broad range of financial institutions. In addition, financial institutions are
now offering F&I products through the Internet, which may reduce our profits on these items. We believe that the principal competitive factors in providing financing are
convenience, interest rates and contract terms.
 

Our success depends, in part, on national and regional automobile-buying trends, local and regional economic factors and other regional competitive pressures.
Conditions and competitive pressures affecting the markets in which we operate, such as price-cutting by dealers in these areas, or in any new markets we enter, could adversely
affect us, although the retail automobile industry as a whole might not be affected.
 
Governmental Regulations and Environmental Matters
 

Numerous federal and state regulations govern our business of marketing, selling, financing and servicing automobiles. We are also subject to laws and regulations
relating to business corporations generally.
 

Under the laws of the states in which we currently operate as well as the laws of other states into which we may expand, we must obtain a license in order to establish,
operate or relocate a dealership or operate an automotive repair service. These laws also regulate our conduct of business, including our sales, operating, advertising, financing
and employment practices. These laws also include federal and state wage-hour, anti-discrimination and other employment practices laws.
 

Our financing activities with customers are subject to federal truth-in-lending, consumer privacy, consumer leasing and equal credit opportunity regulations as well as
state and local motor vehicle finance laws, installment finance laws, usury laws and other installment sales laws. Some states regulate finance fees that may be paid as a result of
vehicle sales.
 

Federal, state and local environmental regulations, including regulations governing air and water quality, the clean-up of contaminated property and the use, storage,
handling, recycling and disposal of gasoline, oil and other materials, also apply to us and our dealership properties.
 

We believe that we comply in all material respects with the laws affecting our business. However, claims arising out of actual or alleged violations of laws may be
asserted against us or our dealerships by individuals or
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governmental entities, and may expose us to significant damages or other penalties, including possible suspension or revocation of our licenses to conduct dealership operations
and fines.
 

As with automobile dealerships generally, and service, parts and body shop operations in particular, our business involves the use, storage, handling and contracting for
recycling or disposal of hazardous or toxic substances or wastes and other environmentally sensitive materials. Our business also involves the past and current operation and/or
removal of above ground and underground storage tanks containing such substances or wastes. Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by federal, state and local authorities
that establish health and environmental quality standards, provide for liability related to those standards, and in certain circumstances provide penalties for violations of those
standards. We are also subject to laws, ordinances and regulations governing remediation of contamination at facilities we own or operate or to which we send hazardous or
toxic substances or wastes for treatment, recycling or disposal.
 

We do not have any known material environmental liabilities and we believe that compliance with environmental laws and regulations will not, individually or in the
aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. However, soil and groundwater contamination is known to exist at
certain properties used by us. Further, environmental laws and regulations are complex and subject to frequent change. In addition, in connection with our acquisitions, it is
possible that we will assume or become subject to new or unforeseen environmental costs or liabilities, some of which may be material. We cannot assure you that compliance
with current or amended, or new or more stringent, laws or regulations, stricter interpretations of existing laws or the future discovery of environmental conditions will not
require additional expenditures by us, or that such expenditures will not be material.
 
Executive Officers of the Registrant
 

Our executive officers as of the date of this Form 10-K, are as follows:
 
Name

  

Age

  

Position(s) with Sonic

O. Bruton Smith   80  Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director
B. Scott Smith   39  President, Chief Strategic Officer and Director
David P. Cosper   52  Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
Mark J. Iuppenlatz   47  Executive Vice President of Corporate Development
 

O. Bruton Smith, 80, is our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and a director and has served as such since our organization in January 1997, and he currently is a
director and executive officer of many of our subsidiaries. Mr. Smith has worked in the retail automobile industry since 1966. Mr. Smith is also the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, a director and controlling stockholder of Speedway Motorsports, Inc. (“SMI”). SMI is a public company traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the
“NYSE”). Among other things, SMI owns and operates the following NASCAR racetracks: Atlanta Motor Speedway, Bristol Motor Speedway, Lowe’s Motor Speedway, Las
Vegas Motor Speedway, Infineon Raceway and Texas Motor Speedway. He is also an executive officer or a director of most of SMI’s operating subsidiaries.
 

B. Scott Smith, 39, is our President and Chief Strategic Officer. He was appointed President on March 13, 2007. Prior to this appointment he served as our Vice
Chairman and Chief Strategic Officer since October 2002. Mr. Smith was President and Chief Operating Officer from April 1997 until October 2002. Mr. Smith has been a
director of our company since our organization in January 1997. Mr. Smith also serves as a director and executive officer of many of our subsidiaries. Mr. Smith, who is the son
of O. Bruton Smith, has been an executive officer of Town & Country Ford since 1993, and was a minority owner of both Town & Country Ford and Fort Mill Ford before our
acquisition of these dealerships in 1997. Mr. Smith became the General Manager of Town & Country Ford in November 1992 where he remained until his appointment as
President and Chief Operating Officer in April 1997. Mr. Smith has over twenty years experience in the automobile dealership industry.
 

7



Table of Contents

 
David P. Cosper, 52, is our Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer. He was promoted from Executive Vice President to Vice Chairman on March 13, 2007. He

joined Sonic Automotive on March 1, 2006 as our Executive Vice President and became our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer on March 16, 2006. Mr. Cosper served as
Treasurer through the end of 2006 and relinquished the position in February 2007. Prior to joining Sonic, he was Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer of Ford Motor
Credit Company, a position held since 2003. From 1979, when he joined Ford Motor Company, Mr. Cosper served in a variety of positions in Ford Motor Company and Ford
Motor Credit Company, including Vice President and Treasurer of Ford Motor Credit Company and Executive Director of Corporate Finance at Ford Motor Company. In such
positions, he was responsible for worldwide profit analysis and treasury matters, risk management, business planning, and competitive and strategic analysis.
 

Mark J. Iuppenlatz, 47, is our Executive Vice President of Corporate Development. In April 2004, Mr. Iuppenlatz was promoted to Executive Vice President from
Senior Vice President, a position which he had held since May 2002. Prior to May 2002, he served as our Vice President of Corporate Development from August 1999. Before
joining us, Mr. Iuppenlatz served as the Executive Vice President—Acquisitions and Chief Operating Officer of Mar Mar Realty Trust (“MMRT”), a real estate investment trust
specializing in sale/leaseback financing of automotive-related real estate, from September 1998 to August 1999. From 1996 to September 1998, Mr. Iuppenlatz was employed
by Brookdale Living Communities, Inc., a company that owns, operates, develops and manages luxury senior housing communities, where he was responsible for the
company’s development operations. From 1994 to 1996, he served as Vice President of Schlotzky’s, Inc., a publicly traded restaurant chain. From 1991 to 1994, Mr. Iuppenlatz
served in Spain as the director of marketing and the assistant director of development for Kepro S.A., a real estate development company.
 
Employees
 

As of March 1, 2007, we employed approximately 11,200 people. We believe that our relationships with our employees are good. Approximately 300 of our employees,
primarily service technicians in our Northern California markets and certain sales associates and service department associates in Michigan, are represented by a labor union.
Because of our dependence on the manufacturers, however, we may be affected by labor strikes, work slowdowns and walkouts at the manufacturer’s manufacturing facilities.
 
Company Information
 

Our website is located at www.sonicautomotive.com. Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments
to those reports, as well as proxy statements and other information we file with, or furnish to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are available free of charge on
our website. We make these documents available as soon as reasonably practicable after we file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. Except as otherwise stated in these
documents, the information contained on our website or available by hyperlink from our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K or other documents
we file with, or furnish to, the SEC.
 
 Item 1A: Risk Factors
 

In addition to the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following is a list of factors that could materially affect our business, financial
condition or future results. These risks are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial may
also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Indebtedness
 
Our significant indebtedness could materially adversely affect our financial health, limit our ability to finance future acquisitions and capital expenditures and
prevent us from fulfilling our financial obligations.
 

As of December 31, 2006, our total outstanding indebtedness was $1,762.1 million, including the following:
 
 •  $20.1 million under a portion of our four-year syndicated credit facility (the “2006 Revolving Credit Facility”);
 
 •  $1,160.7 million under the secured new and used inventory floor plan facilities, including $96.3 million classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale;
 
 •  $128.6 million in 5.25% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2009 (the “2002 Convertibles”) representing $130.1 million in aggregate principal amount

outstanding less unamortized discount of approximately $1.5 million;
 
 •  $156.8 million in 4.25% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2015, redeemable on or after November 30, 2010, (the “2005 Convertibles”) representing $160.0

million in aggregate principal amount outstanding less unamortized discount of approximately $3.2 million;
 
 •  $272.5 million in 8.625% senior subordinated notes due 2013 (the “8.625% Notes”) representing $275.0 million in aggregate principal amount outstanding less

unamortized net discount of approximately $2.5 million; and
 
 •  $23.4 million of other secured debt, representing $23.3 million in aggregate principal amount plus unamortized premium of approximately $4.8 million and less

$4.7 million for the fair value of fixed to variable interest rate swaps.
 

As of December 31, 2006, we had $252.1 million available for additional borrowings under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility. We also have significant additional
capacity under new and used floor plan facilities. In addition, the indentures relating to our 8.625% Notes, 2002 Convertibles and 2005 Convertibles and our other debt
instruments allow us to incur additional indebtedness, including secured indebtedness. Our 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility, up to $700.0 million in borrowing availability
for new vehicle inventory floor plan financing and up to $150.0 million in borrowing availability for used vehicle inventory floor plan financing are collectively referred to as
our “2006 Credit Facility”.
 

In addition, the majority of our dealership properties are leased under long-term operating lease arrangements (which many view as debt financing) that generally have
initial terms of fifteen to twenty years with one or two five-year renewal options. These operating leases require monthly payments of rent that may fluctuate based on interest
rates and local consumer price indices. The total future minimum lease payments related to these operating leases and certain equipment leases are significant and are disclosed
in the notes to our financial statements under the heading “Commitments and Contingencies” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

The degree to which we are leveraged could have important consequences to the holders of our securities, including the following:
 
 •  our ability to obtain additional financing for acquisitions, capital expenditures, working capital or general corporate purposes may be impaired in the future;
 
 •  a substantial portion of our current cash flow from operations must be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the

funds available to us for our operations and other purposes;
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 •  some of our borrowings and facility leases are and will continue to be at variable rates of interest, which exposes us to the risk of increasing interest rates;
 
 •  the indebtedness outstanding under our 2006 Credit Facility and other floor plan facilities are secured by a pledge of substantially all the assets of our dealerships;

and
 
 •  we may be substantially more leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a relative competitive disadvantage and make us more vulnerable to

changing market conditions and regulations.
 

In addition, our debt agreements contain numerous covenants that limit our discretion with respect to business matters, including mergers or acquisitions, paying
dividends, incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or disposing of assets.
 
An acceleration of our obligation to repay all or a substantial portion of our outstanding indebtedness or lease obligations would have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 

Our 2006 Credit Facility, the indenture governing our 8.625% Notes and many of our facility operating leases contain numerous financial and operating covenants. A
breach of any of these covenants could result in a default under the applicable agreement or indenture. If a default were to occur, we may be unable to adequately finance our
operations and the value of our common stock would be materially adversely affected. In addition, a default under one agreement or indenture could result in a default and
acceleration of our repayment obligations under the other agreements or indentures, including the indentures governing our outstanding 2002 Convertibles, 2005 Convertibles
and 8.625% Notes, under the cross default provisions in those agreements or indentures. If a cross default were to occur, we may not be able to pay our debts or borrow
sufficient funds to refinance them. Even if new financing were available, it may not be on terms acceptable to us. As a result of this risk, we could be forced to take actions that
we otherwise would not take, or not take actions that we otherwise might take, in order to comply with the covenants in these agreements and indentures.
 
Our ability to make interest and principal payments when due to holders of our debt securities depends upon the receipt of sufficient funds from our subsidiaries.
 

Substantially all of our consolidated assets are held by our subsidiaries and substantially all of our consolidated cash flow and net income are generated by our
subsidiaries. Accordingly, our cash flow and ability to service debt depends to a substantial degree on the results of operations of subsidiaries and upon the ability of our
subsidiaries to provide us with cash. We may receive cash from our subsidiaries in the form of dividends, loans or otherwise. We may use this cash to service our debt
obligations or for working capital. Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to distribute cash to us or to make
funds available to service debt. In addition, the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make loans to us are subject to contractual limitations under the floor plan
facilities, minimum net capital requirements under manufacturer franchise agreements and laws of the state in which a subsidiary is organized and depend to a significant degree
on the results of operations of our subsidiaries and other business considerations.
 

Risks Related to Our Relationships with Vehicle Manufacturers
 
Our operations may be adversely affected if one or more of our manufacturer franchise agreements is terminated or not renewed.
 

Each of our dealerships operates under a franchise agreement with the applicable automobile manufacturer or distributor. Without a franchise agreement, we cannot
obtain new vehicles from a manufacturer. As a result, we are significantly dependent on our relationships with these manufacturers.
 

Manufacturers exercise a great degree of control over the operations of our dealerships through the franchise agreements. The franchise agreements govern, among other
things, our ability to purchase vehicles from the
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manufacturer and to sell vehicles to customers. Each of our franchise agreements provides for termination or non-renewal for a variety of causes, including any unapproved
change of ownership or management. Manufacturers may also have a right of first refusal if we seek to sell dealerships.
 

Actions taken by manufacturers to exploit their superior bargaining position in negotiating the terms of franchise agreements or renewals of these agreements or
otherwise could also have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. We cannot guarantee you that any of our existing franchise
agreements will be renewed or that the terms and conditions of such renewals will be favorable to us.
 
Our sales volume and profit margin on each sale may be materially adversely affected if manufacturers discontinue or change their incentive programs.
 

Our dealerships depend on the manufacturers for certain sales incentives, warranties and other programs that are intended to promote and support dealership new vehicle
sales. Manufacturers routinely modify their incentive programs in response to changing market conditions. Some of the key incentive programs include:
 
 •  customer rebates or below market financing on new vehicles;
 
 •  employee pricing;
 
 •  dealer incentives on new vehicles;
 
 •  manufacturer floor plan interest and advertising assistance;
 
 •  warranties on new and used vehicles; and
 
 •  sponsorship of used vehicle sales by authorized new vehicle dealers.
 

Manufacturers frequently offer incentives to potential customers. A reduction or discontinuation of a manufacturer’s incentive programs may materially adversely
impact vehicle demand and affect our profitability.
 
We depend on manufacturers to supply us with sufficient numbers of popular and profitable new models.
 

Manufacturers typically allocate their vehicles among dealerships based on the sales history of each dealership. Supplies of popular new vehicles may be limited by the
applicable manufacturer’s production capabilities. Popular new vehicles that are in limited supply typically produce the highest profit margins. We depend on manufacturers to
provide us with a desirable mix of popular new vehicles. Our operating results may be materially adversely affected if we do not obtain a sufficient supply of these vehicles.
 
Adverse conditions affecting one or more key manufacturers may negatively impact our profitability.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, approximately 89.4% of our new vehicle revenue was derived from the sale of new vehicles manufactured by Ford, Honda,
General Motors (including Cadillac), BMW, Mercedes and Toyota. Our success depends to a great extent on these manufacturers’:
 
 •  financial condition;
 
 •  marketing;
 
 •  vehicle design;
 
 •  publicity concerning a particular manufacturer or vehicle model;
 
 •  production capabilities;
 
 •  management;
 
 •  reputation; and
 
 •  labor relations.
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Events such as labor strikes that may adversely affect a manufacturer may also adversely affect us. In particular, labor strikes at a manufacturer that continue for a
substantial period of time could have a material adverse effect on our business. Similarly, the delivery of vehicles from manufacturers at a time later than scheduled, which may
occur particularly during periods of new product introductions, could limit sales of those vehicles during those periods. This has been experienced at some of our dealerships
from time to time. Adverse conditions affecting these and other important aspects of manufacturers’ operations and public relations may adversely affect our ability to sell their
automobiles and, as a result, significantly and detrimentally affect our profitability.
 

During 2005 and into 2006, the financial condition and operating results of both Ford and General Motors deteriorated significantly. As of December 31, 2006, we
owned 28 Ford franchises (including Volvo, Jaguar, Land Rover, Lincoln and Mercury) and 42 General Motors franchises (including Cadillac, Saab, Saturn, Chevrolet, Buick,
GMC, Hummer and Pontiac). Should the financial condition and operating results of either Ford or General Motors continue to significantly deteriorate, it is possible that the
particular manufacturer could file for bankruptcy protection. Such a bankruptcy filing by either Ford or General Motors could have a material adverse effect on our future
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
 
Manufacturer stock ownership restrictions may impair our ability to maintain or renew franchise agreements or issue additional equity.
 

Some of our franchise agreements prohibit transfers of any ownership interests of a dealership and, in some cases, its parent, without prior approval of the applicable
manufacturer. A number of manufacturers impose restrictions on the transferability of our Class A common stock and our ability to maintain franchises if a person acquires a
significant percentage of the voting power of our common stock. Our existing franchise agreements could be terminated if a person or entity acquires a substantial ownership
interest in us or acquires voting power above certain levels without the applicable manufacturer’s approval. Violations of these levels by an investor are generally outside of our
control and may result in the termination or non-renewal of existing franchise agreements or impair our ability to negotiate new franchise agreements for dealerships we acquire.
In addition, if we cannot obtain any requisite approvals on a timely basis, we may not be able to issue additional equity or otherwise raise capital on terms acceptable to us.
These restrictions may also prevent or deter a prospective acquiror from acquiring control of us. This could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.
 

The current holders of our Class B common stock maintain voting control over us. However, we are unable to prevent our stockholders from transferring shares of our
common stock, including transfers by holders of the Class B common stock. If such transfer results in a change in control, it could result in the termination or non-renewal of
one or more of our existing franchise agreements, the triggering of provisions in our agreements with certain manufacturers requiring us to sell our dealerships franchised with
such manufacturers and/or a default under our credit arrangements.
 
Our dealers depend upon vehicle sales and, therefore, their success depends in large part upon customer demand for the particular vehicles they carry.
 

The success of our dealerships depends in large part on the overall success of the vehicle lines they carry. New vehicle sales generate the majority of our total revenue
and lead to sales of higher-margin products and services such as finance, insurance, vehicle protection products and other aftermarket products, and parts and service operations.
Although we have sought to limit our dependence on any one vehicle brand and our parts and service operations and used vehicle sales may serve to offset some of this risk, we
have focused our new vehicle sales operations in mid-line import and luxury brands.
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Our failure to meet a manufacturer’s customer satisfaction, financial and sales performance requirements may adversely affect our ability to acquire new dealerships
and our profitability.
 

Many manufacturers attempt to measure customers’ satisfaction with their sales and warranty service experiences through manufacturer-determined consumer
satisfaction index (“CSI”) scores. The components of CSI vary from manufacturer to manufacturer and are modified periodically. Franchise agreements also may impose
financial and sales performance standards. Under our agreements with certain manufacturers, a dealership’s CSI scores, sales and financial performance may be considered a
factor in evaluating applications for additional dealership acquisitions. From time to time, some of our dealerships have had difficulty meeting various manufacturers’ CSI
requirements or performance standards. We cannot assure you that our dealerships will be able to comply with these requirements in the future. A manufacturer may refuse to
consent to an acquisition of one of its franchises if it determines our dealerships do not comply with its CSI requirements or performance standards, which could impair the
execution of our acquisition strategy. In addition, we receive incentive payments from the manufacturers based, in part, on CSI scores, which could be materially adversely
affected if our CSI scores decline.
 
If state dealer laws are repealed or weakened, our dealerships will be more susceptible to termination, non-renewal or renegotiation of their franchise agreements.
 

State dealer laws generally provide that a manufacturer may not terminate or refuse to renew a franchise agreement unless it has first provided the dealer with written
notice setting forth good cause and stating the grounds for termination or nonrenewal. Some state dealer laws allow dealers to file protests or petitions or attempt to comply with
the manufacturer’s criteria within the notice period to avoid the termination or nonrenewal. Though unsuccessful to date, manufacturers’ lobbying efforts may lead to the repeal
or revision of state dealer laws. If dealer laws are repealed in the states in which we operate, manufacturers may be able to terminate our franchises without providing advance
notice, an opportunity to cure or a showing of good cause. Without the protection of state dealer laws, it may also be more difficult for our dealers to renew their franchise
agreements upon expiration.
 

In addition, these laws restrict the ability of automobile manufacturers to directly enter the retail market in the future. However, the ability of a manufacturer to grant
additional franchises is based on several factors which are not within our control. If manufacturers grant new franchises in areas near or within our existing markets, this could
significantly impact our revenues and/or profitability. Further, if manufacturers obtain the ability to directly retail vehicles and do so in our markets, such competition could
have a material adverse effect on us.
 

Risks Related to Our Acquisition Strategy
 
Manufacturers’ restrictions on acquisitions could limit our future growth.
 

We are required to obtain the approval of the applicable manufacturer before we can acquire an additional dealership franchise of that manufacturer. In determining
whether to approve an acquisition, manufacturers may consider many factors such as our financial condition and CSI scores. Obtaining manufacturer approval of acquisitions
also takes a significant amount of time, typically three to five months. We cannot assure you that manufacturers will approve future acquisitions or do so on a timely basis,
which could impair the execution of our acquisition strategy.
 

Certain manufacturers also limit the number of its dealerships that we may own, our national market share of that manufacturer’s products or the number of dealerships
we may own in a particular geographic area. In addition, under an applicable franchise agreement or under state law, a manufacturer may have a right of first refusal to acquire
a dealership that we seek to acquire.
 

A manufacturer may condition approval of an acquisition on the implementation of material changes in our operations or extraordinary corporate transactions, facilities
improvements or other capital expenditures. If we
 

13



Table of Contents

are unable or unwilling to comply with these conditions, we may be required to sell the assets of that manufacturer’s dealerships or terminate our franchise agreement.
 
Failure to effectively integrate acquired dealerships with our existing operations could adversely affect our future operating results.
 

Our future operating results depend on our ability to integrate the operations of recently acquired dealerships, as well as dealerships we acquire in the future, with our
existing operations. In particular, we need to integrate our management information systems, procedures and organizational structures, which can be difficult. Our growth
strategy has focused on the pursuit of strategic acquisitions that either expand or complement our business.
 

We cannot assure you that we will effectively and profitably integrate the operations of these dealerships without substantial costs, delays or operational or financial
problems, due to:
 
 •  the difficulties of managing operations located in geographic areas where we have not previously operated;
 
 •  the management time and attention required to integrate and manage newly acquired dealerships;
 
 •  the difficulties of assimilating and retaining employees;
 
 •  the challenges of keeping customers; and
 
 •  the challenge of retaining or attracting appropriate dealership management personnel.
 

These factors could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
 
We may not adequately anticipate all of the demands that growth through acquisitions will impose.
 

The automobile retailing industry is considered a mature industry in which minimal growth is expected in total unit sales. Accordingly, our ability to generate higher
revenue and earnings in future periods depends in large part on our ability to acquire additional dealerships, manage geographic expansion, control costs in our operations and
consolidate both past and future dealership acquisitions into our existing operations. In pursuing a strategy of acquiring other dealerships, we face risks commonly encountered
with growth through acquisitions. These risks include, but are not limited to:
 
 •  incurring significantly higher capital expenditures and operating expenses;
 
 •  failing to assimilate the operations and personnel of acquired dealerships;
 
 •  entering new markets with which we are unfamiliar;
 
 •  potential undiscovered liabilities and operational difficulties at acquired dealerships;
 
 •  disrupting our ongoing business;
 
 •  diverting our management resources;
 
 •  failing to maintain uniform standards, controls and policies;
 
 •  impairing relationships with employees, manufacturers and customers as a result of changes in management;
 
 •  increased expenses for accounting and computer systems, as well as integration difficulties;
 
 •  failure to obtain a manufacturer’s consent to the acquisition of one or more of its dealership franchises or renew the franchise agreement on terms acceptable to us;

and
 
 •  incorrectly valuing entities to be acquired.
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We may not adequately anticipate all of the demands that growth will impose on our systems, procedures and structures.
 
We may not be able to capitalize on acquisition opportunities because our financial resources available for acquisitions are limited.
 

We intend to finance our acquisitions with cash generated from operations, through issuances of our stock or debt securities and through borrowings under credit
arrangements. We may not be able to obtain additional financing by issuing stock or debt securities due to the market price of our Class A common stock, overall market
conditions or the need for manufacturer consent to the issuance of equity securities. Using cash to complete acquisitions could substantially limit our operating or financial
flexibility. If we are unable to obtain financing on acceptable terms, we may be required to reduce the scope of our presently anticipated expansion, which could materially
adversely affect our overall growth strategy.
 

In addition, we are dependent to a significant extent on our ability to finance our new vehicle inventory with “floor plan financing.” Floor plan financing arrangements
allow us to borrow money to buy a particular vehicle from the manufacturer and pay off the loan when we sell that particular vehicle. We must obtain new floor plan financing
or obtain consents to assume existing floor plan financing in connection with our acquisition of dealerships.
 

Substantially all the assets of our dealerships are pledged to secure the indebtedness under the 2006 Credit Facility and our separate floor plan indebtedness with the
respective captive finance subsidiaries of BMW, DaimlerChrysler, Ford and General Motors. Three of the lenders under the 2006 Credit Facility are the respective captive
finance subsidiaries of BMW, Nissan and Toyota. These pledges may impede our ability to borrow from other sources. Moreover, because the identified manufacturer captive
finance subsidiaries are either owned or affiliated with BMW, DaimlerChrysler, Ford, General Motors, Nissan and Toyota, respectively, any deterioration of our relationship
with the particular captive finance subsidiary could adversely affect our relationship with the affiliated manufacturer, and vice-versa.
 
We may not be able to continue executing our acquisition strategy without the costs of future acquisitions escalating.
 

We have grown our business primarily through acquisitions. We may not be able to consummate any future acquisitions at acceptable prices and terms or identify
suitable candidates. In addition, increased competition for acquisition candidates could result in fewer acquisition opportunities for us and higher acquisition prices. The
magnitude, timing, pricing and nature of future acquisitions will depend upon various factors, including:
 
 •  the availability of suitable acquisition candidates;
 
 •  competition with other dealer groups for suitable acquisitions;
 
 •  the negotiation of acceptable terms;
 
 •  our financial capabilities;
 
 •  our stock price; and
 
 •  the availability of skilled employees to manage the acquired companies.
 
We may not be able to determine the actual financial condition of dealerships we acquire until after we complete the acquisition and take control of the dealerships.
 

The operating and financial condition of acquired businesses cannot be determined accurately until we assume control. Although we conduct what we believe to be a
prudent level of investigation regarding the operating and financial condition of the businesses we purchase, in light of the circumstances of each transaction,
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an unavoidable level of risk remains regarding the actual operating condition of these businesses. Similarly, many of the dealerships we acquire, including our largest
acquisitions, do not have financial statements audited or prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. We may not have an accurate understanding of
the historical financial condition and performance of our acquired entities. Until we actually assume control of business assets and their operations, we may not be able to
ascertain the actual value or understand the potential liabilities of the acquired entities and their operations.
 
Although O. Bruton Smith, our chairman and chief executive officer, and his affiliates have previously assisted us with obtaining financing, we cannot assure you that
he or they will be willing or able to do so in the future.
 

Our obligations under the 2006 Credit Facility are secured with a pledge of shares of common stock of Speedway Motorsports, Inc., a publicly traded owner and
operator of automobile racing facilities. These shares of Speedway Motorsports common stock are beneficially owned by Sonic Financial Corporation (“SFC”), an entity
controlled by Mr. Smith. Presently, the $350.0 million borrowing limit of our 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility is subject to a borrowing base calculation that is based, in
part, on the value of the Speedway Motorsports shares pledged by SFC. Consequently, a withdrawal of this pledge by SFC or a significant decrease in the value of Speedway
Motorsports common stock could reduce the amount we can borrow under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility.
 

Mr. Smith has also guaranteed additional indebtedness incurred to complete certain dealership acquisitions. Mr. Smith may not be willing or able to provide similar
guarantees or credit support in the future. This could impair our ability to obtain acquisition financing on favorable terms.
 

Risks Related to the Automotive Retail Industry
 
Increasing competition among automotive retailers reduces our profit margins on vehicle sales and related businesses. Further, the use of the Internet in the car
purchasing process could materially adversely affect us.
 

Automobile retailing is a highly competitive business. Our competitors include publicly and privately owned dealerships, some of which are larger and have greater
financial and marketing resources than we do. Many of our competitors sell the same or similar makes of new and used vehicles that we offer in our markets at competitive
prices. We do not have any cost advantage in purchasing new vehicles from manufacturers due to economies of scale or otherwise. In addition, the popularity of short-term
vehicle leasing in the past few years has resulted, as these leases expire, in a large increase in the number of late model used vehicles available in the market, which puts added
pressure on new and used vehicle margins. We typically rely on advertising, merchandising, sales expertise, service reputation and dealership location to sell new vehicles. Our
revenues and profitability could be materially adversely affected if manufacturers decide to enter the retail market directly.
 

Our financing, insurance, vehicle protection product and other aftermarket product (“F&I”) business and other related businesses, which have higher margins than sales
of new and used vehicles, are subject to strong competition from various financial institutions and other third parties.
 

The Internet has become a significant part of the sales process in our industry. Customers are using the Internet to compare pricing for cars and related F&I services,
which may further reduce margins for new and used cars and profits for related F&I services. If Internet new vehicle sales are allowed to be conducted without the involvement
of franchised dealers, our business could be materially adversely affected. In addition, other franchise groups have aligned themselves with services offered on the Internet or
are investing heavily in the development of their own Internet capabilities, which could materially adversely affect our business.
 

Our franchise agreements do not grant us the exclusive right to sell a manufacturer’s product within a given geographic area. Our revenues or profitability could be
materially adversely affected if any of our manufacturers
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award franchises to others in the same markets where we operate or if existing franchised dealers increase their market share in our markets.
 

As we seek to acquire dealerships in new markets, we may face increasingly significant competition as we strive to gain market share through acquisitions or otherwise.
Our operating margins may decline over time as we expand into markets where we do not have a leading position.
 
Our business will be harmed if overall consumer demand suffers from a severe or sustained downturn.
 

Our business is heavily dependent on consumer demand and preferences. Our revenues will be materially and adversely affected if there is a severe or sustained
downturn in overall levels of consumer spending. Retail vehicle sales are cyclical and historically have experienced periodic downturns characterized by oversupply and weak
demand. These cycles are often dependent on general economic conditions and consumer confidence, as well as the level of discretionary personal income and credit
availability. Future recessions may have a material adverse effect on our retail business, particularly sales of new and used automobiles.
 

In addition, severe or sustained increases in gasoline prices may lead to a reduction in automobile purchases or a shift in buying patterns from luxury and sport utility
vehicle models (which typically provide high margins to retailers) to smaller, more economical vehicles (which typically have lower margins).
 
A decline of available financing in the sub-prime lending market has, and may continue to, adversely affect our sales of used vehicles.
 

A significant portion of vehicle buyers, particularly in the used car market, finance their purchases of automobiles. Sub-prime lenders have historically provided
financing for consumers who, for a variety of reasons including poor credit histories and lack of down payment, do not have access to more traditional finance sources. Our
recent experience suggests that sub-prime lenders have tightened their credit standards and may continue to apply these higher standards in the future. This has adversely
affected our used vehicle sales. If sub-prime lenders continue to apply these higher standards or if there is any further tightening of credit standards used by sub-prime lenders or
if there is any additional decline in the overall availability of credit in the sub-prime lending market, the ability of these consumers to purchase vehicles could be limited which
could have a material adverse effect on our used car business, revenues and profitability.
 
Our business may be adversely affected by import product restrictions and foreign trade risks that may impair our ability to sell foreign vehicles profitably.
 

A significant portion of our new vehicle business involves the sale of vehicles, parts or vehicles composed of parts that are manufactured outside the United States. As a
result, our operations are subject to customary risks of importing merchandise, including fluctuations in the relative values of currencies, import duties, exchange controls, trade
restrictions, work stoppages and general political and socio-economic conditions in other countries. The United States or the countries from which our products are imported
may, from time to time, impose new quotas, duties, tariffs or other restrictions, or adjust presently prevailing quotas, duties or tariffs, which may affect our operations and our
ability to purchase imported vehicles and/or parts at reasonable prices.
 
The seasonality of our business magnifies the importance of second and third quarter operating results.
 

Our business is subject to seasonal variations in revenues. In our experience, demand for automobiles is generally lower during the first and fourth quarters of each year.
We therefore receive a disproportionate amount of revenues generally in the second and third quarters and expect our revenues and operating results to be generally lower in the
first and fourth quarters. Consequently, if conditions surface during the second and third quarters that impair vehicle sales, such as higher fuel costs, depressed economic
conditions or similar adverse conditions, our revenues for the year could be disproportionately adversely affected.
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General Risks Related to Investing in Our Securities
 
Concentration of voting power and anti-takeover provisions of our charter, bylaws, Delaware law and our dealer agreements may reduce the likelihood of any
potential change of control.
 

Our common stock is divided into two classes with different voting rights. This dual class stock ownership allows the present holders of the Class B common stock to
control us. Holders of Class A common stock have one vote per share on all matters. Holders of Class B common stock have 10 votes per share on all matters, except that they
have only one vote per share on any transaction proposed or approved by the Board of Directors or a Class B common stockholder or otherwise benefiting the Class B common
stockholders constituting a:
 
 •  “going private” transaction;
 
 •  disposition of substantially all of our assets;
 
 •  transfer resulting in a change in the nature of our business; or
 
 •  merger or consolidation in which current holders of common stock would own less than 50% of the common stock following such transaction.
 

The holders of Class B common stock currently hold less than a majority of our outstanding common stock, but a majority of our voting power. This may prevent or
discourage a change of control of us even if the action was favored by holders of Class A common stock.
 

Our charter and bylaws make it more difficult for our stockholders to take corporate actions at stockholders’ meetings. In addition, options under our 1997 Stock Option
Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan become immediately exercisable upon a change in control. Delaware law also makes it difficult for stockholders who have recently acquired
a large interest in a company to consummate a business combination transaction with the company against its directors’ wishes. Finally, restrictions imposed by our dealer
agreements may impede or prevent any potential takeover bid. Generally, our franchise agreements allow the manufacturers the right to terminate the agreements upon a change
of control of our company and impose restrictions upon the transferability of any significant percentage of our stock to any one person or entity who may be unqualified, as
defined by the manufacturer, to own one of its dealerships. The inability of a person or entity to qualify with one or more of our manufacturers may prevent or seriously impede
a potential takeover bid. In addition, provisions of our lending arrangements create an event of default on a change in control. These agreements, corporate governance
documents and laws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or preventing stockholders from realizing a premium on the sale of their shares if we were
acquired.
 
The outcome of legal and administrative proceedings we are or may become involved in could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
profitability.
 

We are involved, and expect to continue to be involved, in numerous legal and administrative proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business, including
regulatory investigations and private civil actions brought by plaintiffs purporting to represent a potential class or for which a class has been certified, such as the following.
 

Several private civil actions have been filed against Sonic Automotive, Inc. and several of our dealership subsidiaries that purport to represent classes of customers as
potential plaintiffs and make allegations that certain products sold in the finance and insurance departments were done so in a deceptive or otherwise illegal manner. One of
these private civil actions has been filed in South Carolina state court against Sonic Automotive, Inc. and 10 of our South Carolina subsidiaries. We have been advised that the
plaintiffs’ attorneys in this South Carolina private civil action intend to file private civil class actions against Sonic Automotive, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries in other
states. This group of plaintiffs’ attorneys has filed another one of these private civil class action lawsuits in state court in North Carolina seeking certification of a multi-state
class of plaintiffs. The South Carolina state court action and the North Carolina state court action have since been consolidated into a single proceeding in private arbitration.
Another one of these private civil actions has been filed in Tennessee state
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court against Sonic Automotive, Inc. and one of our Tennessee subsidiaries. Additionally, a private civil action has also been filed against one of our dealerships in Los Angeles
County stating allegations of deceptive sales practices by that dealership. The plaintiffs in this private civil action purport to represent a class of customers as potential plaintiffs,
although no motion for class certification has been filed.
 

The outcomes of the civil actions brought by plaintiffs purporting to represent a class of customers, as well as other pending and future legal proceedings arising out of
the conduct of our business, including litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, contractual disputes, class actions, purported class actions and actions brought by
governmental authorities, cannot be predicted with certainty. An unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects.
 

Our company is a defendant in the matter of Galura, et al. v. Sonic Automotive, Inc., a private civil action filed in the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida. In
this action, originally filed on December 30, 2002, the plaintiffs allege that we and our Florida dealerships sold an antitheft protection product in a deceptive or otherwise
illegal manner, and further sought representation on behalf of any customer of any of our Florida dealerships who purchased the antitheft protection product since December
30, 1998. The plaintiffs are seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief on behalf of this class of customers. In June 2005, the court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for
certification of the requested class of customers, but the court has made no finding to date regarding actual liability in this lawsuit. We have subsequently filed a notice of appeal
of the court’s class certification ruling with the Florida Court of Appeals. We intend to continue our vigorous defense of this lawsuit, including the aforementioned appeal of the
trial court’s class certification order, and to assert available defenses. However, an adverse resolution of this lawsuit could result in the payment of significant costs and
damages, which could have a material adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
 
Our business may be adversely affected by claims alleging violations of laws and regulations in our advertising, sales and finance and insurance activities.
 

Our business is highly regulated. In the past several years, private plaintiffs and state attorney generals have increased their scrutiny of advertising, sales, and finance and
insurance activities in the sale and leasing of motor vehicles. The conduct of our business is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws and regulations regarding unfair,
deceptive and/or fraudulent trade practices (including advertising, marketing, sales, insurance, repair and promotion practices), truth-in-lending, consumer leasing, fair credit
practices, equal credit opportunity, privacy, insurance, motor vehicle finance, installment finance, closed-end credit, usury and other installment sales. Claims arising out of
actual or alleged violations of law may be asserted against us or any of our dealers by individuals, either individually or through class actions, or by governmental entities in
civil or criminal investigations and proceedings. Such actions may expose us to substantial monetary damages and legal defense costs, injunctive relief and criminal and civil
fines and penalties, including suspension or revocation of our licenses and franchises to conduct dealership operations.
 
Our business may be adversely affected by unfavorable conditions in our local markets, even if those conditions are not prominent nationally.
 

Our performance is subject to local economic, competitive, weather and other conditions prevailing in geographic areas where we operate. For example, our current
results of operations depend substantially on general economic conditions and consumer spending habits in our Northern California and Houston markets. Revenues in our
Northern California and Houston markets represented approximately 32.1% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006. We may not be able to expand
geographically and any geographic expansion may not adequately insulate us from the adverse effects of local or regional economic conditions. In addition, due to the
provisions and terms contained in our operating lease agreements, we may not be able to relocate a dealership operation to a more favorable location without incurring
significant costs or penalties.
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The loss of key personnel and limited management and personnel resources could adversely affect our operations and growth.
 

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of our management team, particularly our senior management, and service and sales
personnel. Additionally, manufacturer franchise agreements may require the prior approval of the applicable manufacturer before any change is made in franchise general
managers. We do not have employment agreements with certain members of our senior management team, our dealership managers and other key dealership personnel.
Consequently, the loss of the services of one or more of these key employees could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
 

In addition, as we expand we may need to hire additional managers. The market for qualified employees in the industry and in the regions in which we operate,
particularly for general managers and sales and service personnel, is highly competitive and may subject us to increased labor costs during periods of low unemployment. The
loss of the services of key employees or the inability to attract additional qualified managers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, the
lack of qualified management or employees employed by potential acquisition candidates may limit our ability to consummate future acquisitions.
 
Governmental regulation and environmental regulation compliance costs may adversely affect our profitability.
 

We are subject to a wide range of federal, state and local laws and regulations, such as local licensing requirements, retail financing and consumer protection laws and
regulations, and wage-hour, anti-discrimination and other employment practices laws and regulations. Our facilities and operations are also subject to federal, state and local
laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety, including those governing wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and
removal of underground and aboveground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation, release, recycling and disposal of solid and hazardous materials and wastes
and the cleanup of contaminated property or water. The violation of these laws and regulations can result in administrative, civil or criminal penalties against us or in a cease and
desist order against our operations that are not in compliance. Our future acquisitions may also be subject to regulation, including antitrust reviews. We believe that we comply
in all material respects with all laws and regulations applicable to our business, but future regulations may be more stringent and require us to incur significant additional
compliance costs.
 

Our past and present business operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations. We may be required by these laws to pay the full amount of the costs of
investigation and/or remediation of contaminated properties, even if we are not at fault for disposal of the materials or if such disposal was legal at the time. Like many of our
competitors, we have incurred, and will continue to incur, capital and operating expenditures and other costs in complying with these laws and regulations. In addition, soil and
groundwater contamination exists at certain of our properties. We cannot assure you that our other properties have not been or will not become similarly contaminated. In
addition, we could become subject to potentially material new or unforeseen environmental costs or liabilities because of our acquisitions.
 
Potential conflicts of interest between us and our officers or directors could adversely affect our future performance.
 

O. Bruton Smith serves as the chairman and chief executive officer of Speedway Motorsports. Accordingly, we compete with Speedway Motorsports for the
management time of Mr. Smith.
 

We have in the past and will likely in the future enter into transactions with Mr. Smith, entities controlled by Mr. Smith or our other affiliates. We believe that all of our
existing arrangements with affiliates are as favorable to us as if the arrangements were negotiated between unaffiliated parties, although the majority of these transactions have
neither been verified by third parties in that regard nor are likely to be so verified in the future. Potential conflicts of interest could arise in the future between us and our officers
or directors in the enforcement, amendment or termination of arrangements existing between them.
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We may be subject to substantial withdrawal liability assessments in the future related to a multi-employer pension plan to which certain of our dealerships make
contributions pursuant to collective bargaining agreements.
 

Seven of our dealership subsidiaries in Northern California currently make fixed-dollar contributions to the Automotive Industries Pension Plan pursuant to collective
bargaining agreements between our subsidiaries and the International Association of Machinists. The AI Pension Plan is a “multi-employer pension plan” as defined under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and our seven dealership subsidiaries are among approximately 120 automobile dealerships that make
contributions to the AI Pension Plan pursuant to collective bargaining agreements with the IAM. In June 2006, we received information that the AI Pension Plan was
substantially underfunded as of December 31, 2005. Under applicable federal law, any employer contributing to a multiemployer pension plan that completely ceases
participating in the plan while the plan is underfunded is subject to payment of such employer’s assessed share of the aggregate unfunded vested benefits of the plan. In certain
circumstances, an employer can be assessed withdrawal liability for a partial withdrawal from a multi-employer pension plan. In addition, if the financial condition of the AI
Pension Plan were to continue to deteriorate to the point that the Plan is forced to terminate and be assumed by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, the participating
employers could be subject to assessments by the PBGC to cover the participating employers’ assessed share of the unfunded vested benefits. If any of these adverse events
were to occur in the future, it could result in a substantial withdrawal liability assessment that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.
 
A change in historical experience and/or assumptions used to estimate reserves could have a material impact on our earnings.
 

As described in Item 7 under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Use of Estimates and Critical
Accounting Policies” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our estimates for finance, insurance and service contracts, insurance reserves and Cornerstone Acceptance
allowance for credit losses is based on historical experience. Differences between actual results and our historical experiences and/or our assumptions could have a material
impact on our earnings in the period of the change and in periods subsequent to the change.
 
An impairment of our goodwill could have a material adverse impact on our earnings.
 

Pursuant to applicable accounting pronouncements, we test goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount. We describe the process for testing goodwill more thoroughly in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K in Item 7 under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting
Policies.” If we determine that the amount of our goodwill is impaired at any point in time, we will be required to reduce goodwill on our balance sheet. As of December 31,
2006, our balance sheet reflected a carrying amount of approximately $1,167.8 million in goodwill (including goodwill classified as assets held for sale), which was allocated
between three geographic reporting units. If the goodwill in any of our reporting units is impaired, we will record a significant non-cash impairment charge that would likely
have a material adverse effect on our earnings for the period in which the impairment of goodwill occurred.
 
 Item 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments
 

None.
 
 Item 2: Properties.
 

Our principal executive offices are located at 6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109, Charlotte, North Carolina 28212, and our telephone number is (704) 566-2400. We lease
these offices from a related party. See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Our dealerships are generally located along major U.S. or interstate highways. One of the principal factors we consider in evaluating an acquisition candidate is its
location. We prefer to acquire dealerships located along major thoroughfares, which can be easily visited by prospective customers.
 

We lease the majority of the properties utilized by our dealership operations from affiliates of Capital Automotive REIT (“CARS”) and other individuals and entities. We
believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs.
 

Under the terms of our franchise agreements, each of our dealerships must maintain an appropriate appearance and design of its dealership facility and is restricted in its
ability to relocate.
 
 Item 3: Legal Proceedings.
 

We are a defendant in the matter of Galura, et al. v. Sonic Automotive, Inc., a private civil action filed in the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida. In this action,
originally filed on December 30, 2002, the plaintiffs allege that we and our Florida dealerships sold an antitheft protection product in a deceptive or otherwise illegal manner,
and further sought representation on behalf of any customer of any of our Florida dealerships who purchased the antitheft protection product since December 30, 1998. The
plaintiffs are seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief on behalf of this class of customers. In June 2005, the court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for certification of the
requested class of customers, but the court has made no finding to date regarding actual liability in this lawsuit. We subsequently filed a notice of appeal of the court’s class
certification ruling with the Florida Court of Appeals. We intend to continue vigorous defense of this lawsuit, including the appeal of the trial court’s class certification order,
and to assert available defenses. However, an adverse resolution of this lawsuit could result in the payment of significant costs and damages, which could have a material
adverse effect on our future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
 

We are involved, and expect to continue to be involved, in numerous legal and administrative proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business, including
regulatory investigations and private civil actions brought by plaintiffs purporting to represent a potential class or for which a class has been certified. Although we vigorously
defend ourselves in all legal and administrative proceedings, the outcomes of pending and future proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business, including litigation with
customers, employment related lawsuits, contractual disputes, class actions, purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities, cannot be predicted with
certainty. An unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
or prospects.
 
 Item 4: Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
 

Not applicable.
 

 PART II
 
 Item 5: Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 

Our Class A common stock is currently traded on the NYSE under the symbol “SAH.” Our Class B Common Stock is not traded on a public market.
 

As of March 8, 2007, there were 30,881,620 shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock and 12,029,375 shares of our Class B common stock outstanding. As of March 8,
2007, there were 69 record holders of the Class A common stock and three record holders of the Class B common stock. As of March 8, 2007, the closing stock price for the
Class A common stock was $29.51.
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Our Board of Directors approved four quarterly cash dividends on all outstanding shares of common stock totaling $0.48 per share during 2006. During 2005, our Board
of Directors approved four quarterly dividends on all outstanding shares of common stock totaling $0.48 per share. Our Board of Directors has also approved a dividend of
$0.12 per share on all outstanding shares of common stock for stockholders of record on March 15, 2007, which will be paid on April 15, 2007. See Note 6 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for a description of restrictions on the payment of dividends.
 

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices for Sonic’s Class A common stock for each calendar quarter during the periods indicated as reported
by the NYSE Composite Tape and the dividends declared during such periods.
 

   

Market Price

  
Cash Dividend Declared2006

  

High

  

Low

  
First Quarter   $28.43  $22.72  $ 0.12
Second Quarter    28.53   21.85   0.12
Third Quarter.    23.31   21.08   0.12
Fourth Quarter    29.50   22.76   0.12

2005

         
First Quarter   $24.27  $21.66  $ 0.12
Second Quarter    22.76   19.23   0.12
Third Quarter    24.37   21.36   0.12
Fourth Quarter    22.81   19.79   0.12

 
During 2006, all sales of our equity securities were registered under the Securities Act.

 
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

The following table sets forth information about the shares of Class A Common Stock we repurchased during the quarter ended December 31, 2006.
 

   

Total Number of
Shares Purchased (1)

  

Average
Price Paid
per Share

  

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs (2)

  

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares That

May Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or

Programs

   (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
October 2006   5,000  $ 23.97  5,000  $ 14,505
November 2006   40,000  $ 28.56  40,000  $ 13,362
December 2006   40,000  $ 29.11  40,000  $ 12,198
           
Total   85,000  $ 28.55  85,000    

(1) All shares repurchased were part of publicly announced share repurchase programs
(2) Our publicly announced Class A Common Stock repurchase authorizations occurred as follows:
 

   

(Amounts in
Thousands)

November 1999   $ 25,000
February 2000    25,000
December 2000    25,000
May 2001    25,000
August 2002    25,000
February 2003    20,000
December 2003    20,000
July 2004    20,000
   
Total   $ 185,000
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 Item 6: Selected Financial Data.
 

This selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

We have accounted for all of our dealership acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting and, as a result, we do not include in our consolidated financial
statements the results of operations of these dealerships prior to the date we acquired them. Our selected consolidated financial data reflect the results of operations and financial
positions of each of our dealerships acquired prior to December 31, 2006. As a result of the effects of our acquisitions and other potential factors in the future, the historical
consolidated financial information described in selected consolidated financial data is not necessarily indicative of the results of our operations and financial position in the
future or the results of operations and financial position that would have resulted had such acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the periods presented in the selected
consolidated financial data.
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

   

2002

  

2003

  

2004

  

2005

  

2006

Income Statement Data (1) (2):                     
Total revenues   $ 5,561,139  $ 6,026,171  $ 6,470,050  $ 7,278,720  $ 7,972,074
Income from continuing operations before income taxes   $ 157,969  $ 122,294  $ 142,085  $ 167,389  $ 165,357
Income from continuing operations   $ 97,847  $ 80,909  $ 88,145  $ 104,844  $ 98,566
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.34  $ 1.98  $ 2.13  $ 2.51  $ 2.33
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.24  $ 1.89  $ 2.04  $ 2.40  $ 2.22

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data (2):                     
Total assets   $ 2,375,308  $ 2,685,113  $ 2,897,884  $ 3,025,501  $ 3,124,764
Total long-term debt   $ 645,809  $ 696,285  $ 671,796  $ 715,058  $ 601,334
Total long-term liabilities (including long-term debt)   $ 703,183  $ 791,239  $ 799,436  $ 876,956  $ 791,938
Cash dividends declared per common share   $ —    $ 0.20  $ 0.44  $ 0.48  $ 0.48

(1) In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”,
income statement data reflect reclassifications from the prior years presentation to exclude franchises sold, identified for sale, or terminated subsequent to December 31,
2005 which had not been previously included in discontinued operations. See Note 2 to our accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, Business Acquisitions and
Dispositions, which discusses these and other factors that affect the comparability of the information for the periods presented.

(2) As mentioned in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 2 to our
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, business combinations and dispositions have had a material impact on our reported financial information.

 
 Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with the Sonic Automotive, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The financial and statistical data contained in the
following discussion for all periods presented reflects our December 31, 2006 classification of franchises between continuing and discontinued operations in accordance with
SFAS No. 144.
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Overview
 

We are one of the largest automotive retailers in the United States. As of March 8, 2007 we operated 173 dealership franchises, representing 36 different brands of cars
and light trucks, at 150 locations and 38 collision repair centers in 15 states. Our dealerships provide comprehensive services including sales of both new and used cars and light
trucks, sales of replacement parts, performance of vehicle maintenance, manufacturer warranty repairs, paint and collision repair services, and arrangement of extended service
contracts, financing, insurance and other aftermarket products for our customers. Although vehicle sales are cyclical and are affected by many factors, including general
economic conditions, consumer confidence, levels of discretionary personal income, interest rates and available credit, our parts, service and collision repair services are not
closely tied to vehicle sales and are not as dependent upon near-term sales volume. As a result, we believe the diversity of these products and services reduces the risk of
periodic economic downturns.
 

The automobile industry’s total amount of new vehicles sold decreased by 2.5% to 16.6 million vehicles in 2006 from 17.0 million vehicles in 2005. From an industry
perspective, new vehicle unit sales on a year-over-year basis grew 4.8% for import brands and contracted 8.1% for domestic brands. Many factors such as brand and geographic
concentrations have caused our past results to differ from the industry’s overall trend. In 2006, both our import and domestic stores outperformed the overall new vehicle
industry’s year-over-year unit sales change.
 

We sell similar products and services that exhibit similar economic characteristics, use similar processes in selling our products and services and sell our products and
services to similar classes of customers. As a result of this and the way we manage our business, we have aggregated our operating segments into a single segment for purposes
of reporting financial condition and results of operations.
 

In the ordinary course of business we evaluate our dealership franchises for possible disposition based on various performance criteria. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, we sold 12 franchises and had approved, but not completed, the disposition of 30 additional franchises. These franchises have been identified as held for
sale because of unprofitable operations or other strategic considerations. We believe the disposition of these franchises will allow us to focus our management attention on those
remaining stores with the highest potential return on investment.
 
Use of Estimates and Critical Accounting Policies
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 

Critical accounting policies are those that are both most important to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations and require the most subjective and
complex judgments. The following is a discussion of what we believe are our critical accounting policies and estimates. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional discussion regarding our accounting policies.
 

Finance, Insurance and Service Contracts—We arrange financing for customers through various financial institutions and receive a commission from the lender either in
a flat fee amount or in an amount equal to the difference between the actual interest rates charged to customers and the predetermined base rates set by the financing institution.
We also receive commissions from the sale of various insurance contracts and non-recourse third party extended service contracts to customers. Under these contracts, the
applicable manufacturer or third party warranty company is directly liable for all warranties provided within the contract.
 

In the event a customer terminates a financing, insurance or extended service contract prior to the original termination date, we may be required to return a portion of the
commission revenue originally recorded to the third party provider (“chargebacks”). The commission revenue for the sale of these products and services is
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recorded net of estimated chargebacks at the time of sale. Our estimate of future chargebacks is established based on our historical chargeback rates, termination provisions of
the applicable contracts and industry data. While chargeback rates vary depending on the type of contract sold, a 100 basis point change in the estimated chargeback rates used
in determining our estimates of future chargebacks would have changed our estimated reserve for chargebacks at December 31, 2006 by approximately $1.6 million. Our
estimate of chargebacks ($15.1 million as of December 31, 2006) is influenced by early contract termination events such as vehicle repossessions, refinancings and early pay-
off. If these factors change, the resulting impact is a change in our estimate for chargebacks.
 

Goodwill—Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently when events or circumstances indicate that impairment might have occurred. Based on
criteria established by the applicable accounting pronouncements, we allocate the carrying value of goodwill and test it for impairment based on our three geographic divisions.
The $1,167.8 million of goodwill on our balance sheet, including approximately $12.3 million classified in assets held for sale, at December 31, 2006 was allocated to the
following geographic divisions (dollars in millions):
 

Eastern Division   $ 429.8
Central Division   $ 356.4
Western Division   $ 381.6

 
In evaluating goodwill for impairment, if the fair value of a division is less than the carrying value of that division, we are then required to proceed to the second step of

the impairment test. The second step involves allocating the calculated fair value to all of the assets of the respective division as if the calculated fair value was the purchase
price of the business combination. This allocation would include assigning value to any previously unrecognized identifiable assets (including franchise assets) which means the
remaining fair value that would be allocated to goodwill would be significantly reduced. See discussion regarding franchise agreements acquired prior to July 1, 2001 in Note 1
to our Consolidated Financial Statements. We would then compare the fair value of the goodwill resulting from this allocation process to the carrying value of the goodwill in
the respective division with the difference representing the amount of impairment.
 

We use several assumptions and various fair value approaches in evaluating our goodwill for impairment. These assumptions and approaches include various earnings
multiple approaches along with a discounted cash flow model utilizing estimated future earnings and our weighted average cost of capital.
 

At December 31, 2006, we were not required to conduct the second step of the impairment test described above, and we recognized no impairment of the carrying value
of our goodwill on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006.
 

However, if in future periods we determine that the fair value of one or more of our divisions is less than their carrying value, we believe that application of the second
step of the impairment test would result in a substantial impairment charge to the goodwill allocated to such division(s) and the amount of such impairment charge would likely
be materially adverse to our consolidated operating results and financial position.
 

Insurance Reserves—We have various self-insured and high deductible insurance programs which require us to make estimates in determining the ultimate liability we
may incur for claims arising under these programs. We accrue for insurance reserves on a pro-rata basis throughout the year based on the expected year-end liability. These
estimates, judgments and assumptions are made quarterly by our management based on available information and take into consideration annual actuarial evaluations based on
historical claims experience, claims processing procedures, medical cost trends and, in certain cases, a discount factor. If our management receives information which causes us
to change our estimate of the year end liability, the amount of expense or expense reduction required to be recorded in any particular quarter could be material to our operating
results, financial position and cash flows. We estimate the ultimate liability under these programs is between $21.9 million and $24.2 million. At December 31, 2006, we had
$22.6 million reserved for such programs. We used a discount rate
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of 4.0% to calculate the present value of our estimated workers’ compensation claims. A discount rate of 4.0% was used to calculate the present value of our general liability
claim reserves. A 100 bps change in the discount rate or a 5 basis point change in the Selected Loss Cost Estimate would not have a significant impact on the reserve balance.
 

Lease Exit Accruals—The majority of our dealership properties are leased under long-term operating lease arrangements. When leased properties are no longer utilized in
operations, we record lease exit accruals. These situations could include the relocation of an existing facility or the sale of a franchise where the buyer will not be subleasing the
property for either the remaining term of the lease or for an amount equal to our obligation under the lease. The lease exit accruals represent the present value of the lease
payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, for the remaining life of the operating leases and other accruals necessary to satisfy the lease commitment to the landlord. At
December 31, 2006, we had $8.7 million accrued for lease exit costs.
 

Legal Proceedings—We are involved, and expect to continue to be involved, in numerous legal proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business, including
litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, contractual disputes and actions brought by governmental authorities. As of December 31, 2006, we had $2.0 million in
legal reserves included in other accrued liabilities. Currently, with the exception of the Galura litigation matter discussed in “Item 3: Legal Proceedings” herein, no legal
proceedings are pending against or involve us that, in the opinion of management, could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations. However, the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and an unfavorable resolution of one or more of these
proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
 

Classification of Franchises in Continuing and Discontinued Operations—We classify the results from operations of our continuing and discontinued operations in our
consolidated statements of income based on the provisions of SFAS No. 144. Many of these provisions involve judgment in determining whether a franchise will be reported as
continuing or discontinued operations. Such judgments include whether a franchise will be sold or terminated, the period required to complete the disposition and the likelihood
of changes to a plan for sale. If in future periods we determine that a franchise should be either reclassified from continuing operations to discontinued operations or from
discontinued operations to continuing operations, previously reported consolidated statements of income may be reclassified in order to reflect the current classification.
 

Income Taxes—As a matter of course, we are regularly audited by various taxing authorities and from time to time, these audits result in proposed assessments where the
ultimate resolution may result in us owing additional taxes. We believe that our tax positions comply, in all material respects, with applicable tax law and that we have
adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these matters. Included in other accrued liabilities at December 31, 2006 is $3.4 million in reserves that
we have provided for these matters.
 

We have $9.3 million in deferred tax assets related to state net operating loss carryforwards that will expire between 2014 and 2026. Management reviews these
carryforward positions, the time remaining until expiration and other opportunities to utilize these carryforwards in making an assessment as to whether it is more likely than not
that these carryforwards will be utilized. We have recorded a valuation allowance of $0.1 million in 2006 based on our judgment that certain state carryforwards will not be
utilized. We have not recorded a valuation allowance related to our remaining carryforwards because it is more likely than not that taxable income for these other states will be
sufficient to realize the benefits of the associated deferred tax assets. However, the results of future operations, regulatory framework of these taxing authorities and other
related matters cannot be predicted with certainty. Therefore, actual utilization of the losses which created these deferred tax assets which differs from the assumptions used in
the development of our judgment could result in a charge that would be materially adverse to our consolidated operating results, financial position and cash flows.
 

We accrue for income taxes on a pro-rata basis throughout the year based on the expected year end liability. These estimates, judgments and assumptions are made
quarterly by our management based on available
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information and take into consideration estimated income taxes based on prior year income tax returns, changes in income tax law, our income tax strategies and other factors.
If our management receives information which causes us to change our estimate of the year end liability, the amount of expense or expense reduction required to be recorded in
any particular quarter could be material to our operating results, financial position and cash flows.
 

Cornerstone Acceptance Allowance for Credit Losses—As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding notes receivable arising from operations of our wholly-owned
finance subsidiary, Cornerstone Acceptance Corporation (“Cornerstone”), of $28.5 million, net of an allowance for credit losses of $4.9 million. These notes receivable have
average terms of approximately forty-three months and are secured by the related vehicles. Our assessment of allowance for credit losses considers historical loss ratios, the
performance of the current portfolio with respect to past due accounts, and the average age of the accounts in the current portfolio. As of December 31, 2006, the average loss
ratio for mature accounts was 20.8% and the average percentage of losses remaining to be incurred on the current portfolio as a result of the average age of the current portfolio
was 44.0%. A change of 100 basis points in both of these percentages would have changed our estimated allowance for credit losses by $0.2 million at December 31, 2006.
These notes receivable are recorded in receivables, net, and other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Sonic’s management is currently evaluating
strategic alternatives for Cornerstone. These alternatives include selling Cornerstone or selling all or a portion of Cornerstone’s outstanding notes receivable.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncement
 

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. SFAS No. 123R requires a public entity to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant- date fair value of the award. That cost will be recognized over the period during
which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award (usually the vesting period). Tax benefits associated with share-based payments will be recognized
as an addition to paid-in capital. Cash retained as a result of these tax benefits will be presented in the statement of cash flows as financing cash inflows and operating cash
outflows.
 

On December 22, 2005, a committee of our Board of Directors approved the accelerated vesting of all outstanding options to purchase our Class A common stock with
an exercise price of more than $22.55 per share. The purpose of the accelerated vesting of these stock options was to reduce the non-cash compensation expense we would have
recorded in future periods pursuant to SFAS No. 123R. This accelerated vesting reduced future expense pursuant to SFAS No. 123R by approximately $2.1 million. We
recognized approximately $4.5 million of expense related to stock options during the year ended December 31, 2006. See Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion and disclosures.
 

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”. FIN
No. 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a
tax return. FIN No. 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification and the treatment of interest and penalties. Sonic is currently evaluating the provisions of FIN
No. 48, which will be effective for Sonic in the first quarter of 2007, and has not determined the impact on Sonic’s consolidated operating results, financial position and cash
flows.
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measures” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value and enhances disclosures about fair value measures required under other accounting pronouncements, but does not change existing guidance as to whether or not an
instrument is carried at fair value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Sonic is currently reviewing the provisions of SFAS No. 157
to determine the impact on its consolidated operating results, financial position and cash flows.
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In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”), which provides interpretive guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year
misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. SAB 108 is effective as of the end of Sonic’s 2006 fiscal year, allowing a
one-time transitional cumulative effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings as of January 1, 2006 for errors that were not previously deemed material, but are material
under the guidance in SAB 108. See Note 1 to accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the effects of adopting SAB 108.
 

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities”. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates and report unrealized gains and losses on items for which
the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are
currently reviewing the provisions of SFAS No. 159 to determine the impact on our consolidated operating results, financial position and cash flows.
 
Results of Operations
 

On July 19, 2006, we issued a press release describing charges recorded during the second quarter of 2006 in connection with the decision to exit certain facility leases
and cancel various facility improvement projects, asset impairments and other asset write-offs, finance chargeback reserves, litigation matters and an adjustment of certain tax
strategies. These charges are discussed in more detail in the respective areas under the subsequent heading “Results of Operations” when discussing results for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The amount and location of the charges in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2006 are presented in the
following table:
 

   

Continuing Operations

      

(in millions)   

Finance,
insurance
and other
revenue

  

Cost of sales

  

Selling, general
and

administrative
expenses

  

Depreciation
and

amortization

  

Provision for
income taxes

  

Loss from
operations
and sale of

discontinued
franchises

  

Total

Real estate and other asset impairments/write-offs
and lease exit costs   $ 0.4  $ 0.3  $ 8.1  $ 2.1  $  —    $ 7.8  $18.7

Finance chargeback reserves    6.2   —     —     —     —     —     6.2
Legal accruals    —     —     1.2   —     —     0.5   1.7
Effective income tax rate adjustment    —     —     —     —     1.0   —     1.0
               
   $ 6.6  $ 0.3  $ 9.3  $ 2.1  $ 1.0  $ 8.3  $27.6
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The following table summarizes the percentages of total revenues represented by certain items reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
 

   

Percentage of Total
Revenue (1) for the Year

Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
Revenues:           

New vehicles   61.4% 61.6% 61.4%
Used vehicles   15.7% 15.5% 16.0%
Wholesale vehicles   6.8% 6.8% 6.2%
Parts, service and collision repair   13.6% 13.6% 14.0%
Finance, insurance and other   2.5% 2.5% 2.4%

     
Total revenue   100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales (2)   84.7% 84.7% 84.6%
     
Gross profit   15.3% 15.3% 15.4%
Selling, general and administrative expenses   11.9% 11.7% 11.7%
Depreciation and amortization   0.2% 0.2% 0.3%
     
Operating income   3.2% 3.4% 3.4%
Interest expense, floor plan   0.4% 0.5% 0.8%
Interest expense, other, net   0.6% 0.6% 0.5%
Other expense, net   0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
     
Income from continuing operations before income taxes   2.2% 2.3% 2.1%
Income tax expense   0.8% 0.9% 0.9%
     
Income from continuing operations   1.4% 1.4% 1.2%
     

(1) In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, prior years’ income statement data reflects reclassifications to exclude additional franchises sold, identified for sale or
terminated subsequent to December 31, 2005 which had not been previously included in discontinued operations. See Note 2 to our accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements, Business Acquisitions and Dispositions, which discusses these and other factors that affect the comparability of the information for the periods presented.

(2) The cost of sales line item includes the cost of new and used vehicles, vehicle parts and all costs directly linked to servicing customer vehicles.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold 12 franchises, and had approved, but not completed, the disposition of 30 additional franchises. The results of
operations of these dealerships, including gains or losses on disposition, have been included in discontinued operations on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Income for all periods presented. In addition to these dispositions, during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, we disposed or terminated seven and 22 franchises,
respectively.
 

Annual “same store” results of operations represent the aggregate of the same store results for each of the four quarters in that year. Same store results for each quarter
include dealerships that were owned and operated for the entire quarter in both periods and were classified as continuing operations under SFAS No. 144 at December 31, 2006.
Unless otherwise noted, our discussion of the Results of Operations from “New Vehicles” to “Gross Profit and Gross Margins” is on a same store basis.
 

New Vehicles
 

New vehicle revenues include the sale and lease of new vehicles, as well as the sale of fleet vehicles. New vehicle revenues are highly dependent on manufacturer
incentives, which vary from cash-back incentives to low
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interest rate financing. New vehicle revenues are also dependent on manufacturers for adequate vehicle allocations to meet customer demands.
 

The automobile manufacturing industry is cyclical and historically has experienced periodic downturns characterized by oversupply and weak demand. As an
automotive retailer, we seek to mitigate the effects of this cyclicality by maintaining a diverse mix of domestic and import branded dealerships. Our brand diversity allows us to
offer a broad range of products at a wide range of prices from lower priced, or economy vehicles, to luxury vehicles. We believe that this diversity reduces the risk of changes in
customer preferences, product supply shortages and aging products. For the year ended December 31, 2006, 83.3% of our total new vehicle revenue was generated by import
and luxury dealerships compared to 81.7% for 2005. We expect this trend toward more import and domestic luxury dealerships to continue. We believe demographic and other
trends favor import and luxury brands and expect our acquisition activity in the future to concentrate primarily, but not completely, on these brands.
 

  

For the Year Ended

 Units or $
Change

 %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

 Units or $
Change

 %
Change

   

12/31/2005

 

12/31/2006

   

12/31/2004

 

12/31/2005

  
Total New Vehicle Units                         

Same Store   146,560  149,257  2,697 1.8%  132,682  141,330  8,648 6.5%
Acquisitions and Other   486  6,990  6,504 1338.3%  1,030  5,716  4,686 455.0%

         
Total as Reported   147,046  156,247  9,201 6.3%  133,712  147,046  13,334 10.0%

         
Total New Vehicle Revenues (in thousands)                         

Same Store  $ 4,459,580 $ 4,623,409 $ 163,829 3.7% $ 3,929,861 $ 4,216,483 $ 286,622 7.3%
Acquisitions and Other   24,340  273,875  249,535 1025.2%  42,929  267,437  224,508 523.0%

         
Total as Reported  $ 4,483,920 $ 4,897,284 $ 413,364 9.2% $ 3,972,790 $ 4,483,920 $ 511,130 12.9%

         
Total New Vehicle Unit Price                         

Same Store  $ 30,428 $ 30,976 $ 548 1.8% $ 29,619 $ 29,834 $ 215 0.7%
Total Dealerships as Reported  $ 30,493 $ 31,343 $ 850 2.8% $ 29,712 $ 30,493 $ 781 2.6%

 
The increase in our same store new vehicle unit sales was driven entirely by our import dealerships, which experienced an increase of 3,290 units, or 3.2%, while our

domestic dealerships experienced a decrease of 593 units, or 1.3%. Our import stores underperformed the industry unit volume increase of 4.8%, while our domestic stores
outperformed the industry decrease of 8.1%. Our top performing import brands for 2006 were Toyota and Mercedes, which posted increases of 4,125 units, or 17.7%, and 435
units, or 8.8%, respectively. These increases can be attributed to the introduction of new models, in addition to new body styling and design on existing models. Additionally,
our BMW stores posted a 2.3% revenue increase despite a slight decline in unit volume. Our Honda dealerships experienced the most significant decline in sales volume among
our import stores, decreasing by 648 units, or 2.1%, as compared to 2005. Our top performing domestic brand was Ford, which posted an increase of 325 units, or 1.9%. Our
GM (excluding Cadillac) dealerships experienced a decline in new retail unit volume of 1,043 units, or 8.2%, but strong fleet sales with an increase of 647 units, or 14.5%,
helped to offset that decline. Additionally, our Cadillac stores posted an improvement in fleet sales of 118 units, or 37.7%, which offset the domestic decline in new unit
volume.
 

The increase in our sales price per unit can be attributed mainly to the fact that a larger percentage of our sales are being generated by higher priced luxury vehicles.
Many of our import dealerships experienced price per unit increases, most notably being Mercedes, BMW and Honda (up 5.5%, 3.1% and 2.5%, respectively). On the domestic
side, our Ford and Cadillac dealerships experienced the most significant increases in sales price per unit (up 3.5% and 2.9%, respectively). The increases at these dealerships
can be attributed to both the various pricing strategies put in place by Ford and GM during 2005, which lowered 2005 pricing, and a shift from car sales to truck and SUV sales
during the current year.
 

During 2005, both our import and domestic dealerships experienced increases in total same store new vehicle unit sales, as compared to 2004. Our import dealerships
experienced an increase of 7,510 units, or 8.4%,
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during this time period. This is compared to an industry increase in unit sales at import dealerships of 4.7%. This increase can be mainly attributed to our Honda and Toyota
dealerships, which experienced unit volume increases of 13.0% and 6.4%, respectively, when compared to 2004. Management stability at our Honda dealerships contributed to
the improvement in new vehicle sales volume. Our domestic dealerships experienced a unit sales increase of 1,138 units, or 2.6%, during 2005. This is compared to an industry
decrease in unit sales at domestic dealerships of 2.5%. Our GM (excluding Cadillac) and Ford dealerships experienced declines in new retail unit volume, but strong fleet sales
led to an overall improvement in total new unit sales volume. The declines experienced at our domestic dealerships in 2004 can be mainly attributed to declining truck and SUV
sales, which resulted from significant increases in gas prices. Conversely, our Cadillac stores managed only a small increase in new retail unit volume, while a decline in fleet
sales led to an overall decline in new unit volume. All of our import dealerships except Volvo, Acura and VW experienced sales price per unit increases during 2005. Our
Honda dealerships experienced the most significant improvement in sales price per unit, increasing by $1,239, or 5.8%, when compared to 2004. All of our domestic
dealerships experienced price per unit decreases.
 

Used Vehicles
 

Used vehicle revenues are directly affected by the level of manufacturer incentives on new vehicles, the number and quality of trade-ins and lease turn-ins and the
availability of consumer credit. In addition, various manufacturers provide franchised dealers the opportunity to “certify” pre-owned vehicles based on criteria established by
the manufacturer. This certification process extends the standard manufacturer warranty. On a continuing operations basis, our sales of CPO vehicles decreased in 2006 to
34.4% of total used vehicle units from 38.2% in 2005, a decrease of 2.0%. This decrease was partially due to the increase in non-CPO vehicles related to the implementation of
a standardized merchandising process, that includes the retailing of “value” used vehicles, along with an inventory management system at a number of our stores. We expect to
continue the rollout and refinement of the process in 2007. Additionally, industry pricing improvements affected the value of used vehicles, as the Manheim Used Vehicle
Value Index increased by 1.6% from December 2005 to December 2006.
 

   

For the Year Ended

  Units or $
Change

  %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  Units or $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

     

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Total Used Vehicle Units                                

Same Store    61,336   64,341   3,005  4.9%   56,725   59,304   2,579  4.5%
Acquisitions and Other    120   2,550   2,430  2025.0%   390   2,152   1,762  451.8%

                
Total as Reported    61,456   66,891   5,435  8.8%   57,115   61,456   4,341  7.6%

                
Total Used Vehicle Revenues (in thousands)                                

Same Store   $ 1,122,584  $ 1,213,001  $ 90,417  8.1%  $ 1,000,630  $ 1,061,789  $ 61,159  6.1%
Acquisitions and Other    4,067   62,019   57,952  1424.9%   13,187   64,862   51,675  391.9%

                
Total as Reported   $ 1,126,651  $ 1,275,020  $ 148,369  13.2%  $ 1,013,817  $ 1,126,651  $ 112,834  11.1%

                
Total Used Vehicle Unit Price                                

Same Store   $ 18,302  $ 18,853  $ 551  3.0%  $ 17,640  $ 17,904  $ 264  1.5%
Total Dealerships as Reported   $ 18,333  $ 19,061  $ 728  4.0%  $ 17,750  $ 18,333  $ 583  3.3%

 
In 2006, our import dealerships contributed to the overall improvement in used unit volume by posting an increase of 2,490 units, or 6.3%, when compared to 2005. Of

our import stores, BMW, Honda and Toyota posted the most significant increases in used unit volume. Our domestic dealerships also posted an improvement in used unit sales
volume, increasing by 515 units, or 2.4%. Cadillac was the largest contributor to the domestic increase in unit volume.
 

Our overall price per unit increase of 3.0% is due mainly to a favorable used vehicle market. Based on the improvement in the Manheim Used Vehicle Value Index as
stated above, we believe that our price per unit increase is consistent with the industry as a whole.
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During 2005, the increase in used unit sales volume was driven entirely by our import dealerships, which posted an increase of 2,786 units, or 8.0%, when compared to
2004. Of our import stores, Honda and BMW posted the most significant increases in used unit volume. Our Ford and GM (excluding Cadillac) stores posted the only increases
in used unit volume among our domestic brands. Our Cadillac dealerships experienced the largest decline in unit volume among all of our brands.
 
Wholesale Vehicles
 

Wholesale vehicle revenues are highly correlated with new and used vehicle retail sales and the associated trade-in volume. Wholesale revenues are also significantly
affected by our corporate inventory management policies, which are designed to optimize our total used vehicle inventory.
 

   

For the Year Ended

  Units or $
Change

 

 %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  Units or $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

    

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Total Wholesale Vehicle Units                                

Same Store    52,834   49,364   (3,470) (6.6%)  48,960   51,038   2,078  4.2%
Acquisitions and Other    2,969   4,337   1,368  46.1%   2,527   4,765   2,238  88.6%

               
Total as Reported    55,803   53,701   (2,102) (3.8%)  51,487   55,803   4,316  8.4%

               
Total Wholesale Vehicle Revenues (in thousands)                                

Same Store   $ 464,642  $ 437,035  $ (27,607) (5.9%) $ 403,204  $ 435,409  $ 32,205  8.0%
Acquisitions and Other    33,947   56,477   22,530  66.4%   35,644   63,180   27,536  77.3%

               
Total as Reported   $ 498,589  $ 493,512  $ (5,077) (1.0%) $ 438,848  $ 498,589  $ 59,741  13.6%

               
Total Wholesale Unit Price                                

Same Store   $ 8,794  $ 8,853  $ 59  0.7%  $ 8,235  $ 8,531  $ 296  3.6%
Total Dealerships as Reported   $ 8,935  $ 9,190  $ 255  2.9%  $ 8,523  $ 8,935  $ 412  4.8%

 
The decline in wholesale unit volume can be mainly attributed to the implementation of our merchandising and inventory management process (see “Used Vehicles”

above for further discussion). We believe this improved process allowed us to retail used vehicles we historically would have disposed of through the wholesale market.
 

During 2005, higher revenues realized were driven by both an increase in wholesale unit sales volume and higher unit sales prices at our import dealerships. Unit sales
volume at our import dealerships increased by 1,996 units, or 6.3%, while price per unit increased by $495, or 5.8%. Favorable pricing increases followed the increases
experienced in used retail sales and were consistent with the industry. Additionally, our domestic dealerships experienced only a slight increase in unit volume. Improvements in
retail vehicle sales volume, the principal source of wholesale vehicle revenues via trade-in, contributed to the higher overall volume in 2005, as compared to 2004.
 

Parts, Service and Collision Repair (“Fixed Operations”)
 

Same store revenue from these items was as follows (amounts in thousands):
 

   

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

     

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Parts   $ 528,965  $ 554,172  $ 25,207  4.8% $ 463,206  $ 487,205  $ 23,999  5.2%
Service    395,198   420,656   25,458  6.4%  348,321  $ 366,271   17,950  5.2%
Collision repair    57,568   57,699   131  0.2%  54,312  $ 54,586   274  0.5%

                
   $ 981,731  $ 1,032,527  $ 50,796  5.2% $ 865,839  $ 908,062  $ 42,223  4.9%

                        
 

Parts and service revenue consists of customer requested repairs (“customer pay”), warranty repairs, retail parts, wholesale parts and collision repairs. Parts and service
revenue is driven by the mix of warranty repairs versus customer pay repairs, available service capacity, vehicle quality, customer loyalty and manufacturer
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warranty programs. During 2006, 18.8% of our service and parts revenue was generated by warranty repairs and 48.5% by customer pay repairs compared to 20.6% by warranty
repairs and 46.6% by customer pay repairs in 2005.
 

We believe that over time, vehicle quality will improve, but vehicle complexity will offset any revenue lost from improvement in vehicle quality. We also believe that
we have the ability, through our access to capital, to continue to add service capacity and increase revenues. During 2006, we added 163 service stalls, or 5.0%, to our overall
stall capacity In addition, manufacturers continue to extend new vehicle warranty periods and have also begun to include regular maintenance items in the warranty coverage.
These factors, combined with the extended manufacturer warranties on CPO vehicles (see the discussion in “Business—Business Strategy—Certified Pre-Owned Vehicles”
above), should facilitate continued growth in our service and parts business.
 

Parts revenue is driven by the mix of warranty repairs versus customer pay repairs as prices for warranty parts are established by the manufacturer. We believe that long-
term trends in retail parts sales will be affected by the same trends as discussed above for service (additional capacity, customer satisfaction, etc.).
 

As of December 31, 2006, we operated 37 collision repair centers. Collision revenues are heavily impacted by trends in the automotive insurance industry. Over the last
few years, collision repair revenues have either declined or remained flat because customers are choosing higher deductible policies, thus choosing not to make minor repairs
that were previously covered by lower deductible policies. In addition, when insurance companies declare a vehicle “totaled”, the model year of that vehicle often determines
where it is repaired. Late model vehicles tend to be repaired at franchised dealership body shops, while older vehicles tend to be repaired at stand-alone collision centers.
 

   

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

     

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Total Parts, Service and Collision Repair (in thousands)                                

Same Store   $ 981,731  $ 1,032,527  $ 50,796  5.2%  $ 865,839  $ 908,062  $ 42,223  4.9%
Acquisitions and Other    6,701   82,343   75,642  1128.8%   13,337   80,370   67,033  502.6%

                
Total as Reported   $ 988,432  $ 1,114,870  $ 126,438  12.8%  $ 879,176  $ 988,432  $ 109,256  12.4%

                
 

Same store Fixed Operations revenues increased during 2006, primarily due to the performance of our import dealerships (up $55.7 million, or 8.2%) outpacing
decreases in our domestic dealerships (down $5.8 million, or 2.0%). Customer pay sales at our import dealerships increased $41.9 million, or 13.8%. Our BMW dealerships
experienced significant increases in Fixed Operations revenues, increasing by $22.3 million, or 12.3%, compared to 2005 as a continued result of BMW’s vehicle maintenance
programs and strong same store new vehicle sales. These import increases were partially offset by decreases of $5.8 million, or 2.0%, at our domestic dealerships. Warranty
sales declines of $6.9 million, or 14.2%, were offset by an increase in customer pay of $0.4 million, or 0.3%, at our domestic stores. Our GM and Cadillac dealerships, which
decreased $2.5 million, or 2.4%, and $3.7 million, or 3.1%, respectively, as compared to 2005 contributed to lower domestic sales. The declines in our GM dealerships were
primarily caused by a decrease in warranty repair services and wholesale parts sales of $8.9 million, or 13.2%. Warranty sales at our Cadillac stores experienced declines of
$3.4 million, or 14.3%, as compared to 2005.
 

Same store Fixed Operations revenues increased during 2005 compared to 2004, primarily due to the performance of our import dealerships (up $42.0 million, or 7.4%)
outpacing decreases in our domestic dealerships (down $0.9 million, or 0.3%). Warranty sales at our import dealerships increased $1.9 million, or 1.4%. Our BMW dealerships
experienced significant increases in Fixed Operations revenues, increasing by $18.4 million, or 12.9%, compared to 2004 as a continued result of BMW’s vehicle maintenance
programs and strong same store new vehicle sales. In addition, our BMW stores posted increases in warranty sales of $3.0 million, or 6.7%. These import increases were
partially offset by decreases in warranty sales at our domestic
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dealerships, which declined $2.0 million, or 3.9%, compared to 2004. The overall domestic dealership Fixed Operations revenue declines primarily relate to our Cadillac
dealerships, which decreased $3.0 million, or 2.5% as compared to 2004. Warranty sales at our Cadillac stores experienced declines of $2.3 million, or 8.8%, as compared to
2004.
 

Finance, Insurance and Other
 

Finance, insurance and other revenues include commissions for arranging vehicle financing and insurance, sales of third-party extended service contracts for vehicles and
other aftermarket products. In connection with vehicle financing, service contracts, other aftermarket products and insurance contracts, we receive a commission from the
provider for originating the contract.
 

Rate spread is another term for the commission earned by our dealerships for arranging vehicle financing for consumers. The amount of the commission could be zero, a
flat fee or an actual spread between the interest rate charged to the consumer and the interest rate provided by the direct financing source (bank, credit union or manufacturers’
captive finance company). We have established caps on the potential rate spread our dealerships can earn with all finance sources. We believe the rate spread we earn for
arranging financing represents value to the consumer in numerous ways, including the following:
 
 •  Lower cost, sub-vented financing is often available only from the manufacturers’ captives and franchised dealers;
 
 •  Lease-financing alternatives are largely available only from manufacturers’ captives or other indirect lenders;
 
 •  Customers with substandard credit frequently do not have direct access to potential sources of sub-prime financing; and
 

 
•  Customers with significant “negative equity” in their current vehicle (i.e., the customer’s current vehicle is worth less than the balance of their vehicle loan or lease

obligation) frequently are unable to pay off the loan on their current vehicle and finance the purchase or lease of a replacement new or used vehicle without the
assistance of a franchised dealer.

 
Finance, insurance and other revenues are driven by the level of new and used vehicle sales, manufacturer financing or leasing incentives and our penetration rate. The

penetration rate represents the percentage of vehicle sales on which we are able to originate financing or sell extended service contracts, other aftermarket products or insurance
contracts. Our finance penetration rate decreased slightly to 67.6% in 2006 from 68.1% in 2005. Our extended service contract penetration rate increased to 34.7% in 2006 from
34.3% in 2005. We expect our finance and insurance penetration rate to increase over time as we continue to emphasize the use of menu selling techniques.
 

   

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

 

 %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

    

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Total Finance, Insurance and Other Revenue (in thousands)                                

Same Store   $ 176,435  $ 181,386  $ 4,951  2.8%  $ 157,888  $ 169,078  $ 11,190  7.1%
Acquisitions and Other    4,693   10,002   5,309  113.1%   7,531   12,050   4,519  60.0%

               
Total as Reported   $ 181,128  $ 191,388  $ 10,260  5.7%  $ 165,419  $ 181,128  $ 15,709  9.5%

               
Total F&I per Unit (excluding fleet)                                

Same Store   $ 911  $ 915  $ 4  0.4%  $ 889  $ 906  $ 17  1.9%
Total Dealerships as Reported   $ 932  $ 922  $ (10) (1.1%)  $ 924  $ 932  $ 8  0.9%

 
Same store finance, insurance and other revenues increased during 2006 when compared to 2005 due to a 2.7% increase in retail vehicle unit sales volume. Our import

dealerships reported an increase of revenues by
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$ 4.5 million, or 3.6%, primarily due to revenue increases in our Toyota, Mercedes, and Lexus dealerships of $3.2 million, or 11.8%, $1.0 million, or 14.2%, and $0.8 million,
or 10.5%, respectively. Our domestic stores also experienced a slight increase in revenues of $0.5 million, or 0.9%. The increase was led by our Cadillac and GM stores of $0.5
million, or 4.1%, and $0.2 million, or 0.8%, respectively. The revenue increase was partially offset by a $6.2 million increase in our allowance for estimated finance
chargebacks that was recorded in the second quarter ended June 30, 2006 as a result of a change in estimate for the allowance.
 

Same store finance, insurance, and other revenues increased in 2005 compared to 2004 due to a 5.9% increase in retail unit sales volume. The increase in revenues was
primarily attributed to our import stores with an $11.7 million, or 11.1% increase over 2004. Our Honda, BMW, and Lexus dealerships led the rise in revenues with increases of
$6.0 million, or 20.3%, $1.9 million, or 10.9%, and $1.3 million, or 20.0%, respectively. The increase at our import stores was slightly offset by a decrease of $0.9 million or
1.6% at our domestic stores, due to a decline in new and used retail units sold of 3.9% and 0.9%, respectively. The domestic decline was partially offset by our GM stores
(excluding Cadillac), which experienced increases of $0.3 million, or 1.4%.
 

Gross Profit and Gross Margins
 

The cost of sales line item includes the cost of new and used vehicles, vehicle parts and all costs directly linked to servicing customer vehicles (labor for parts, service
and collision repair associates, depreciation on service equipment and service consumables). Our overall gross profit and gross margin (gross profit as a percentage of revenues)
as a percentage of revenues generally vary depending on changes in our revenue mix. Although sales of new vehicles comprise the majority of our total revenues, new vehicles
generally carry the lowest margin rate of any product or service we offer. As a result, sales of new vehicles comprise a relatively small portion of total gross profits when
compared to revenue. Retail sales of used vehicles generally carry a slightly higher gross margin rate than new vehicles. Parts, service and collision repair carry a much higher
gross margin rate than vehicle sales. Product mix also has an impact on the gross margins that we realize. Historically, our import and luxury brands provide higher margins
than our domestic brands. As we continue to acquire more import and luxury dealerships, we would expect our gross margins to increase. Our same store revenue mix between
different products is shown in the following table:
 

   

For the Year Ended

  Basis Point
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  Basis Point
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

   

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

  
Revenues as a Percentage of Total Revenues                    

New Vehicles   61.9% 61.7% (20) 61.8% 62.1% 30 
Used Vehicles   15.6% 16.2% 60  15.7% 15.6% (10)
Wholesale Vehicles   6.4% 5.8% (60) 6.3% 6.4% 10 
Fixed Operations   13.6% 13.8% 20  13.6% 13.4% (20)
Finance, Insurance and Other   2.5% 2.5% 0  2.6% 2.5% (10)

        
Total as Reported   100.0% 100.0% —    100.0% 100.0% —   

        
 

   

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  $
Change

  %
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

     

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

    
Total Gross Profit (in thousands)                                

Same Store   $ 1,106,963  $ 1,156,086  $ 49,123  4.4%  $ 973,704  $ 1,038,561  $ 64,857  6.7%
Acquisitions and Other    10,082   75,496   65,414  648.8%   18,550   78,484   59,934  323.1%

                
Total as Reported   $ 1,117,045  $ 1,231,582  $ 114,537  10.3%  $ 992,254  $ 1,117,045  $ 124,791  12.6%
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The overall gross margin rates on our various revenue lines on a same store basis were as follows:
 

   

For the Year Ended

  Basis Point
Change

 

 

For the Year Ended

  Basis Point
Change

    

12/31/2005

  

12/31/2006

   

12/31/2004

  

12/31/2005

  
New vehicles   7.3%  7.3%  —    7.4%  7.3%  (10)
Used vehicles   10.6%  10.3%  (30) 10.3%  10.8%  50 
Wholesale vehicles   (0.4%) (1.1%) (70) (1.3%) (0.5%) 80 
Parts, service and collision repair   49.5%  49.9%  40  49.4%  49.6%  20 
Finance and insurance   100.0%  100.0%  —    100.0%  100.0%  —   
Overall gross margin   15.4%  15.4%  —    15.3%  15.3%  —   
 

Our same store gross margin percentage was flat in 2006, when compared to 2005. Gross margin improvements experienced in Fixed Operations were offset by declines
in both the used and wholesale vehicle gross margin percentages. Our Toyota dealerships posted the most significant increase in Fixed Operations gross margin percentage
among our import dealerships, improving by 130 basis points. In addition, the majority of our domestic dealerships contributed to the Fixed Operations increase. Specifically,
our GM (excluding Cadillac), Ford and Cadillac dealerships experienced Fixed Operations margin increases of 80 basis points, 40 basis points and 30 basis points, respectively,
when compared to 2005.
 

The overall same store gross margin percentage remained flat at 15.3% in 2005 and 2004. Improvements experienced in all other categories were offset by a 10 basis
point decline in the new vehicle gross margin percentage. The largest increases in margin percentage related to used and wholesale vehicles, which were primarily attributed to
price increases driven by a lower supply of higher quality used vehicles than in previous years. Fixed Operations gross margin percentages improved primarily due to a 240
basis point increase experienced at our Ford dealerships.
 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses are comprised of four major groups: compensation expense, advertising expense, rent and rent related expense,
and other expense. Compensation expense primarily relates to dealership personnel who are paid a commission or a modest salary plus commission (which typically vary
depending on gross profits realized) and support personnel who are paid a fixed salary. Due to the salary component for certain dealership and corporate personnel, gross profits
and compensation expense are not 100% correlated. Advertising expense and other expenses vary based on the level of actual or anticipated business activity and number of
dealerships owned. Rent and rent related expense typically varies with the number of dealerships owned, investments made for facility improvements and interest rates.
Although not completely correlated, we believe the best way to measure SG&A expenses is as a percentage of gross profit.
 

Total SG&A expenses increased $89.4 million, or 10.5%, in 2006 compared to 2005. As a percentage of gross profit, reported SG&A expense increased by 20 basis
points, from 76.1% in 2005 to 76.3% in 2006. These increases, both the dollar increase and the increase as a percentage of gross profits, can be attributed to current year
acquisitions, a number of charges recorded during 2006 and the effect of a $3.0 million favorable legal settlement in 2005. Acquisitions in 2006 contributed $39.0 million to the
year over year dollar increase. The charges recorded in 2006 included property and equipment impairment charges and other asset write-offs of approximately $7.9 million,
which represent a 70 basis point increase in SG&A as a percentage of gross profit. In addition, legal accruals of $2.0 million and lease exit accruals of $2.0 million were
recorded during 2006, each representing a 20 basis point increase in SG&A as a percentage of gross profit, respectively. Finance reserve chargeback accruals of $6.2 million
recorded in the second quarter of 2006 also negatively affected the percentage of SG&A to gross profit in 2006 by 40 basis points. In 2005, reported SG&A expense as a
percentage of gross profit improved by 170 basis points, when compared to 2004.
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Total reported compensation expense increased $44.0 million, or 8.8%, in 2006, as compared to 2005 due to acquistions and higher gross profit levels. As a percentage
of gross profit, total compensation expense improved by 60 basis points to 44.1% in 2006 from 44.7% in 2005. In 2005, total reported compensation expense increased by $45.8
million, or 10.1%, when compared to 2004, while decreasing by 100 basis points as a percentage of gross profit from 45.7% in 2004 to 44.7% in 2005. The decline as a
percentage of gross profit was due to standardized pay plans implemented in 2004, tying compensation more closely with gross profit.
 

Advertising expense increased $5.6 million, or 9.5%, in 2006, as compared to 2005. Of this increase, $3.3 million was due to acquisitions. The remaining increase in
advertising expense can be attributed to a targeted approach to allocate advertising dollars to certain brands in key markets, which was implemented in 2005. Despite the dollar
increase, the advertising expense to gross profit ratio declined by 10 basis points to 5.2% in 2006 from 5.3% in 2005. In 2005, advertising expense increased $5.2 million, or
9.7%, when compared to 2004, while also improving by 10 basis points as a percentage of gross profit.
 

Rent and rent related expenses increased $22.8 million, or 19.1%, in 2006, as compared to 2005. As a percentage of gross profit, rent and rent related expenses increased
by 80 basis points to 11.5% in 2006 from 10.7% in 2005. Acquisitions contributed $5.9 million to the increase. We also experienced increases in rent expense as a result of the
completion of facility improvement projects and the resulting sale-leaseback of these facilities, the effect of rising interest rates on our variable rate leases and the establishment
of lease exit accruals. In 2005, rent and rent related expenses increased $16.7 million, or 16.3%, as compared to 2004. The majority of the increase was due to acquisitions, new
facilities and improvements on existing facilities.
 

Other SG&A expenses increased $17.0 million, or 9.8%, in 2006, as compared to 2005. Acquisitions accounted for approximately $9.3 million of the increase. The
remaining increase is primarily attributed to higher service loaner expense, data processing, legal expenses and impairment charges. In 2005, other SG&A expenses increased
$10.7 million, or 6.6%, as compared to 2004.
 

Depreciation and Amortization
 

Depreciation expense increased $5.0 million, or 27.3%, in 2006 compared to 2005. This increase was due primarily to a $72.1 million increase in gross property and
equipment related to continuing operations, excluding land and construction in progress, as well as an adjustment to depreciation expense of $2.1 million which was recorded in
the year ended December 31, 2006. This adjustment was related to the reclassification of certain assets from other current assets—construction in progress to depreciable
property and equipment based on strategic capital decisions which resulted in decisions not to sell these assets. The increase in depreciable property was due to dealership
acquisitions and facility projects on existing dealerships.
 

Depreciation expense increased $4.0 million, or 27.5%, in 2005 compared to 2004. This increase was due primarily to a $21.9 million increase in gross property and
equipment related to continuing operations, excluding land and construction in progress. The increase in depreciable property was due to dealership acquisitions and facility
projects on existing dealerships.
 

Interest Expense, Floor Plan
 

Interest expense, floor plan for new vehicles increased $19.2 million, or 54.2%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The average new vehicle floor plan interest rate related to
new vehicles incurred by continuing dealerships was 5.9% for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to 4.3% for the year ended December 31, 2005, which increased
interest expense by approximately $13.4 million. In addition, during 2006 the average floor plan balance for new vehicles increased by $98.8 million, resulting in an increase in
expense of approximately $5.8 million. Approximately $27.3 million of the increase in the average floor plan balance for new vehicles was due to additional dealerships we
acquired in 2006. The average floor plan balance for new vehicles also increased due to an increase in the average price of vehicles due to general trends in the industry and our
continued focus on luxury vehicles.
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Interest expense, floor plan for used vehicles increased expense in 2006 by $4.9 million. The floor plan interest expense associated with used vehicles was the result of
borrowings under the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility (see Note 6 in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements). The average balance of the Used
Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility was $100.9 million in 2006 and bore an interest rate of between 5.7% and 6.5%. This facility was not in place in 2005.
 

Interest expense, floor plan for new vehicles increased $13.2 million, or 59.3%, in 2005 compared to 2004. The average floor plan interest rate for new vehicles incurred
by continuing dealerships was 4.3% for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared to 2.8% for the year ended December 31, 2004, which increased interest expense by
approximately $11.6 million. In addition to this, during 2005 the average floor plan balance for new vehicles increased $38.7 million which resulted in an increase in expense of
approximately $1.6 million. Approximately $24.6 million of the increase in the average new vehicle floor plan balance was due to additional dealerships we acquired in 2005.
 

Our floor plan expenses related to new vehicles are partially offset by amounts received from manufacturers in the form of floor plan assistance. These payments are
credited against our cost of sales upon the sale of the vehicle. For franchises classified as continuing operations, the amounts we recognized in our Consolidated Income
Statements from floor plan assistance exceeded our floor plan interest expense by approximately $9.5 million in 2004. In 2005 and 2006 our floor plan interest expense
exceeded our floor plan assistance by $2.0 million and $22.8 million, respectively.
 

Interest Expense, Other, Net
 

See discussion in Liquidity and Capital Resources regarding the new credit facility and the changes in related interest rates compared to our previous revolving credit
facility.
 

In order to reduce our exposure to market risks from fluctuations in interest rates, we had two separate interest rate swap agreements (the “Fixed Swaps”) to effectively
convert a portion of our LIBOR-based variable rate debt to a fixed rate. The first swap agreement matured October 31, 2004 and had a notional principal amount of $100.0
million. The second swap agreement matured June 6, 2006 and had a notional principal of $100.0 million. Under the terms of the first swap agreement, we received interest
payments on the notional amount at a rate equal to the one month LIBOR rate and made interest payments at a fixed rate of 3.88%. Under the terms of the second swap
agreement, we received interest payments on the notional amount at a rate equal to the one month LIBOR rate, and made interest payments at a fixed rate of 4.50%. The
incremental expense incurred (the difference between interest paid and interest received as a result of the Fixed Swaps) was $5.4 million and $1.2 million in 2004 and 2005,
respectively. A benefit of $0.1 million was realized in 2006. The incremental expenses/benefits of the Fixed Swaps are included in interest expense, other, net in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
 

In 2003, we entered into five separate interest rate swaps totaling $150.0 million (collectively, the “Old Variable Swaps”) to effectively convert a portion of our fixed
rate debt to a LIBOR-based variable rate debt. Under the Old Variable Swaps’ agreements, we received 8.625% on the respective notional amounts and paid interest payments
on the respective notional amounts at a rate equal to the six month LIBOR in arrears (as determined on February 15 and August 15 of each year) plus a spread ranging from
3.50% to 3.84% with a weighted average spread of 3.64%. In the second quarter of 2005, we canceled all of the Old Variable Swaps. The Old Variable Swaps had a collective
mark-to-market of $0.4 million at cancellation. In connection with this cancellation, we entered into five separate new interest rate swaps with identical terms to the Old Variable
Swaps except that we pay a variable rate equal to the fixed six month LIBOR rate which will be fixed on February 15 and August 15 of each year plus a spread ranging from
3.825% to 3.85% (with a weighted average spread of 3.83%) (collectively, the “New Variable Swaps”). The benefit realized (the difference between interest paid and interest
received) as a result of the Old and New Variable Swaps was $4.2 million and $1.5 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively, and $0.4 million of expense in 2006. The
incremental expenses/benefits of the Old and New
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Variable swaps are included in interest expense, other, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
 

These changes and other changes in other interest expense are summarized in the schedule below:
 

   

2005

  

2006

 

   

Increase/(Decrease)
in Interest Expense

(in millions)

  

Increase/(Decrease)
in Interest Expense

(in millions)

 
Interest rates –          

•      Changes in the average interest rate on the revolving facilities (4.14% in 2004, 5.94% in
2005 and 6.81% in 2006)   $ 6.0  $ 2.2 

•      Rate spread benefit due to repayment of revolving credit facilities with proceeds from 4.25%
Convertible Notes issuance    (0.1)  (1.4)

Debt balances –          
•      Increase/(Decrease) in debt balances    (1.3)  (3.6)

Other factors –          
•      Decrease/(increase) in capitalized interest    0.5   (1.3)
•      Incremental interest savings related to the Fixed Swaps    (4.2)  (1.3)
•      Incremental interest expense related to the Old and New Variable Swaps    2.6   1.9 
•      Increase in other expense, net    0.4   0.9 

    
    $3.9   $(2.6) 
    
 

Other Income / Expense, Net
 

Other income / expense increased approximately $0.6 million in 2006 compared to 2005 due mostly to fees related to the termination of the 2001 Revolving Credit
Facility, as amended.
 

Provision for Income Taxes
 

The effective tax rate from continuing operations was 40.4% in 2006 and 37.4% in 2005. The effective rate from continuing operations decreased in 2005 to 37.4% from
38.0% in 2004. The effective rate in 2006 was higher than 2005 primarily due to the effect of adjustments in certain tax planning strategies and due to the shift of taxable
income to states with higher tax rates in 2006. We expect the effective tax rate in future periods to fall within a range of 37 % to 39 %.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

We require cash to finance acquisitions and fund debt service and working capital requirements. We rely on cash flows from operations, borrowings under our 2006
Credit Facility and offerings of debt and equity securities to meet these requirements.
 

Because the majority of our consolidated assets are held by our dealership subsidiaries, the majority of our cash flows from operations are generated by these
subsidiaries. As a result, our cash flows and ability to service debt depends to a substantial degree on the results of operations of these subsidiaries and their ability to provide us
with cash based on their ability to generate cash. Uncertainties in the economic environment as well as uncertainties associated with the ultimate resolution of geopolitical
conflicts may therefore affect our overall liquidity.
 

40



Table of Contents

A significant portion of our cash flow is used to fund dealership acquisitions. Following is a summary of acquisition activity in recent years:
 

   

(in millions)

Acquisitions

  

Subsequent
Year

Revenues

  

Cash
Portion

of Purchase
Price

(net of cash
acquired)

2003   $ 362.7  $ 113.6
2004    589.4   268.7
2005    448.9   138.8
2006 (a)    250.8   110.4

 
 (a) Revenues are estimated
 

Prior to 2004, we had maintained a long-term debt to total capital ratio of approximately 48% to 52% depending on the timing of our dealership acquisitions. We expect
our acquisition activity to approximate 10% to 15% of annual revenues each year and 2007 activity to be weighted toward the latter half of the year. We believe it prudent to
maintain our long-term debt to total capital ratio of 35% to 40% over the next few years. At December 31, 2006, our long-term debt to total capital ratio net of cash and cash
equivalents was 39.4%. Our long-term debt structure consists of the 2006 Credit Facility due in 2010 and various senior subordinated notes due or redeemable in 2009, 2010,
2013 and 2015. These are discussed in more detail below. We believe the combination of cash flows from operations, floor plan facilities, the availability under our 2006 Credit
Facility (approximately $252.1 million was available under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility at December 31, 2006) and our ability to raise funds in the public capital
markets is sufficient to fund both our working capital needs and the targeted acquisition level discussed above.
 

Long-Term Debt and Credit Facilities
 

2006 Credit Facility
 

On February 17, 2006, we entered into a new four-year syndicated credit facility (the “2006 Credit Facility”) with 14 financial institutions, including three manufacturer-
affiliated finance companies, providing for up to $1.2 billion in revolving credit and floor plan financing. The 2006 Credit Facility replaces the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility,
as amended, (which was terminated February 17, 2006) and a portion of our existing floor plan financing arrangements.
 

The 2006 Credit Facility has a borrowing limit of $1.2 billion, which may be expanded up to $1.45 billion in total credit availability upon satisfaction of certain
conditions. Under the terms of the 2006 Credit Facility, up to $700.0 million is available for new vehicle inventory floor plan financing (the “2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-
Facility”), up to $150.0 million is available for used vehicle inventory floor plan financing (the “2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility”) and up to $350.0 million is
available for working capital and general corporate purposes (the “2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility”). The amount available for borrowing under the 2006 Revolving Credit
Sub-Facility is reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the aggregate face amount of any outstanding letters of credit under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility. The 2006
Revolving Credit Sub-Facility matures on February 17, 2010. The 2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility and the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility mature on the
earlier of February 17, 2010 or upon demand by the administrative agent at the request of more than 80% of the lenders under those facilities.
 

At December 31, 2006, our 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility had a borrowing limit of $350.0 million, subject to a borrowing base calculated on the basis of our
receivables, inventory and equipment and a pledge of certain additional collateral by one of our affiliates (the borrowing base exceeded the borrowing limit at December 31,
2006). The amount available to be borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility is reduced on a
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dollar-for-dollar basis by the cumulative face amount of outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2006, we had $77.8 million in letters of credit outstanding and $252.1
million of borrowing availability.
 

The amounts outstanding under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility bear interest at a specified percentage above LIBOR according to a performance-based pricing
grid determined by our Total Senior Secured Debt to EBITDA Ratio as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. The range of the performance-based pricing
grid is from 1.75% above LIBOR to 2.75% above LIBOR. The weighted average rate of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility during the year ended December 31, 2006 was
6.81%. In addition, there is a quarterly commitment fee payable by us on the unused portion of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility according to a performance-based
pricing grid determined by our Total Senior Secured Debt to EBITDA Ratio as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. The range of the performance-based
pricing grid for the quarterly commitment fee is 0.20% to 0.45% on the unused portion of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility.
 

The amounts outstanding under the 2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility bear interest at 1.00% above LIBOR. The amounts outstanding under the 2006 Used
Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility bear interest at 1.125% above LIBOR. In addition, there are quarterly commitment fees of 0.20% payable by us on the unused portion of both
the 2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility and the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility.
 

Under the terms of collateral documents entered into with the lenders under the 2006 Credit Facility, outstanding balances under the 2006 Credit Facility are secured by a
pledge of substantially all of our assets and the assets of substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries, which domestic subsidiaries also guarantee our obligations under the
2006 Credit Facility, and the pledge of certain additional collateral by one of our affiliates. The collateral for the New Credit Facility also includes the pledge of the stock or
equity interests of our dealership franchise subsidiaries, except where such a pledge is prohibited by the applicable vehicle manufacturer.
 

We agreed under the 2006 Credit Facility not to pledge any assets to any third party, subject to certain stated exceptions, including floor plan financing arrangements. In
addition, the 2006 Credit Facility contains certain negative covenants, including covenants which could restrict or prohibit the payment of dividends, capital expenditures and
material dispositions of assets as well as other customary covenants and default provisions. Specifically, the 2006 Credit Facility permits cash dividends on our Class A and
Class B common stock so long as no event of default or unmatured default (as defined in the New Credit Facility) has occurred and is continuing and provided that, after giving
effect to the payment of a dividend, we remain in compliance with other terms and conditions of the 2006 Credit Facility.
 

The 2006 Credit Facility contains events of default, including cross-defaults to other material indebtedness, change of control events and events of default customary for
syndicated commercial credit facilities. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, we could be required to immediately repay all outstanding amounts under the 2006 Credit
Facility.
 

On February 17, 2006, in conjunction with the entrance into the 2006 Credit Facility, we and substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries entered into collateral
documents with the lenders, pursuant to which we and substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries granted a security interest in substantially all their assets to secure our
obligations under the 2006 Credit Facility, including a pledge of the stock or equity interests of our dealership franchise subsidiaries except where such a pledge is prohibited
by the applicable vehicle manufacturer. This grant of security interests replaces the grant under the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended.
 

2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as Amended
 

Prior to entering into the 2006 Credit Facility, we utilized the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended. This facility was with Ford Credit, DaimlerChrysler Financial,
Toyota Financial, Bank of America, JP Morgan
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Chase Bank and Merrill Lynch and had a borrowing limit of $550.0 million, subject to a borrowing base calculated on the basis of receivables, inventory and equipment and a
pledge of certain additional collateral by one of our affiliates. The amounts outstanding under the Revolving Facility bore interest at 2.55 percentage points above LIBOR. The
Revolving Facility included an annual commitment fee equal to 0.25% of the unused portion of the Revolving Facility.
 

Senior Subordinated 8.625% Notes
 

In August 2003, we issued $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.625% Notes. In November 2003, we issued an additional $75.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of the 8.625% Notes. This $75.0 million issuance contains the same provisions and terms as the $200.0 million issuance. The 8.625% Notes are unsecured
obligations that rank equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior subordinated indebtedness, mature on August 15, 2013 and are redeemable at our option
after August 15, 2008. The redemption premiums for the twelve-month periods beginning August 15 of the years 2008, 2009 and 2010 are 104.313%, 102.875% and 101.438%,
respectively. In addition, up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 8.625% Notes may be redeemed on or before August 15, 2006 with net cash proceeds from certain
equity offerings. Our obligations under the 8.625% Notes are guaranteed by our operating domestic subsidiaries.
 

We have five separate interest rate swaps totaling $150.0 million to effectively convert a portion of our fixed rate debt under the 8.625% Notes to a LIBOR-based
variable rate debt. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Interest Rate Risk. If the
Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investor Services rating on our 8.625% Notes drops to “B” or “B2”, respectively, or is withdrawn, the counterparty for $125.0 million of the total
interest rate swap notional value of $150.0 million has the option to terminate their interest rate swaps with us. If this counterparty terminates these options, the mark-to-market
value of these interest rate swaps must be paid by either us or the counterparty. Further, if the counterparty terminates, it is likely that we will be required to pay the mark-to-
market value of these interest rate swaps. Additionally, if such a termination occurs, the fair value of $125.0 million of our 8.625% Notes will no longer be hedged.
 

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
 

In May 2002, we issued $149.5 million in aggregate principal amount of convertible senior subordinated notes (“2002 Convertibles”) with net proceeds, before expenses,
of approximately $145.1 million. The 2002 Convertibles are unsecured obligations that rank equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior subordinated
indebtedness, mature on May 7, 2009 and are redeemable at our option after May 7, 2005. The redemption premiums for the twelve-month periods beginning May 7 of the years
2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are 103.00%, 102.25%, 101.50% and 100.75%, respectively. Our obligations under the 2002 Convertibles are not guaranteed by any of our
subsidiaries. The 2002 Convertibles are convertible into shares of Class A common stock, at the option of the holder, based on certain conditions. See Note 6 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion regarding these conversion conditions. Also see “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” (subsequent heading also within this
Item 7) for a discussion regarding the off-balance sheet aspects of this financing. None of the conversion features on the 2002 Convertibles were triggered in 2006 and none of
the 2002 Convertibles were redeemed in 2006.
 

In November and December 2005, we issued $160.0 million in aggregate principal amount of convertible senior subordinated notes (“2005 Convertibles”) with net
proceeds, before expenses, of approximately $156.2 million. The 2005 Convertibles bear interest at an annual rate of 4.25% until November 30, 2010 and 4.75% thereafter. The
net proceeds were used to repay a portion of the amounts outstanding under our 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, and to pay the net cost of convertible note hedge
and warrant transactions. The 2005 Convertibles are unsecured obligations that rank equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior subordinated indebtedness,
mature on November 30, 2015 and are redeemable on or after October 31, 2010. Our obligations under the 2005 Convertibles are not guaranteed by any of our
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subsidiaries. Holders of the 2005 Convertibles may convert them into cash and shares of our Class A common stock based on certain conditions. Upon conversion of the 2005
Convertibles, we will be required to deliver cash equal to the lesser of the aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Convertibles being converted or our total conversion
obligation. If our total conversion obligation exceeds the aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Convertibles being converted, we will deliver shares of our Class A common
stock to the extent of the excess amount, if any. We used $18.5 million of the net proceeds from the sale of the 2005 Convertibles to pay the net cost of convertible note hedge
and warrant transactions. See Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion regarding these conversion conditions. Also see “Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements” (subsequent heading also within this Item 7) for a discussion regarding the off-balance sheet aspects of this financing and the convertible note hedge and warrant
transactions. None of the conversion features on the 2005 Convertibles were triggered in 2006.
 

Notes Payable to a Finance Company
 

Three notes payable totaling $26.6 million in aggregate principal were assumed with the purchase of certain dealerships during the second quarter of 2004 (the “Assumed
Notes”). The Assumed Notes bear interest rates from 9.52% to 10.52% (with a weighted average of 10.19%), have a combined monthly principal and interest payment of $0.3
million, mature November 1, 2015 through September 1, 2016 and are collateralized by letters of credit. We recorded the Assumed Notes at fair value using an interest rate of
5.35%. The interest rate used to calculate the fair value was based on a quoted market price for notes with similar terms as of the date of assumption. As a result of calculating
the fair value, a premium of $7.3 million was recorded that will be amortized over the lives of the Assumed Notes. Although the Assumed Notes allow for prepayment, the
penalties and fees are disproportionately burdensome relative to the Assumed Notes’ principal balance. Therefore, we do not currently intend to prepay the Assumed Notes.
 

The Mortgage Facility
 

We had approximately $100 million of borrowing availability related to a revolving real estate and construction (the “Construction Loan”) and mortgage refinancing (the
“Permanent Loan”) line of credit with Toyota Credit (collectively, the “Mortgage Facility”). Subsequent to December 31, 2006, this line of credit was terminated. There were no
borrowings outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.
 

Floor Plan Facilities
 

We finance all of our new and certain of our used vehicle inventory through standardized floor plan facilities. These floor plan facilities bear interest at variable rates
based on prime and LIBOR. The weighted average interest rate for our floor plan facilities was 4.4% for 2005 and 6.0% for 2006. Our floor plan interest expense is partially
offset by amounts received from manufacturers, in the form of floor plan assistance. Floor plan assistance received is capitalized in inventory and charged against cost of sales
when the associated inventory is sold. In 2006, we recognized approximately $42.2 million in manufacturer assistance, which resulted in an effective borrowing rate under the
floor plan facilities of approximately 2.3%. Interest payments under each of our floor plan facilities are due monthly and we are generally not required to make principal
repayments prior to the sale of the vehicles.
 

Prior to February 17, 2006, we engaged in financing our new vehicle inventory with DaimlerChrysler Financial Company, LLC (“DaimlerChrysler Financial”), Ford
Motor Credit Company (“Ford Credit”), General Motors Acceptance Corporation (“GMAC”), Toyota Financial Services (“Toyota Financial”), Bank of America and JP Morgan
Chase Bank. On February 17, 2006 and shortly thereafter, we also entered into or renewed separate floor plan credit arrangements with DaimlerChrysler Services North
America LLC, Ford Motor Credit Company, General Motors Acceptance Corporation and BMW Financial Services NA, LLC. These separate floor plan credit facilities
provide a total of approximately $617.0 million of availability to finance new vehicle inventory purchased from the respective manufacturer affiliates of these captive finance
companies and
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$150.0 million of availability to finance used vehicle inventory. Each of these separate floor plan facilities bear interest at variable rates based on prime and LIBOR. Our
obligation under each of these separate floor plan facilities are secured, or will be secured, by liens on all of the new vehicle inventory financed under the respective floor plan
credit facility, as well as the proceeds from the sale of such vehicles, and certain other collateral.
 

Covenants and Default Provisions
 

Noncompliance with covenants, including a failure to make any payment when due, under our 2006 Credit Facility, floor plan facilities, 8.625% Notes, 2002
Convertibles and 2005 Convertibles (collectively, our “Material Debt Agreements”) could result in a default and an acceleration of our repayment obligation under our 2006
Credit Facility. A default under our New Credit Facility would constitute a default under our floor plan facilities and could entitle these lenders to accelerate our repayment
obligations under the one or more of the floor plan facilities. A default under our 2006 Credit Facility and one or more floor plan facilities would not result in a default under
our 8.625% Notes, 2002 Convertibles or 2005 Convertibles unless our repayment obligations under the 2006 Credit Facility, Mortgage Facility and/or one or more of the floor
plan facilities were accelerated. An acceleration of our repayment obligation under any of our Material Debt Agreements could result in an acceleration of our repayment
obligations under our other Material Debt Agreements. We expect to be in compliance with the covenants for all of our long-term debt agreements for the foreseeable future.
We were in compliance with all of the restrictive and financial covenants on all of our floor plan and long-term debt facilities required to be submitted as of and for the period
ended December 31, 2006. The 2006 Credit Facility includes the following financial covenants:
 

Covenant

  

Required

Consolidated liquidity ratio   ³  1.15
Consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio   ³ 1.20
Consolidated total senior secured debt to EBITDA ratio   £ 2.25

 
Acquisitions and Dispositions

 
During 2006, we acquired eight franchises for a combined purchase price of $110.4 million in cash. The cash utilized for these acquisitions was financed by cash

generated from our existing operations and by borrowings under our revolving credit facilities. During 2006, we disposed of 12 franchises. These disposals generated cash of
$51.0 million.
 

In January 2007, we purchased two franchises for $16.5 million in cash.
 

Sale-Leaseback Transactions
 

In an effort to generate additional cash flow, we periodically seek to minimize the ownership of real property. As a result, facilities either constructed by us or obtained in
acquisitions are sold to third parties in sale-leaseback transactions. The resulting leases generally have initial terms of 10-20 years and include a series of five-year renewal
options. We have no continuing obligations under these arrangements other than lease payments. In 2006, we sold $26.6 million in dealership property and equipment in sale-
leaseback transactions. There were no material gains or losses on these sales.
 

Capital Expenditures
 

Our capital expenditures include the construction of new dealerships and collision repair centers, building improvements and equipment purchased for use in our
dealerships. Capital expenditures in 2006 were approximately $99.8 million, of which approximately $66.0 million related to the construction of new dealerships and collision
repair centers and real estate acquired in connection with such construction. Once completed, these new dealerships and collision repair centers are either held or sold in sale-
leaseback transactions. New dealership and collision repair center capital expenditures incurred during 2006 expected to be
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sold within a year or sold in 2006 in sale-leaseback transactions were $40.5 million. We do not expect any significant gains or losses from these sales. As of December 31,
2006, commitments for facilities construction projects totaled approximately $13.4 million. We expect $7.8 million of this amount to be financed through future sale-leaseback
transactions.
 

Stock Repurchase Program
 

Our Board of Directors has authorized us to expend up to $185.0 million to repurchase shares of our Class A common stock or redeem securities convertible into Class A
common stock. In 2006, we repurchased 584,000 shares for approximately $15.1 million which was offset by proceeds received from the exercise of stock options under stock
compensation plans of $19.2 million. As of December 31, 2006 we had $12.2 million remaining under our Board authorization.
 

Dividends
 

Our Board of Directors approved four quarterly cash dividends totaling $0.48 per share during 2006. On February 27, 2007, our Board of Directors approved a dividend
of $.12 per share for shareholders of record on March 15, 2007 that will be paid on April 15, 2007. We intend to pay dividends in the future based on available cash flows,
covenant compliance and other factors. See Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of restrictions on the payment of dividends.
 

Cash Flows
 

Since the majority of our inventories are financed through floor plan notes payable and a significant portion of our receivables represent contracts in transit which are
typically funded within ten days of the sale of the vehicle, we are not required to make significant investments in working capital that would negatively impact our operating
cash flows.
 

In 2006, cash flows used by operations were $61.9 million. Cash used in investing activities in 2006 was $118.0 million, the majority of which was related to dealership
acquisitions and capital expenditures on construction in progress projects offset by proceeds received from dealership dispositions and the sales of property and equipment. Net
cash provided by financing activities was $185.0 million, comprised mostly of the increase of floor plan notes payable—non-trade offset by net payments on our revolving
credit facilities.
 

During the third quarter of 2006, we generated cash of approximately $26.8 million from the sale of a portion of Cornerstone’s notes receivable to a third party. This
inflow of cash is included in cash flows from operating activities, change in receivables, in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2006. This transaction resulted in no material gains or losses. The proceeds from the sale were used to pay down our 2006 Credit Facility. Cornerstone’s
outstanding notes receivable at December 31, 2006 were $28.5 million, net of an allowance for credit losses of $4.9 million. We are currently evaluating strategic alternatives
for our wholly owned finance subsidiary, Cornerstone Acceptance Corporation (“Cornerstone”), which include selling all or a portion of Cornerstone’s outstanding notes
receivable. We anticipate that proceeds from either type of sale will be used to reduce our leverage.
 

Our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows includes both continuing and discontinued operations. Net cash used in operating activities associated with discontinued
operations was approximately $61.4 million and was substantially comprised of an adjustment for depreciation, gains on the disposal of franchises and property and equipment
and changes in assets and liabilities that relate to dealership operations. In our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash flows from investing activities includes the line item
“Proceeds from sale of franchises” which is entirely related to discontinued operations. With the exception of “Proceeds from sale of franchises” in the amount of $51.0 million
and “Net payments on notes payable—floor plan—non-trade” in the amount of $2.2 million, cash flows from investing and financing activities contain an immaterial amount of
cash flows from
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discontinued operations. Since discontinued operations typically contain unprofitable franchises, the absence of these cash flows would generally increase consolidated cash
flows from operations.
 

Guarantees and Indemnifications
 

In connection with the operation and disposition of dealership franchises, we have entered into various guarantees and indemnifications. See Note 11 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for a discussion regarding the guarantees and indemnifications. Also see “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” (subsequent heading also within this Item 7)
for a discussion regarding the off-balance sheet aspects of these guarantees and indemnifications.
 

Future Liquidity Outlook
 

Our future contractual obligations are as follows:
 

  

(Amounts in thousands)

  

2007

 

2008

 

2009

 

2010

 

2011

 

Thereafter

 

Total

Floor Plan Facilities (1)  $ 1,160,749 $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 1,160,749
Long-Term Debt (2)   2,707  2,842  131,353  179,777  3,051  281,604  601,334
Estimated Interest Payments on Floor Plan Facilities (3)   11,646  —    —    —    —    —    11,646
Estimated Interest Payments on Long-Term Debt (4)   42,115  41,771  37,124  33,967  1,445  2,884  159,306
Operating Leases   129,369  121,795  110,798  108,443  111,080  832,624  1,414,109
Construction Contracts   13,399  —    —    —    —    —    13,399
Other Purchase Obligations   10,085  5,299  3,515  —    —    —    18,899
Acquisition Purchase Commitments (5)   16,457  —    —    —    —    —    16,457
        
Total  $ 1,386,527 $ 171,707 $ 282,790 $ 322,187 $ 115,576 $ 1,117,112 $ 3,395,899
        

(1) Floor plan facilities includes amounts classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale.
(2) Amounts under the 8.625% Notes and the 2002 Convertibles are redeemable at our option (see preceding discussion regarding long-term debt and credit facilities) but

have been classified in this schedule according to contractual maturity. The 2005 Convertibles are redeemable at both our option and the option of the holders of the 2005
Convertibles in November 2010 and have, therefore, been classified for maturity in 2010.

(3) Floor plan facilities balances (including amounts classified as liabilities associated with assets held for sale) are correlated with the amount of vehicle inventory and are
generally due at the time that a vehicle is sold. Estimated interest payments were calculated using the December 31, 2006 floor plan facilities balance, the weighted average
interest rate for the fourth quarter of 2006 of 6.81% and the assumption that floor plan facilities balances at December 31, 2006 would be relieved within sixty days in
connection with the sale of the associated vehicle inventory.

(4) Estimated interest payments calculated assuming contractual maturities, no principal payments on the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility before the contractual maturity
and the interest rate in effect at December 31, 2006 (7.32%) for the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility. Estimated interest payments do include net interest expense from
our interest rate swaps. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of Operations—Interest Expense, Other,
Net”, and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk—Interest Rate Risk”, for discussion regarding our interest rate swaps.

(5) Amount represents estimated purchase price of tangible and intangible assets net of floor plan facilities balances.
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We believe our best source of liquidity for future growth remains cash flows generated from operations combined with our availability of borrowings under our floor
plan facilities (or any replacements thereof), our 2006 Revolving Credit Facility and our ability to raise funds in the public capital markets. Though uncertainties in the
economic environment as well as uncertainties associated with geopolitical conflicts may affect our ability to generate cash from operations, we expect to generate more than
sufficient cash flow to fund our debt service and working capital requirements and any seasonal operating requirements, including our currently anticipated internal growth for
our existing businesses, for the foreseeable future. Once these needs are met, we may use remaining cash flow to support our acquisition strategy or repurchase shares of our
Class A common stock or publicly traded debt securities, as market conditions warrant.
 

Seasonality
 

Our operations are subject to seasonal variations. The first and fourth quarters generally contribute less revenue and operating profits than the second and third quarters.
Weather conditions, the timing of manufacturer incentive programs and model changeovers cause seasonality in, and may adversely affect our profitability and new vehicle
demand. Parts and service demand remains more stable throughout the year.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

Guarantees and Indemnifications
 

In connection with the operation and disposition of dealership franchises, we have entered into various guarantees and indemnifications. We expect the aggregate amount
of the obligations we guarantee to increase as we dispose of additional franchises. See Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion regarding these
guarantees and indemnifications. Past performance under these guarantees and indemnifications and their estimated fair value has been immaterial to our liquidity and capital
resources. Although we seek to mitigate our exposure in connection with these matters, these guarantees and indemnifications, including environmental exposures and the
financial performance of lease assignees and sublessees, cannot be predicted with certainty. An unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity and capital resources.
 

5.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
 

The 2002 Convertibles are convertible into shares of our Class A common stock, at the option of the holder, based on certain conditions. See Note 6 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for a discussion regarding these conversion conditions which are primarily linked to the per share price of our Class A common stock and the relationship
between the trading values of our Class A Common Stock and the 2002 Convertibles. This type of financing arrangement was selected by us in order to achieve a more
favorable interest rate (as opposed to other forms of available financing). The 2002 Convertibles are material to our liquidity and capital resources.
 

4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes, Hedge and Warrants
 

The 2005 Convertibles are convertible at the option of the holder into cash and shares of our Class A common stock, based on certain conditions. See Note 6 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion regarding these conversion conditions which are primarily linked to the relationship between the trading values of our
Class A common stock and the 2005 Convertibles. Since both the holders of the 2005 Convertibles and we can redeem these notes on or after October 31, 2010, we expect that
either a conversion or a redemption of these notes will occur in 2010. This type of financing arrangement was selected by us in order to achieve a more favorable interest rate (as
opposed to other forms of available financing). The 2005 Convertibles are material to our liquidity and capital resources.
 

In connection with the issuance of the 2005 Convertibles we entered into convertible hedge and warrant transactions. The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions
are designed to increase the effective
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conversion price per share of our Class A common stock from $24.14 to $33.00 and, therefore, mitigate the potential dilution upon conversion of the 2005 Convertibles at the
time of conversion. The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions have been recorded at cost within stockholders’ equity on our Consolidated Financial Statements in
accordance with EITF No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock” and EITF No. 01-6, “The
Meaning of “Indexed to a Company’s Own Stock“. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements, Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, for a discussion
regarding the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions.
 
 Item 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
 

Interest Rate Risk
 

Our variable rate floor plan facilities, revolving credit facility borrowings and other variable rate notes expose us to risks caused by fluctuations in the applicable interest
rates. The total outstanding balance of such variable instruments after considering the effect of our interest rate swaps (see below) was approximately $1,181.3 million at
December 31, 2006 and approximately $1,174.8 million at December 31, 2005. A change of 100 basis points in the underlying interest rate would have caused a change in
interest expense of approximately $14.5 million in 2006 and approximately $14.3 million in 2005. Of the total change in interest expense, approximately $10.9 million in 2006
and approximately $9.0 million in 2005 would have resulted from the floor plan facilities.
 

In addition to our variable rate debt, approximately 20% of our dealership facilities have monthly lease payments that fluctuate based on LIBOR interest rates. A change
in interest rates of 100 basis points would have had an estimated impact on rent expense of approximately $2.9 million in 2006.
 

In order to reduce our exposure to market risks from fluctuations in interest rates, we had an interest rate swap agreement (the “Fixed Swap”) to effectively convert a
portion of our LIBOR-based variable rate debt to a fixed rate. The Fixed Swap matured June 6, 2006 and had a notional principal of $100.0 million. Under the terms of the
Fixed Swap, we received interest payments on the notional amount at a rate equal to the one month LIBOR rate, adjusted monthly, and made interest payments at a fixed rate of
4.50%.
 

We have five separate interest rate swaps totaling $150.0 million (collectively, the “New Variable Swaps”) to effectively convert a portion of our fixed rate debt under
the 8.625% Notes to a LIBOR-based variable rate debt. Under the New Variable Swaps, we receive 8.625% on the respective notional amounts and pay interest payments on the
respective notional amounts at a rate equal to the six month LIBOR which is fixed on February 15 and August 15 of each year plus a spread ranging from 3.825% to 3.85% with
a weighted average spread of 3.83%. The New Variable Swaps expire on August 15, 2013.
 

Future maturities of variable and fixed rate debt, and related interest rate swaps are as follows:
 

   

2007

  

2008

  

2009

  

2010

  

2011

  

Thereafter

  

Total

  

Fair
Value

   (Amounts in thousands, except for interest rates)
Liabilities                         

Long-term Debt:                         
Fixed Rate   2,465  2,599  131,353  159,691  3,051  281,604  580,763  649,169

Average Stated Interest Rate   10.19% 10.19% 5.32% 4.33% 10.19% 8.70% 6.75%  
Variable Rate   242  243  —    20,086  —    —    20,571  20,571

Average Stated Interest Rate   8.00% 8.00%    7.32%       4.97%  

Interest Rate Derivatives                         
Interest Rate Swaps:                         

Fixed to Variable   —    —    —    —    —    150,000  150,000  4,710
Average pay rate

                 

3.83%
+6 month

LIBOR

 
 
  

3.83%
+ 6 month

LIBOR

 
 
   

Receive rate                  8.625% 8.625%  
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Foreign Currency Risk
 

In common with other automotive retailers, we purchase certain of our new vehicle and parts inventories from foreign manufacturers. Although we purchase our
inventories in U.S. Dollars, our business is subject to foreign exchange rate risk which may influence automobile manufacturers’ ability to provide their products at competitive
prices in the United States. To the extent that we cannot recapture this volatility in prices charged to customers or if this volatility negatively impacts consumer demand for our
products, this volatility could adversely affect our future operating results.
 
 Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
 

See “Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes” that appears on page F-1 herein.
 
 Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
 

None.
 
 Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
 
Controls and Procedures
 

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective. During our last fiscal quarter, there were no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide a reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation
of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.
 

During 2006, Sonic acquired six automotive dealerships which were not included in our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.
As a result, management’s conclusion regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting does not extend to these dealerships. These dealerships
represented approximately 2.2% of Sonic’s 2006 revenues from continuing operations and 1.3% of Sonic’s 2006 revenues related to discontinued operations. See Note 2 to our
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on these 2006 acquisitions.
 

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been attested to by Deloitte and Touche
LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as stated in their report which is
included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Sonic Automotive, Inc.
Charlotte, North Carolina
 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Sonic Automotive, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described in the Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, management excluded from their assessment the internal control over financial reporting at RRR, LLC, RRR II, LLC, Fred Oakley Motors, Lynch Motors, Inc.,
Piercey South, Inc. and Freemont Motorcars (the “2006 Acquisitions”) which were acquired on January 9, 2006, January 9, 2006, March 6, 2006, April 24, 2006, July 11, 2006
and December 21, 2006, respectively, and whose financial statements constitute 0.2 percent and 3.9 percent of net and total assets, respectively, 2.2 percent of revenues, and 1.3
percent of net income of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal
control over financial reporting at the 2006 Acquisitions. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial
officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls,
material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on the criteria
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established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the Company and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, and application of the
provisions of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in
Current Year Financial Statements.
 
/s/    DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 16, 2007
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 Item 9B. Other Information.
 

None.
 

 PART III
 
 Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
 

Information required by this item is furnished by incorporation by reference to the information under the captions entitled “Election of Directors”, “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Additional Corporate Governance and Other Information—Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics and Committee Charters” in the Proxy Statement (to be filed hereafter) for our Annual Meeting of the Stockholders to be held on April 19, 2007 (the “Proxy
Statement”). The information required by this item with respect to our executive officers appears in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Executive
Officers of the Registrant.”
 
 Item 11. Executive Compensation.
 

The information required by this item is furnished by incorporation by reference to the information under the captions entitled “Executive Compensation” and “Director
Compensation for 2006” in the Proxy Statement.
 
 Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

The information required by this item is furnished by incorporation by reference to the information under the captions “General—Ownership of Voting Stock” and
“Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Proxy Statement.
 
 Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
 

The information required by this item is furnished by incorporation by reference to all information under the captions “Certain Transactions” and “Election of Directors
—Board and Committee Member Independence” in the Proxy Statement.
 
 Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
 

The information required by this item is furnished by incorporation by reference to the information under the caption “Selection of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement.
 

 PART IV
 
 Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
 

The exhibits and other documents filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those exhibits that are incorporated by reference herein, are:
 

(a) (1) Financial Statements: Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006. Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.
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(2) Financial Statement Schedules: No financial statement schedules are required to be filed (no respective financial statement captions) as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

 
(3) Exhibits: Exhibits required in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed below. Certain of such exhibits, indicated by an asterisk, are hereby
incorporated by reference to other documents on file with the SEC with which they are physically filed, to be a part hereof as of their respective dates.

 
EXHIBIT NO.

  

DESCRIPTION

1.1*

  

Purchase Agreement dated November 18, 2005 among Sonic, Bank of America Securities LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc. and Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Sonic’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 23, 2005) (the “November 2005 Form 8-K”)).

3.1*
  

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sonic (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Sonic’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-33295) (the “Form S-1”)).

3.2*
  

Certificate of Amendment to Sonic’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation effective June 18, 1999 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.2 to Sonic’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (the “1999 Form 10-K”)).

3.3*
  

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Class A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998).

3.4*
  

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sonic (as amended February 9, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Sonic’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed February 13, 2006)).

4.1*   Specimen Certificate representing Class A Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form S-1)

4.2*
  

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 30, 1997 among Sonic, O. Bruton Smith, Bryan Scott Smith, William S. Egan and Sonic
Financial Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form S-1).

4.3*
  

Form of 5.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Note due 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Sonic’s Amended Current
Report on Form 8-K/A filed on May 6, 2002 (the “May 2002 Form 8-K/A”)).

4.4*
  

Supplemental Indenture by and among Sonic and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the May
2002 Form 8-K/A).

4.5*
  

Form of 8 5/8% Senior Subordinated Note due 2013, Series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Sonic’s Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (Reg. Nos. 333-109426 and 333-109426-1 through 109426-261) (the “2003 Exchange Offer Form S-4”)).

4.6*

  

Indenture dated as of August 12, 2003 among Sonic Automotive, Inc., as issuer, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein, as guarantors, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), relating to the 8 5/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the 2003 Exchange Offer Form S-4).

4.7*
  

Form of 4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Note due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the November 2005 Form 8-
K).

4.8*
  

Subordinated Indenture, dated as of May 7, 2002, among Sonic, the guarantors named there in and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Sonic’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2005).
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EXHIBIT NO.

 

DESCRIPTION

  4.9*
 

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 23, 2005, between Sonic and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 4.1 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.1*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004). (1)

10.2*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, Amended and Restated as of April 22, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003). (1)

10.3*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Amended and Restated as of May 8, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
the 2002 Annual Report). (1)

10.4*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Amended and Restated as of October 23, 2002 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.16 to the 2002 Annual Report). (1)

10.5*  
 

FirstAmerica Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, Amended and Restated as of December 10, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to Sonic’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-95791)). (1)

  10.6*
 

Employment Agreement dated November 4, 2004 between Sonic and Jeffrey C. Rachor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the 2004
Annual Report). (1)

  10.7*
 

Employment Agreement dated December 27, 2004 between Sonic and Mark J. Iuppenlatz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the
2004 Annual Report). (1)

  10.8*
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2005 Formula Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 27, 2005). (1)

  10.9*
 

Purchased call option confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.10*
 

Purchased call option confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.11*  Warrant confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.12*
 

Warrant confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.13*
 

Employment Agreement dated January 30, 2006 between Sonic and Mr. David P. Cosper (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Sonic’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 (the “March 2006 Form 10-Q”)). (1)
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EXHIBIT NO.

  

DESCRIPTION

10.14*

  

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006 (the “Credit Agreement”), among Sonic; the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein; Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Lender and L/C Issuer; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent and Lender, Toyota
Motor Credit Corporation, as Documentation Agent and Lender; and BMW Financial Services NA, LLC, Carolina First Bank, Comerica Bank,
Fifth Third Bank, General Electric Capital Corporation, KeyBank National Association, Nissan Motor Acceptance Corporation, Sovereign
Bank, SunTrust Bank, Wachovia Bank, National Association and World Omni Financial Corp., each as a Lender and, collectively, the
“Lenders” (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.15*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Bank of America, N.A.,
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.16*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.17*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Toyota Motor Credit
Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.18*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of BMW Financial Services
NA, LLC, pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.19*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Carolina First Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.20*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Comerica Bank pursuant
to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.21*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Fifth Third Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.22*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of General Electric Capital
Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.23*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of KeyBank National
Association pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.24*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Nissan Motor
Acceptance Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.25*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Sovereign Bank pursuant
to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.26*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of SunTrust Bank pursuant
to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).
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EXHIBIT NO.

  

DESCRIPTION

10.27*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Wachovia Bank, National
Association, pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.28*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of World Omni Financial
Corp. pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.29*
  

Security Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.30*
  

Company Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, as Guarantor, to Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent for
the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.31*

  

Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein, as Guarantors, to Bank of America,
N.A, as Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the March 2006 Form
10-Q).

10.32*
  

Securities Pledge Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.33   Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. (1)

10.34   Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (1)

21.1    Subsidiaries of Sonic.

23.1    Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

31.1    Certification of Mr. David P. Cosper pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2    
Certification of Mr. O. Bruton Smith pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1    Certification of Mr. David P. Cosper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2    Certification of Mr. O. Bruton Smith pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed Previously
 
(1) Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 

58



Table of Contents

 SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

BY
 

/s/    DAVID P. COSPER        

  Mr. David P. Cosper
  Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 16, 2007
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature

  

Title

  

Date

/s/    O. BRUTON SMITH        

O. Bruton Smith   

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (principal
executive officer) and Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    B. SCOTT SMITH        

B. Scott Smith   

President, Chief Strategic Officer and Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    DAVID P. COSPER        

David P. Cosper   

Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer)

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    WILLIAM R. BROOKS        

William R. Brooks   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    WILLIAM P. BENTON        

William P. Benton   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    WILLIAM I. BELK        

William I. Belk   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    H. ROBERT HELLER        

H. Robert Heller   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    JEFFREY C. RACHOR        

Jeffrey C. Rachor   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    ROBERT L. REWEY        

Robert L. Rewey   

Director

  

March
16, 2007

/s/    VICTOR H. DOOLAN        

Victor H. Doolan   

Director

  

March
16, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Sonic Automotive, Inc.
Charlotte, North Carolina
 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sonic Automotive, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the
related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2005 and 2006,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
 

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for compensation expense for share-based awards to
conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. Also, as discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company
applied the provisions of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.
 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 16, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
 
/s/    DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
 
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 16, 2007
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SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

December 31, 2005 and 2006
(Dollars in thousands)

 

   

December 31,

 

   

2005

  

2006

 
ASSETS          

Current Assets:          
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 7,566  $ 12,696 
Receivables, net    396,225   385,849 
Inventories    1,016,457   991,984 
Assets held for sale    73,837   160,571 
Construction in progress expected to be sold in sale-leaseback transactions    95,131   26,198 
Other current assets    27,484   35,834 

    
Total current assets    1,616,700   1,613,132 

Property and Equipment, net    148,267   220,551 
Goodwill, net    1,122,538   1,155,428 
Other Intangible Assets, net    88,696   94,136 
Other Assets    49,300   41,517 
    

Total Assets   $ 3,025,501  $ 3,124,764 
    

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY          

Current Liabilities:          
Notes payable—floor plan—trade   $ 579,022  $ 377,943 
Notes payable—floor plan—non-trade    410,296   686,515 
Trade accounts payable    91,101   68,016 
Accrued interest    17,378   19,336 
Other accrued liabilities    167,060   180,884 
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale—trade    45,953   54,229 
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale—non-trade    6,937   42,063 
Current maturities of long-term debt    2,747   2,707 

    
Total current liabilities    1,320,494   1,431,693 

Long-Term Debt    712,311   598,627 
Other Long-Term Liabilities    29,479   39,570 
Deferred Income Taxes    132,419   151,034 
Commitments and Contingencies          
Stockholders’ Equity:          

Class A convertible preferred stock, none issued    —     —   
Class A common stock, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 40,561,149 shares issued and 29,945,785 shares outstanding

at December 31, 2005; 41,890,540 shares issued and 30,691,576 shares outstanding at December 31, 2006    403   416 
Class B common stock; $.01 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized; 12,029,375 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,

2005 and December 31, 2006    121   121 
Paid-in capital    433,654   464,011 
Retained earnings    542,374   598,293 
Accumulated other comprehensive income    20   —   
Deferred compensation related to restricted stock    (1,829)  —   
Treasury stock, at cost (10,615,364 Class A shares held at December 31, 2005 and 11,198,964 Class A shares held at December 31,

2006)    (143,945)  (159,001)
    

Total stockholders’ equity    830,798   903,840 
    

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity   $ 3,025,501  $ 3,124,764 
    
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
 

Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per share amounts)

 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
Revenues:              

New vehicles   $ 3,972,790  $ 4,483,920  $ 4,897,284 
Used vehicles    1,013,817   1,126,651   1,275,020 
Wholesale vehicles    438,848   498,589   493,512 

     
Total vehicles    5,425,455   6,109,160   6,665,816 

Parts, service and collision repair    879,176   988,432   1,114,870 
Finance, insurance and other    165,419   181,128   191,388 

     
Total revenues    6,470,050   7,278,720   7,972,074 

Cost of sales    5,477,796   6,161,675   6,740,492 
     
Gross profit    992,254   1,117,045   1,231,582 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    772,042   850,450   939,825 
Depreciation and amortization    14,429   18,390   23,409 
     
Operating income    205,783   248,205   268,348 
Other income / (expense):              

Interest expense, floor plan    (22,286)  (35,493)  (59,609)
Interest expense, other, net    (41,456)  (45,368)  (42,785)
Other income / (expense), net    44   45   (597)

     
Total other expense    (63,698)  (80,816)  (102,991)

     
Income from continuing operations before taxes    142,085   167,389   165,357 
Provision for income taxes    53,940   62,545   66,791 
     
Income from continuing operations    88,145   104,844   98,566 
Discontinued operations:              

Loss from operations and the sale of discontinued franchises    (2,271)  (16,647)  (26,090)
Income tax benefit    197   3,664   8,641 

     
Loss from discontinued operations    (2,074)  (12,983)  (17,449)
     
Net income   $ 86,071  $ 91,861  $ 81,117 
     
Basic earnings (loss) per share:              

Earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.13  $ 2.51  $ 2.33 
Loss per share from discontinued operations    (0.05)  (0.31)  (0.41)

     
Earnings per share   $ 2.08  $ 2.20  $ 1.92 

     
Weighted average common shares outstanding    41,375   41,817   42,336 

     
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:              

Earnings per share from continuing operations   $ 2.04  $ 2.40  $ 2.22 
Loss per share from discontinued operations    (0.04)  (0.28)  (0.37)

     
Earnings per share   $ 2.00  $ 2.12  $ 1.85 

     
Weighted average common shares outstanding    45,217   45,533   46,265 

     
Dividends declared per common share   $ 0.44  $ 0.48  $ 0.48 
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006
(Dollars and shares in thousands)

 

  

Class A
Common

Stock

  

Class B
Common

Stock

 

Deferred
Compensation

Related
to Restricted

Stock

 

 Paid-In
Capital

 

 Retained
Earnings

 

 Treasury
Stock

 

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
(Loss)/Income

 

 
Total

Stockholders’
Equity

 

 Comprehensive
Income

   

Shares

  

Amount

  

Shares

 

Amount

       
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003  38,589  $ 384  12,029 $ 121 $ —    $416,892  $402,799  $(117,444) $ (4,419) $ 698,333     

Shares awarded under stock compensation plans  1,391   13  —    —    (3,570)  19,341   —     —     —     15,784   —   
Purchases of treasury stock  —     —    —    —    —         —     (20,917)  —     (20,917)  —   
Income tax benefit associated with stock compensation plans  —     —    —    —    —     5,270   —     —     —     5,270   —   
Fair value of interest rate swap agreements, net of tax expense of $2,040  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     —     3,191   3,191   3,191 
Restricted stock amortization               162                   162     
Net income  —     —    —    —    —     —     86,071   —     —     86,071   86,071 
Dividends ($0.44 per share)  —     —    —    —    —     —     (18,207)  —     —     (18,207)  —   

            
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004  39,980  $ 397  12,029 $ 121 $ (3,408) $441,503  $470,663  $(138,361) $ (1,228) $ 769,687  $ 89,262 

                                      
Shares awarded under stock compensation plans  631   7  —    —    (651)  9,873   —     —     —     9,229   —   
Stock-based compensation—stock options  —     —    —    —    —     114   —     —     —     114   —   
Purchases of treasury stock  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     (5,584)  —     (5,584)  —   
Income tax benefit associated with stock compensation plans  —     —    —    —    —     1,504   —     —     —     1,504   —   
Income tax benefit associated with convertible note hedge  —     —    —    —    —     175   —     —     —     175   —   
Fair value of interest rate swap agreements, net of tax expense of $798  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     —     1,248   1,248   1,248 
Restricted stock amortization  —     —    —    —    1,485       —     —     —     1,485   —   
Restricted stock forfeiture  (50)  (1) —    —    745   (1,055)  —     —     —     (311)  —   
Purchase of convertible note hedge and warrants, net  —     —    —    —    —     (18,460)  —     —     —     (18,460)  —   
Net income  —     —    —    —    —     —     91,861   —     —     91,861   91,861 
Dividends ($0.48 per share)  —     —    —    —    —     —     (20,150)  —     —     (20,150)  —   

            
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005  40,561  $ 403  12,029 $ 121 $ (1,829) $433,654  $542,374  $(143,945) $ 20  $ 830,798  $ 93,109 

                                      
Adoption of SAB 108  —     —    —    —    —     —     (4,607)  —     —     (4,607)  —   
Adoption of SFAS No. 123-R  —     —    —    —    1,829   (1,829)  —     —     —     —     —   
Shares awarded under stock compensation plans  1,329   13  —    —    —     19,226   —     —     —     19,239   —   
Purchases of treasury stock  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     (15,056)  —     (15,056)  —   
Income tax benefit associated with stock compensation plans  —     —    —    —    —     4,396   —     —     —     4,396   —   
Income tax benefit associated with convertible note hedge  —     —    —    —    —     1,762   —     —     —     1,762   —   
Fair value of interest rate swap agreements, net of tax benefit of $13  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     —     (20)  (20)  (20)
Stock-based compensation expense                   4,511               4,511     
Restricted stock amortization  —     —    —    —        2,291   —     —     —     2,291   —   
Restricted stock forfeiture  —     —    —    —    —     —     —     —     —     —     —   
Net income  —     —    —    —    —     —     81,117   —     —     81,117   81,117 
Dividends ($0.48 per share)  —     —    —    —    —     —     (20,591)  —     —     (20,591)  —   

            
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2006  41,890  $ 416  12,029 $ 121 $ —    $464,011  $598,293  $(159,001) $ —    $ 903,840  $ 81,097 

            
 

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

(Dollars in thousands)

   

Years Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:              

Net income   $ 86,071  $ 91,861  $ 81,117 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:              

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment    17,131   21,982   23,903 
Provision for bad debt expense    7,638   13,078   9,210 
Other amortization    281   309   715 
Debt issuance cost amortization    526   401   1,054 
Debt discount amortization, net of premium amortization    78   77   691 
Stock—based compensation expense    162   1,288   6,802 
Deferred income taxes    15,781   30,731   10,572 
Equity interest in earnings of investees    (807)  (819)  (915)
Impairment of franchise agreements    1,075   —     2,525 
Impairment of property and equipment    3,188   1,950   10,988 
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of franchises and property and equipment    (4,577)  6   (3,582)
Loss on exit of leased dealerships    —     649   9,598 
Changes in assets and liabilities that relate to operations:              

Receivables    (58,044)  (49,770)  1,472 
Inventories    28,055   36,123   (20,049)
Other assets    10   (17,589)  15,079 
Notes payable—floor plan—trade    70,049   (40,535)  (192,803)
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities    92,210   (5,661)  (18,241)

     
Total adjustments    172,756   (7,780)  (142,981)

     
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities    258,827   84,081   (61,864)

     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:              

Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired    (268,666)  (138,760)  (110,371)
Purchases of property and equipment    (105,603)  (81,638)  (99,848)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment    68,136   26,435   40,698 
Proceeds from sale of franchises    54,957   61,572   50,961 
Distributions from equity investees    —     500   600 

     
Net cash used in investing activities    (251,176)  (131,891)  (117,960)

     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:              

Net borrowings/(repayments) on notes payable floor plan—non-trade    (3,214)  32,060   311,344 
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities    742,610   671,776   849,758 
Repayments on revolving credit facilities    (799,537)  (778,663)  (961,418)
Proceeds from long-term debt    164   156,159   —   
Debt issuance costs    —     (640)  (2,776)
Purchase of convertible note hedge and warrants, net    —     (18,460)  —   
Payments on long-term debt    (2,537)  (2,094)  (1,889)
Purchases of treasury stock    (20,917)  (5,584)  (15,056)
Income tax benefit associated with stock compensation plans    5,270   1,504   4,396 
Income tax benefit associated with convertible hedge    —     175   1,762 
Issuance of shares under stock compensation plans    15,784   9,229   19,239 
Dividends paid    (17,365)  (20,077)  (20,406)

     
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities    (79,742)  45,385   184,954 

     
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    (72,091)  (2,425)  5,130 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR    82,082   9,991   7,566 

     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR   $ 9,991  $ 7,566  $ 12,696 

     
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES:              

Change in accrual for purchases of property and equipment   $ (1,226) $ 514  $ (598)
Adoption of SAB 108   $ —    $ —    $ (4,607)

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES:              
Restricted stock issuance   $ 3,570  $ 651  $ 4,118 
Restricted stock forfeiture   $ —    $ (745) $ —   
Long-term debt assumed in purchase of business, including premium of $7,254   $ 33,824  $ —    $ —   
Change in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments (net of tax expense/(benefit) of $2,040, $798 and $(13) in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively)   $ 3,191  $ 1,248  $ (20)

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:              
Cash paid during the year for:              

Interest, net of amount capitalized   $ 74,398  $ 91,853  $ 114,538 
Income taxes   $ 14,731  $ 30,434  $ 46,329 

 
See notes to consolidated financial statements
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 SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(All tables in thousands except per share amounts)

 
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

Organization and Business—Sonic Automotive, Inc. (“Sonic” or the “Company”) is one of the largest automotive retailers in the United States (as measured by total
revenue), operating 171 dealership franchises and 37 collision repair centers throughout the United States as of December 31, 2006. Sonic sells new and used cars and light
trucks, sells replacement parts, provides vehicle maintenance, warranty, paint and repair services, and arranges related financing and insurance for its automotive customers. As
of December 31, 2006, Sonic sold a total of 36 foreign and domestic brands of new vehicles.
 

Principles of Consolidation—All of Sonic’s dealership and non-dealership subsidiaries are wholly owned and consolidated in the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements except for the one fifty-percent owned dealership that is accounted for under the equity method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 18,
“The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock”. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

Reclassifications—In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”, individual franchises sold, terminated or classified as held for sale are required to be reported as discontinued operations. During 2006, Sonic completed the disposal of
12 automobile franchises, and had approved, but not yet completed, the disposition of 30 additional franchises. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, the results
of operations of these franchises for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Many of the
provisions of SFAS No. 144 involve judgment in determining whether a franchise will be reported as continuing or discontinued operations. Such judgments include whether a
franchise will be sold or terminated, the period required to complete the disposition and the likelihood of changes to a plan for sale. If in future periods Sonic determines that a
franchise should be either reclassified from continuing operations to discontinued operations or from discontinued operations to continuing operations, previously reported
Consolidated Statements of Income are reclassified in order to reflect the current classification.
 

Sonic has corrected its presentation within the consolidated statements of cash flows related to borrowings and repayments under its revolving credit facilities. Such
borrowings and repayments which were formally presented net, are now presented gross. This correction had no effect on total cash flows provided from financing activities.
 

In addition, in order to maintain consistency and comparability between periods, certain other amounts in Sonic’s consolidated financial statements have been
reclassified from previously reported balances to conform to the current year presentation.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”), which provides interpretive guidance on the
consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. In years prior to 2006, Sonic used
the “rollover” method as described in SAB 108 in evaluating the effect of misstatements in its financial statements. Based on utilizing the “rollover” method in prior years,
Sonic had determined that certain misstatements were not material to its overall financial statement presentation. These misstatements relate to the recorded amount of accruals
pertaining to bonuses and vacation obligations. A portion of the misstatements resulted from Sonic’s policy of expensing bonuses in the period the items were paid rather than in
the period they became payable and thus understated accrued liabilities, and overstated retained earnings. This accounted for approximately $0.7 million of the after-tax charge
to beginning retained earnings as described below. In addition, prior to 2004, Sonic had accrued for the vested
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vacation earned by its associates in the prior period but had did not accrue for the vacation earned in the current period which had not yet vested. The result was an
understatement of accrued liabilities and an overstatement of retained earnings. This accounted for $3.9 million of the after-tax charge to retained earnings described below.
Each of the misstatements originated in years prior to 2004. Sonic evaluated the effect of these misstatements under both the “rollover method” and the “iron curtain” method in
2006 as prescribed by SAB 108. As a result of this evaluation, Sonic determined that although these misstatements continued to be immaterial under the “rollover” method, the
misstatements were material to the financial statements when measured under the “iron curtain” method. As allowed in the initial year of adoption, Sonic has corrected the
misstatements in 2006 with a charge to 2006 beginning retained earnings of approximately $4.6 million, net of associated taxes of $2.8 million, with offsets increasing other
accrued liabilities by $7.4 million.
 

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes”. FIN
No. 48 prescribes financial statement recognition and measurement criteria for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Sonic is currently evaluating the
provisions of FIN No. 48, which will be effective for Sonic in the first quarter of 2007, and has not determined the impact on Sonic’s consolidated operating results, financial
position and cash flows.
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measures” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair
value and enhances disclosures about fair value measures required under other accounting pronouncements, but does not change existing guidance as to whether or not an
instrument is carried at fair value. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, the year beginning January 1, 2008 for Sonic. Sonic is
currently reviewing the provisions of SFAS No. 157 to determine the impact on its consolidated operating results, financial position and cash flows.
 

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities”. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates and report unrealized gains and losses on items for which
the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. Sonic is
currently reviewing the provisions of SFAS No. 159 to determine the impact on its consolidated operating results, financial position and cash flows.
 

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires Sonic’s
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates particularly
related to allowance for credit loss, realization of inventory, intangible asset and deferred tax asset values, reserves for tax contingencies, legal matters, reserves for future
chargebacks, results reported as continuing and discontinued operations, insurance reserves and certain accrued expenses.
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Sonic classifies cash and all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase, including short-term
time deposits and government agency and corporate obligations, as cash and cash equivalents.
 

Revenue Recognition—Sonic records revenue when vehicles are delivered to customers, when vehicle service work is performed and when parts are delivered.
 

Sonic arranges financing for customers through various financial institutions and receives a commission from the financial institution either in a flat fee amount or in an
amount equal to the difference between the
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interest rates charged to customers over the predetermined interest rates set by the financial institution. Sonic also receives commissions from the sale of various insurance
contracts to customers. Sonic may be assessed a chargeback fee in the event of early cancellation of a loan or insurance contract by the customer. Finance and insurance
commission revenue is recorded net of estimated chargebacks at the time the related contract is placed with the financial institution.
 

Sonic also receives commissions from the sale of non-recourse third party extended service contracts to customers. Under these contracts, the applicable manufacturer or
third party warranty company is directly liable for all warranties provided within the contract. Commission revenue from the sale of these third party extended service contracts
is recorded net of estimated chargebacks at the time of sale. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the amounts recorded as allowances for commission chargeback reserves were
$12.9 million and $15.1 million, respectively. The majority of these amounts recorded as allowances for commission chargeback reserves were classified in the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements as other accrued liabilities and the remaining amount was classified as other long-term liabilities.
 

Floor Plan Assistance—Sonic receives floor plan assistance payments from certain manufacturers. This assistance reduces the carrying value of Sonic’s new vehicle
inventory and is recognized as a reduction of cost of sales at the time the vehicle is sold. Amounts included in cost of sales were $31.8 million, $33.5 million and $36.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. There was an additional $8.8 million, $7.4 million and $5.4 million in floor plan assistance related to
discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
 

Contracts in Transit—Contracts in transit represent customer finance contracts evidencing loan agreements or lease agreements between Sonic, as creditor, and the
customer, as borrower, to acquire or lease a vehicle in situations where a third-party finance source has given Sonic initial, non-binding approval to assume Sonic’s position as
creditor. Funding and final approval from the finance source is provided upon the finance source’s review of the loan or lease agreement and related documentation executed by
the customer at the dealership. These finance contracts are typically funded within ten days of the initial approval of the finance transaction given by the third-party finance
source. The finance source is not contractually obligated to make the loan or lease to the customer until it gives its final approval and funds the transaction, and until such final
approval is given, the contracts in transit represent amounts due from the customer to Sonic. Contracts in transit are included in receivables on the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets and totaled $161.0 million at December 31, 2005 and $171.2 million at December 31, 2006.
 

Accounts Receivable—In addition to contracts in transit, Sonic’s accounts receivable consist of amounts due from the manufacturers for repair services performed on
vehicles with a remaining factory warranty and amounts due from third parties from the sale of parts. Sonic believes that there is a minimal risk of uncollectability on warranty
receivables. Sonic evaluates parts and other receivables for collectability based on the age of the receivable, the credit history of the customer and past collection experience.
The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is not significant.
 

Inventories—Inventories of new, recorded net of manufacturer credits, and used vehicles, including demonstrators, are stated at the lower of specific cost or market.
Inventories of parts and accessories are accounted for using the “first-in, first-out” (“FIFO”) method of inventory accounting and are stated at the lower of FIFO cost or market.
Other inventories are primarily service loaner vehicles and, to a lesser extent, vehicle chassis, other supplies and capitalized customer work-in-progress (open customer vehicle
repair orders). Other inventories are stated at the lower of specific cost (depreciated cost for service loaner vehicles) or market.
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Sonic assesses the valuation of all of its vehicle and parts inventories and maintains a reserve where the cost basis exceeds the fair market value. In making this
assessment for new vehicles, Sonic primarily considers the age of the vehicles along with the timing of annual and model changeovers. For used vehicles, Sonic considers recent
market data and trends such as loss histories along with the current age of the inventory. Parts inventories are primarily assessed considering excess quantity and continued
usefulness of the part. The risk with parts inventories is minimized by the fact that excess or obsolete parts can generally be returned to the manufacturer.
 

Property and Equipment—Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Sonic amortizes leasehold improvements over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease life. This lease life includes renewal options if a
renewal has been determined to be reasonably assured. The range of estimated useful lives is as follows:
 

Leasehold and land improvements   10-30 years
Buildings   10-30 years
Parts and service equipment   7-10 years
Office equipment and fixtures   3-10 years
Company vehicles   3-5 years

 
Sonic reviews the carrying value of property and equipment and other long-term assets (other than goodwill and franchise assets) for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If such an indication is present, Sonic compares the carrying amount of the asset to the
estimated undiscounted cash flows related to those assets. Sonic concludes that an asset is impaired if the sum of such expected future cash flows is less than the carrying
amount of the related asset. If Sonic determines an asset is impaired, the impairment loss would be the amount by which the carrying amount of the related asset exceeds its fair
value. The fair value of the asset would be determined based on the quoted market prices, if available. If quoted market prices are not available, Sonic determines fair value by
using a discounted cash flow model.
 

Impairment expense related to property and equipment of $3.6 million was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses during the year ended December 31,
2006. This impairment expense was related to decisions to abandon several construction projects and current market information which indicated that the fair value of land
parcels held for sale was less than the recorded value. Additional property and equipment impairment charges of $7.4 million were recorded during 2006 in discontinued
operations. This impairment expense was recorded based on the estimated fair value of the property and equipment to be sold in connection with the disposal of the associated
franchises and recorded balances.
 

In 2005, property and equipment impairment charges totaling $1.2 million were recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses relating to the abandonment of
construction projects and the abandonment and disposal of dealership equipment. These construction project impairment charges were recorded in connection with the decision
to abandon the construction projects. The dealership equipment impairment charges were recorded in connection with the decision to downsize certain wholesale parts
operations. Additional property and equipment impairment charges of $1.4 million were recorded during 2005 in discontinued operations relating to the abandonment of
construction projects and the write-down of leasehold improvements for franchises classified as assets held for sale. The construction projects were abandoned in connection
with the decision to sell the related franchises. The impairment charge for leasehold improvements relates to the difference between the discounted cash flows of sublease
receipts, net of amounts owed under the lease, for property where the leasehold improvements reside and the carrying value of the leasehold improvements. An impairment
charge for the
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leasehold improvements was recorded when it was determined that Sonic would not recover the carrying value of the leasehold improvements when considering the lease costs
net of sublease receipts.
 

In 2004, property and equipment impairment charges totaling $0.8 million were recorded in continuing operations (selling, general and administrative expenses) relating
to the abandonment of construction projects and the abandonment and disposal of dealership equipment. These construction project impairment charges were recorded in
connection with the decision to abandon the construction projects. The dealership equipment impairment charges were recorded in connection with the decision to downsize
certain wholesale parts operations. Additional property and equipment impairment charges of $2.4 million were recorded during 2004 in discontinued operations relating to the
abandonment of construction projects and the write-down of leasehold improvements for franchises classified as assets held for sale. The construction projects were abandoned
in connection with the decision to sell the related franchises. The impairment charge for leasehold improvements relates to the difference between the discounted cash flows of
sublease receipts for property where the leasehold improvements reside and the carrying value of the leasehold improvements. An impairment charge for the leasehold
improvements was recorded when it was determined that Sonic would not recover the carrying value of the leasehold improvements when considering the lease costs net of
sublease receipts.
 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—Sonic utilizes derivative financial instruments for the purpose of hedging the risks of certain identifiable and
anticipated transactions and the fair value of certain obligations classified as long-term debt on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. In general, the types of risks
being hedged are those relating to the variability of cash flows, the delivery of Sonic’s Class A common stock in connection with the conversion of convertible debt and long-
term debt fair values caused by fluctuations in interest rates. Sonic documents its risk management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of and during the term of
each hedge. The only derivatives currently being used are interest rate swaps, used for the purposes of hedging cash flows of variable rate debt and the fair value of fixed rate
long-term debt, and options to buy and sell Sonic’s Class A common stock, used for the purpose of hedging the amount of Sonic’s Class A common stock required to be issued
to holders of Sonic’s 4.25% convertible senior subordinated notes (the “2005 Convertibles”) upon conversion.
 

Sonic had utilized two separate interest rate swap agreements (the “Fixed Swaps”) to effectively convert a portion of the LIBOR-based variable rate debt to a fixed rate.
The first swap agreement matured October 31, 2004 and had a notional principal amount of $100.0 million. The second swap agreement matured June 6, 2006 and had a
notional principal of $100.0 million. Under the terms of the first swap agreement, Sonic received interest payments on the notional amount at a rate equal to the one month
LIBOR rate, adjusted monthly, and made interest payments at a fixed rate of 3.88%. Under the terms of the second swap agreement, Sonic received interest payments on the
notional amount at a rate equal to the one month LIBOR rate, adjusted monthly, and made interest payments at a fixed rate of 4.50%. Incremental interest expense incurred (the
difference between interest received and interest paid) as a result of the Fixed Swaps was $5.4 million, $1.2 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively, and a benefit of $0.1 million
in 2006, and has been included in interest expense, other, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The Fixed Swaps have been designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges and, as a result, changes in the fair value of the Fixed Swaps have been recorded in other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of related income taxes, in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.
 

In 2003, Sonic entered into five separate interest rate swaps totaling $150.0 million (collectively the “Old Variable Swaps”) to effectively convert a portion of the
Company’s fixed rate debt to a LIBOR-based variable rate debt. Under the Old Variable Swaps’ agreements, Sonic received 8.625% on the notional amounts, paid interest
payments on the notional amounts at a rate equal to the six month LIBOR in arrears (as determined on February 15 and August 15 of each year) plus a spread ranging from
3.50% to 3.84% with a weighted average
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spread of 3.64%, through the expiration of August 15, 2013 and were designated and qualified as fair value hedges. In the second quarter of 2005, Sonic canceled all of the Old
Variable Swaps. The Old Variable Swaps had a collective mark-to-market of a $0.4 million loss at cancellation. In connection with this cancellation, Sonic entered into five
separate new interest rate swaps with identical terms to the Old Variable Swaps except that Sonic pays a variable rate equal to the fixed six month LIBOR rate which will be
fixed on February 15 and August 15 of each year plus a spread ranging from 3.825% to 3.85% (with a weighted average spread of 3.83%) (collectively, the “New Variable
Swaps”). The New Variable Swaps have been designated and qualify as fair value hedges and, as a result, the fair value of the New Variable Swaps of $3.7 million has been
recorded against the associated fixed rate long-term debt with an equal offsetting amount of $3.7 million recorded as a derivative liability within other long-term liabilities. The
benefit realized (the difference between interest paid and interest received) as a result of the Old and New Swaps was $4.2 million, $1.5 million in 2004 and 2005, respectively,
and expense of $0.4 million in 2006, and has been included in interest expense, other, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
 

In connection with the issuance of Sonic’s 4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2015 in 2005 (the “2005 Convertibles”), Sonic purchased five year call
options on Sonic’s Class A common stock (collectively, the “Purchased Options”) from the initial purchasers of the 2005 Convertibles. Under the terms of the Purchased
Options, which become exercisable upon conversion of the 2005 Convertibles, Sonic has the right to purchase a total of approximately 6.6 million shares of Sonic’s Class A
common stock from the counterparties at a purchase price of $24.14 per share and are net share settleable upon conversion of the 2005 Convertibles. The total cost of the
Purchased Options was $27.5 million, which was recorded in stockholders’ equity on the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with EITF No.
00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock” and EITF No. 01-6, “The Meaning of “Indexed to a
Company’s Own Stock”. Sonic anticipates that the cost of the Purchased Options will be deductible as original issue discount for income tax purposes over the expected life of
the 2005 Convertibles (five years). The tax benefit of this original issue discount deduction will be recorded as a credit to stockholders’ equity as the deduction occurs.
 

The cost of the Purchased Options was partially offset by the sale of warrants to acquire shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock from Sonic with a term of five years
(collectively, the “Warrants”) to the same counterparties with whom Sonic entered into the Purchased Options. The Warrants are exercisable for a total of approximately
7.0 million shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock at an exercise price of $33.00 per share subject to adjustment (at the sole reasonable discretion of the counterparties which
shall be made in good faith and based on a commercially reasonable manner) for quarterly dividends in excess of $0.12 per quarter, liquidation, bankruptcy, delivery of shares
that are not registered with the SEC, or a change in control of Sonic and other conditions. The settlement method for the warrants is net share settlement or cash at the option of
Sonic; if Sonic chooses to deliver shares that are not registered with the SEC, the number of shares to be delivered will be determined by counterparties to the warrants in a
commercially reasonable manner. Subject to these adjustments, the maximum amount of shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock that could have been required to be issued
under the warrants was fifty million shares at December 31, 2006. The proceeds from the sale of the Warrants were $9.1 million, which was also recorded in stockholders’
equity on the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with EITF No. 00-19 and EITF No. 01-6. In accordance with EITF No. 00-19, the cost of
the Purchased Options and Warrants will not be marked-to-market.
 

The Purchased Options and the Warrants are subject to early expiration upon the occurrence of certain events that may or may not be within Sonic’s control. Should there
be an early termination of the Purchased Options and Warrants prior to the conversion of the 2005 Convertibles from an event outside of Sonic’s control, the amount of shares
potentially due to and due from Sonic under the Purchased Options and Warrants will be
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based soley on Sonic’s Class A common stock price, and the amount of time remaining on the Purchased Options and the Warrants as set forth and agreed to upon the inception
of the Purchased Options and Warrants and will be settled in shares of Sonic’s Class A Common Stock. The net effect of the Purchased Options and the Warrants was designed
to increase the conversion price per share of Sonic’s Class A common stock from $24.14 to $33.00 (a 66.75% premium to the closing price of Sonic’s Class A common stock on
the date that the 2005 Convertibles were priced to investors) and, therefore, mitigate the potential dilution of Sonic’s Class A Common Stock upon conversion of the 2005
Convertibles, if any.
 

No shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock were issued or received under the Purchased Options or Warrants in 2005 or 2006. Changes in the price of Sonic’s Class A
common stock will impact the share settlement of the 2005 Convertibles, the Purchased Options and the Warrants as follows (shares in thousands):
 

Stock Price at
Settlement

 

Shares Issued
Under the 2005

Convertibles

  

Shares Acquired
Under the Purchased

Options

  

Shares Issued
Under the Warrants

 

Net Shares
Issued

$24.00  —    —    —   —  
$25.00  227.0  (227.0) —   —  
$26.00  473.1  (473.1) —   —  
$27.00  701.0  (701.0) —   —  
$28.00  912.7  (912.7) —   —  
$29.00  1,109.7  (1,109.7) —   —  
$30.00  1,293.6  (1,293.6) —   —  
$31.00  1,465.7  (1,465.7) —   —  
$32.00  1,627.0  (1,627.0) —   —  
$33.00  1,778.5  (1,778.5) —   —  
$34.00  1,921.1  (1,921.1) 204.7 204.7
$35.00  2,055.5  (2,055.5) 397.7 397.7
$36.00  2,182.5  (2,182.5) 579.9 579.9
$37.00  2,302.6  (2,302.6) 752.3 752.3
$38.00  2,416.4  (2,416.4) 915.6 915.6
$39.00  2,524.4  (2,524.4) 1,070.5 1,070.5
$40.00  2,627.0  (2,627.0) 1,217.7 1,217.7

 
Goodwill—Goodwill is recognized to the extent that the purchase price of the acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired, including other

identifiable intangible assets.
 

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently when events or circumstances indicate that impairment might have occurred. Based on criteria
established by the applicable accounting pronouncements, Sonic allocates the carrying value of goodwill and tests it for impairment based on Sonic’s three geographic divisions.
The $1,167.8 million of goodwill on the balance sheet, including approximately $12.3 million classified in assets held for sale, at December 31, 2006 was allocated to the
following geographic divisions (dollars in millions):
 

Eastern Division   $ 429.8
Central Division   $ 356.4
Western Division   $ 381.6

 
In evaluating goodwill for impairment, if the fair value of a division is less than the carrying value of that division, Sonic is then required to proceed to the second step of

the impairment test. The second step involves
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allocating the calculated fair value to all of the assets of the respective division as if the calculated fair value was the purchase price of the business combination. This allocation
would include assigning value to any previously unrecognized identifiable assets (including franchise assets) which means the remaining fair value that would be allocated to
goodwill would be significantly reduced. See discussion regarding franchise agreements acquired prior to July 1, 2001 in “Other Intangible Assets” below. Sonic would then
compare the fair value of the goodwill resulting from this allocation process to the carrying value of the goodwill in the respective division with the difference representing the
amount of impairment.
 

Sonic uses several assumptions and various fair value approaches in evaluating our goodwill for impairment. These assumptions and approaches include various earnings
multiple approaches along with a discounted cash flow model utilizing estimated future earnings and Sonic’s weighted average cost of capital.
 

At December 31, 2006, Sonic was not required to conduct the second step of the impairment test described above, and Sonic recognized no impairment of the carrying
value of its goodwill on the balance sheet at December 31, 2006.
 

However, if in future periods Sonic determines that the fair value of one or more of its divisions is less than their carrying value, Sonic believes that application of the
second step of the impairment test would result in a substantial impairment charge to the goodwill allocated to such division(s) and the amount of such impairment charge would
likely be materially adverse to Sonic’s consolidated operating results and financial position.
 

Other Intangible Assets—The principal identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill acquired in an acquisition are rights under franchise agreements with
manufacturers. Sonic expects franchise agreements to continue for an indefinite period. When these agreements do not have indefinite terms, Sonic anticipates and has
experienced routine renewals without substantial cost and material modifications. As such, Sonic believes that its franchise agreements will contribute to cash flows for an
indefinite period, therefore the carrying amount of franchise rights is not amortized. Franchise agreements acquired after July 1, 2001 have been included in other intangible
assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Prior to July 1, 2001, franchise agreements were recorded and amortized as part of goodwill and remain as part of
goodwill on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 5 regarding impairment charges on franchise agreements. Other intangible assets acquired in acquisitions
include favorable lease agreements with definite lives which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. Sonic tests other intangible assets for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate possible impairment.
 

Insurance Reserves—Sonic has various self-insured and high deductible casualty and medical insurance programs which require the Company to make estimates in
determining the ultimate liability it may incur for claims arising under these programs. These insurance reserves are estimated by management using actuarial evaluations based
on historical claims experience, claims processing procedures, medical cost trends and, in certain cases, a discount factor. At December 31, 2006, Sonic had $22.6 million
reserved for such programs.
 

Lease Exit Accruals—The majority of Sonic’s dealership properties are leased under long-term operating lease arrangements. When situations arise when the leased
properties are no longer utilized in operations, Sonic records lease exit accruals. These situations could include the relocation of an existing facility or the sale of a franchise
whereby the buyer will not be subleasing the property for either the remaining term of the lease or for an amount equal to Sonic’s obligation under the lease. The lease exit
accruals represent the present value of the lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, for the remaining life of the operating leases and other accruals necessary to satisfy
the lease commitment to the landlord. At December 31, 2006, Sonic had $8.7 million accrued for lease exit costs.
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Income Taxes—Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and consist of taxes
currently due plus deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are provided at currently enacted tax rates for the tax effects of carryforward items and temporary differences between the tax
basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts.
 

As a matter of course, the Company is regularly audited by various taxing authorities and from time to time, these audits result in proposed assessments where the
ultimate resolution may result in the Company owing additional taxes. Sonic’s management believes that the Company’s tax positions comply with applicable tax law and that
the Company has adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable outcome related to these matters. Included in other accrued liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2006 are
$3.1 million and $3.4 million, respectively, in reserves that the Company has provided for these matters.
 

Sonic has $9.3 million in deferred tax assets related to state net operating loss carryforwards that will expire between 2014 and 2026. Management reviews these
carryforward positions, the time remaining until expiration and other opportunities to utilize these carryforwards in making an assessment as to whether it is more likely than not
that these carryforwards will be utilized. Sonic has recorded a valuation allowance of $0.1 million in 2006 based on its judgement that certain state carryforwards will not be
utilized. Sonic has not recorded a valuation allowance related to its remaining carryforwards because management believes it is more likely than not that taxable income for
these states will be sufficient to realize the benefits of the associated deferred tax assets. However, the results of future operations, regulatory framework of these taxing
authorities and other related matters cannot be predicted with certainty. Therefore, actual utilization of the losses which created these deferred tax assets which differs from the
assumptions used in the development of management’s judgment could result in a charge that will be material to the Company’s consolidated operating results, financial
position and cash flows.
 

Concentrations of Credit Risk—Financial instruments that potentially subject Sonic to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash on deposit with financial
institutions. At times, amounts invested with financial institutions may exceed FDIC insurance limits. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited
primarily to automobile manufacturers and financial institutions. The large number of customers comprising the trade receivables balances reduces credit risk arising from trade
receivables from commercial customers.
 

During 2006, Sonic sold notes receivable held by its wholly owned finance subsidiary, Cornerstone Acceptance Corporation (“Cornerstone”), to a third party for
approximately $26.8 million. There was no material gain or loss from the sale. As of December 31, 2006, Sonic had outstanding notes receivable held by Cornerstone, of $28.5
million, net of an allowance for credit losses of $4.9 million. Outstanding notes receivable at December 31, 2005 were $48.5 million, net of an allowance for credit losses of
$8.3 million. These notes receivable have average terms of approximately forty-three months and are secured by the related vehicles. Sonic’s assessment of allowance for credit
losses considers historical loss ratios, the performance of the current portfolio with respect to past due accounts and the average age of the current portfolio. These notes
receivable are recorded in receivables, net, and other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. All of the interest income from Cornerstone’s finance contracts
($7.2 million in 2004, $9.7 million in 2005 and $11.2 million in 2006) has been recorded as a reduction of selling, general and administrative expenses.
 

The counterparties to Sonic’s interest rate swaps, Purchased Options and Warrants contracts consist of three large financial institutions. Sonic could be exposed to loss in
the event of nonperformance by any of these counterparties. However, credit ratings and concentration of risk of these financial institutions are monitored by Sonic’s
management and present no significant credit risk to Sonic.
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Financial Instruments and Market Risks—As of December 31, 2005 and 2006 the fair values of Sonic’s financial instruments including receivables, notes receivable
from finance contracts, notes payable-floor plan, trade accounts payable, payables for acquisitions and long-term debt, excluding Sonic’s 8.625% senior subordinated notes,
5.25% convertible senior subordinated notes, 2005 Convertibles and certain notes payable to a finance company, approximate their carrying values due either to length of
maturity or existence of variable interest rates that approximate prevailing market rates.
 

The fair value and carrying value of Sonic’s fixed rate long-term debt was as follows:
 

   

December 31, 2005

  

December 31, 2006

   

Fair Value

  

Carrying
Value

  

Fair Value

  

Carrying
Value

   (dollars in thousands)
8.625% Senior Subordinated Notes (1)   $ 263,313  $ 272,278  $ 285,656  $ 272,530
5.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (1)   $ 126,848  $ 128,037  $ 126,197  $ 128,611
4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (1)   $ 172,752  $ 156,074  $ 209,883  $ 156,798
Notes Payable to a Finance Company (2)   $ 30,129  $ 30,197  $ 27,433  $ 27,904

(1) As determined by market quotations.
(2) As determined by discounted cash flows.
 

Sonic has variable rate notes payable—floor plan, revolving credit facilities and other variable rate notes that expose Sonic to risks caused by fluctuations in the
underlying interest rates. The total outstanding balance of such facilities before the effects of interest rate swaps was approximately $1,174.8 million at December 31, 2005 and
$1,181.3 million at December 31, 2006.
 

Advertising—Sonic expenses advertising costs in the period incurred, net of earned cooperative manufacturer credits that represent reimbursements for specific,
identifiable and incremental advertising costs. Advertising expense amounted to $53.5 million, $58.7 million and $64.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005
and 2006, respectively, and has been classified as selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
 

Sonic has cooperative advertising reimbursement agreements with approximately one-fourth of automobile manufacturers. In general, these cooperative programs
require Sonic to provide the manufacturer with support for qualified, actual advertising expenditures in order to receive reimbursement under these cooperative agreements. It is
uncertain whether or not Sonic would maintain the same level of advertising expenditures if these manufacturers discontinued their cooperative programs. Cooperative
manufacturer credits classified as an offset to advertising costs were $4.8 million, $11.8 million and $16.2 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
 

Segment Information—Sonic sells similar products and services that exhibit similar economic characteristics, uses similar processes in selling products and services,
and sells its products and services to similar classes of customers. As a result of this and the way Sonic manages its business, Sonic has aggregated its operating segments into a
single segment for purposes of reporting financial condition and results of operations.
 
2. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
 
Acquisitions
 

Sonic’s growth strategy is focused on metropolitan markets, predominantly in the Southeast, Southwest, Midwest and California. Where practicable, Sonic also seeks to
acquire stable franchises that Sonic believes have above average sales prospects.
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During 2006, Sonic acquired eight franchises located in Tysons Corner, VA, Irving. TX, Los Angeles, CA, Santa Monica, CA and Fremont, CA for an aggregate
purchase price of approximately $110.4 million in cash, net of cash acquired, funded by cash from operations and borrowings under the revolving credit facilities. The
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2006 includes preliminary allocations of the purchase price of these 2006 acquisitions to the assets and liabilities
acquired based on their estimated fair market values at the date of acquisition and are subject to final adjustment. As a result of these acquisitions, Sonic has recorded the
following:
 
 •  $85.1 million of net assets relating to dealership operations;
 
 •  $5.0 million of intangible assets representing rights acquired under franchise agreements; and
 
 •  $46.7 million of goodwill, all of which is expected to be tax deductible
 
 •  $10.7 million of intangible assets representing favorable leases with weighted average lives of 11 years; and
 
 •  $37.1 million of notes payable—floor plan.
 

During 2005, Sonic acquired five franchises for approximately $138.8 million in cash, net of cash acquired. During 2004, Sonic acquired 13 franchises for approximately
$268.7 million in cash, net of cash acquired.
 

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents a summary of consolidated results of operations as if all of the 2006 acquisitions had occurred at the
beginning of 2005, after giving effect to certain adjustments, including interest expense on acquisition debt and related income tax effects. The pro forma financial information
does not give effect to adjustments relating to net reductions in floorplan interest expense resulting from renegotiated floorplan financing agreements or to reductions in salaries
and fringe benefits of former owners or officers of acquired dealerships who have not been retained by Sonic or whose salaries have been reduced pursuant to employment
agreements with Sonic. The pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that would have
occurred had the 2006 acquisitions actually been completed at the beginning of the periods presented. The pro forma results are also not necessarily indicative of the results of
future operations.
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

   

2005

  

2006

   
(dollars in thousands,

except per share amounts)
Total revenues   $ 7,571,241  $ 8,015,724
Gross profit    1,151,746   1,237,723
Income from continuing operations before taxes    169,230   165,150
Net income    90,059   83,597
Diluted earnings per share    2.08   1.90

 
Dispositions
 

During 2006, Sonic sold 12 franchises. These disposals generated cash of $51.0 million and resulted in a net gain of $3.7 million which is included in discontinued
operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income for 2006. During 2004 and 2005, Sonic completed seven and 22 franchise dispositions, respectively. These
disposals generated cash of $55.0 million and $61.6 million, respectively. The 2004 dispositions resulted in a net loss of $0.8 million, while the 2005 dispositions resulted in a
net gain of $0.4 million.
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In conjunction with franchise dispositions, Sonic generally agrees to indemnify the buyers from certain liabilities and costs arising from operations or events that
occurred prior to sale but which may or may not be known at the time of sale, including environmental liabilities and liabilities associated from the breach of representations or
warranties made under the agreements. See Note 11 for further discussion.
 

In addition to the dispositions described above, as of December 31, 2006, Sonic had approved, but not completed, the disposition of 30 additional franchises. These
franchises have been identified as held for sale because of unprofitable operations or various strategic considerations. The operating results of these franchises are included in
discontinued operations in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. Assets to be disposed of in connection with franchises not yet sold, which have been classified
in assets held for sale in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, consist of the following:
 

   

December 31,
2005

  

December 31,
2006

   (dollars in thousands)
Inventories   $ 54,890  $ 106,581
Property and equipment, net    8,737   32,665
Goodwill    5,210   12,325
Franchise assets    5,000   9,000
     
Assets held for sale   $ 73,837  $ 160,571
     

 
Liabilities to be disposed in connection with these dispositions are comprised entirely of notes payable—floor plan and are classified as liabilities associated with assets

held for sale on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Results associated with franchises classified as discontinued operations were as follows:
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Revenues   $ 1,419,084  $ 1,102,705  $ 734,338 
Franchise agreement impairments    1,075   —     2,525 
Lease exit charges    —     649   7,577 
Property impairment charges    2,427   1,395   7,356 
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of franchises    960   (353)  (3,541)
Pre-tax losses    2,271   16,647   26,090 

 
Sonic allocates corporate level interest to discontinued operations based on the net assets of the discontinued operations group. Interest allocated to discontinued

operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $ 2.4 million, $1.9 million and $2.2 million, respectively.
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3. INVENTORIES AND RELATED NOTES PAYABLE—FLOOR PLAN
 

Inventories consist of the following:
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
New vehicles   $ 801,116  $ 827,630 
Used vehicles    150,040   145,028 
Parts and accessories    56,660   57,266 
Other    63,531   68,641 
    
   $ 1,071,347  $ 1,098,565 
Less inventories classified as assets held for sale    (54,890)  (106,581)
    
Inventories   $ 1,016,457  $ 991,984 
    

 
Sonic finances all of its new and certain of its used vehicle inventory through standardized floor plan facilities. In conjunction with entering into a new credit agreement

as discussed in Note 6, Sonic terminated certain of its floor plan facilities and entered into new arrangements with a syndicate of financial institutions and manufacturer captive
finance companies. As part of the new credit agreement, Sonic may also finance certain used vehicle inventory which in the past was financed through its revolving credit
facility.
 

The new and used floor plan facilities bear interest at variable rates based on prime and LIBOR. The weighted average interest rate for Sonic’s new vehicle floor plan
facilities was 4.41% and 5.98% for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Sonic’s floor plan interest expense related to the new vehicle floor plan
arrangements is partially offset by amounts received from manufacturers, in the form of floor plan assistance. Floor plan assistance received is capitalized in inventory and
charged against cost of sales when the associated inventory is sold. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, Sonic recognized approximately $40.6 million,
$40.9 million and $42.2 million, respectively, in manufacturer assistance. As a result of manufacturer assistance recognized, the effective borrowing rate under Sonic’s new
floor plan facilities of was approximately 0.3% and 1.96% for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
 

The average interest rate for Sonic’s used vehicle floor plan facility was 6.3% for the year ended December 31, 2006.
 

The new and used floor plan facilities are collateralized by vehicle inventories and other assets, excluding franchise agreements, of the relevant dealership subsidiary.
The new and used floor plan facilities contain a number of covenants, including, among others, covenants restricting Sonic with respect to the creation of liens and changes in
ownership, officers and key management personnel. Sonic was in compliance with all restrictive covenants as of December 31, 2006.
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 

Property and equipment consists of the following:
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Land   $ 31,871  $ 25,016 
Building and improvements    101,702   143,345 
Office equipment and fixtures    51,802   65,621 
Parts and service equipment    38,059   44,778 
Company vehicles    9,747   9,519 
Construction in progress    79,488   70,594 
    
Total, at cost    312,669   358,873 
Less accumulated depreciation    (60,534)  (79,459)
    
Subtotal    252,135   279,414 
Less assets held for sale    (8,737)  (32,665)
Less construction in progress expected to be sold in sale-leaseack transactions    (95,131)  (26,198)
    
Property and equipment, net   $148,267  $220,551 
    

 
Interest capitalized in conjunction with construction projects was approximately $2.8 million, $2.3 million and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005

and 2006, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, commitments for facility construction projects totaled approximately $13.4 million.
 

Construction in progress expected to be sold in sale-leaseback transactions represent dealership facilities that are expected to be completed and sold within one year in
sale-leaseback transactions. Under the terms of the sale-leaseback transactions, Sonic sells the properties to a third party entity and enters into long-term operating leases on the
facilities. Sonic sold $49.0 million, $14.5 million and $26.6 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, in dealership equipment and properties in sale-leaseback transactions
which resulted in no material gains and losses. Sonic has no continuing involvement or obligations under these arrangements other than lease payments.
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
 

The changes in the carrying amount of franchise agreements and goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

   

Franchise
Agreements

  

Goodwill

 
Balance, December 31, 2004   $ 80,500  $ 1,056,924 
Additions through current year acquisitions    9,700   69,818 
Prior year acquisition allocations    (2,600)  (367)
Reductions from sales of franchises    (3,400)  (6,886)
Reclassification from assets held for sale    500   3,049 
    
Balance, December 31, 2005   $ 84,700  $ 1,122,538 

Additions through current year acquisitions    5,000   46,737 
Prior year acquisition allocations    (700)  101 
Impairment expense (discontinued operations)    (2,525)  —   
Reductions from sales of franchises    (2,775)  (6,833)
Reclassification to assets held for sale    (4,000)  (7,115)
    
Balance, December 31, 2006   $ 79,700  $ 1,155,428 
    
 

Franchise asset impairment expense of $ 2.5 million was recorded within discontinued operations in the year ended December 31, 2006. The impairments relate to
management’s estimate that the recorded franchise assets relating to several franchises held for sale will not be recovered through the sale of those franchises.
 

Definite life intangible assets consist of the following:
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Lease agreements   $ 4,704  $ 15,853 
Less accumulated amortization    (708)  (1,417)
    
Definite life intangibles, net   $ 3,996  $ 14,436 
    

 
Franchise values and definite life intangible assets are classified as Other Intangible Assets, net on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

 
Amortization expense for definite life intangible assets was $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,

respectively. Future amortization expense is as follows:
 

Year ending December 31,

  

(dollars in thousands)

2007   $ 1,091
2008    1,164
2009    1,177
2010    1,187
2011    1,269
Thereafter    8,548
   

Total   $ 14,436
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT
 

Long-term debt consists of the following:
 

   

December 31

 

   

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
$350 million 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility bearing interest at 2.00 percentage points above LIBOR (5.32% at December 31, 2006),

collateralized by all assets of Sonic   $ —    $ 20,086 
$550 million 2001 Revolving Credit Facility bearing interest at 2.55 percentage points above LIBOR (4.39% at December 31, 2005),

collateralized by all assets of Sonic    131,746   —   
Senior Subordinated Notes bearing interest at 8.625% maturing August 15, 2013, net of net discount of $2,722 and $2,470, respectively    272,278   272,530 
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes bearing interest at 5.25%, maturing May 7, 2009, net of discount of $2,063 and $1,489, respectively    128,037   128,611 
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes bearing interest at 4.25%, maturing November 30, 2015, redeemable on or after October 31, 2010, net of

discount of $3,926 and $3,202, respectively    156,074   156,798 
Notes payable to a finance company bearing interest from 9.52% to 10.52% (with a weighted average of 10.19%), with combined monthly

principal and interest payments of $325, maturing November 1, 2015 through September 1, 2016, and collateralized by letters of credit,
including premium of $5,701 and $4,840, respectively    30,197   27,905 

Fair value of Variable Swaps    (3,684)  (4,710)
Other notes payable (primarily equipment notes)    410   114 
    
   $ 715,058  $ 601,334 
Less current maturities    (2,747)  (2,707)
    
Long-term debt   $ 712,311  $ 598,627 
    
 

The indenture governing Sonic’s 8.625% senior subordinated notes limits Sonic’s ability to pay quarterly cash dividends in excess of $0.10 per share. Sonic may only
pay quarterly cash dividends in excess of this amount if Sonic complies with Section 1009 of the indenture governing these notes, which was filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-109426). The indenture governing Sonic’s convertible senior subordinated notes (the “Convertibles”) does not limit Sonic’s
ability to pay dividends. Sonic’s 2006 Credit Facility permits cash dividends so long as no event of default or unmatured default (as defined in the credit agreement) has
occurred and is continuing and provided that, after giving effect to the payment of a dividend, Sonic remains in compliance with the other terms and conditions of the credit
agreement.
 

Future maturities of long-term debt are as follows:
 

Year ending December 31,

  

(Dollars in thousands)

    
2007   $ 2,707
2008    2,842
2009    131,353
2010    179,777
2011    3,051
Thereafter    281,604
   

Total   $ 601,334
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2006 Credit Facility
 

On February 17, 2006, Sonic entered into a new four-year syndicated credit facility (the “2006 Credit Facility”) with 14 financial institutions, including three
manufacturer-affiliated finance companies, providing for up to $1.2 billion in revolving credit and floor plan financing. The 2006 Credit Facility replaces the 2001 Revolving
Credit Facility, as amended, (which was terminated February 17, 2006) and a portion of Sonic’s existing floor plan financing arrangements.
 

The 2006 Credit Facility has a borrowing limit of $1.2 billion, which may be expanded up to $1.45 billion in total credit availability upon satisfaction of certain
conditions. Under the terms of the 2006 Credit Facility, up to $700.0 million is available for new vehicle inventory floor plan financing (the “2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-
Facility”), up to $150.0 million is available for used vehicle inventory floor plan financing (the “2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility”) and up to $350.0 million is
available for working capital and general corporate purposes (the “2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility”). The amount available for borrowing under the 2006 Revolving Credit
Sub-Facility is reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the aggregate face amount of any outstanding letters of credit. The 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility matures on
February 17, 2010. The 2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility and the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility mature on the earlier of February 17, 2010 or upon
demand by the administrative agent at the request of more than 80% of the lenders under those facilities.
 

At December 31, 2006, our revolving credit facility (part of the New Credit Facility) had a borrowing limit of $350.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), subject to
a borrowing base calculated on the basis of our receivables, inventory and equipment and a pledge of certain additional collateral by one of our affiliates (the borrowing base
was approximately $426.3 million at December 31, 2006). The amount available to be borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility is reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by
the cumulative face amount of outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2006, we had $77.8 million in letters of credit outstanding and $252.1 million of borrowing
availability.
 

The amounts outstanding under the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility bear interest at a specified percentage above LIBOR according to a performance-based pricing
grid determined by Sonic’s Total Senior Secured Debt to EBITDA Ratio as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. The range of the performance-based
pricing grid is from 1.75% above LIBOR to 2.75% above LIBOR. The weighted average rate of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility during the year ended December 31,
2006 was 6.81%. In addition, there is a quarterly commitment fee payable by Sonic on the unused portion of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility according to a
performance-based pricing grid determined by Sonic’s Total Senior Secured Debt to EBITDA Ratio as of the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. The range of
the performance-based pricing grid for the quarterly commitment fee is 0.20% to 0.45% on the unused portion of the 2006 Revolving Credit Sub-Facility. The amounts
outstanding under the 2006 New Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility bear interest at 1.00% above LIBOR. The amounts outstanding under the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-
Facility bear interest at 1.125% above LIBOR. In addition, there are quarterly commitment fees of 0.20% payable by Sonic on the unused portion of both the 2006 New Vehicle
Floor Plan Sub-Facility and the 2006 Used Vehicle Floor Plan Sub-Facility. Under the terms of collateral documents entered into with the lenders under the 2006 Credit
Facility, outstanding balances under the 2006 Credit Facility are secured by a pledge of substantially all of Sonic’s assets and the assets of substantially all of Sonic’s domestic
subsidiaries, which domestic subsidiaries also guarantee Sonic’s obligations under the 2006 Credit Facility, and the pledge of certain additional collateral by one of Sonic’s
affiliates. The collateral for the New Credit Facility also includes the pledge of the stock or equity interests of Sonic’s dealership franchise subsidiaries, except where such a
pledge is prohibited by the applicable vehicle manufacturer.
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Sonic agreed under the 2006 Credit Facility not to pledge any assets to any third party, subject to certain stated exceptions, including floor plan financing arrangements.
In addition, the 2006 Credit Facility contains certain negative covenants, including covenants which could restrict or prohibit the payment of dividends, capital expenditures and
material dispositions of assets as well as other customary covenants and default provisions. Specifically, the 2006 Credit Facility permits cash dividends on Sonic’s Class A and
Class B common stock so long as no event of default or unmatured default (as defined in the New Credit Facility) has occurred and is continuing and provided that, after giving
effect to the payment of a dividend, Sonic remains in compliance with other terms and conditions of the 2006 Credit Facility. Financial covenants include required specified
ratios of:
 

Covenant

  

Required

Consolidated liquidity ratio   > 1.15
Consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio   > 1.20
Consolidated total senior secured debt to EBITDA ratio   < 2.25

 
The 2006 Credit Facility contains events of default, including cross-defaults to other material indebtedness, change of control events and events of default customary for

syndicated commercial credit facilities. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, Sonic could be required to immediately repay all outstanding amounts under the 2006 Credit
Facility.
 

On February 17, 2006, in conjunction with the entrance into the 2006 Credit Facility, Sonic and substantially all of Sonic’s domestic subsidiaries entered into collateral
documents with the lenders, pursuant to which Sonic and substantially all of Sonic’s domestic subsidiaries granted a security interest in substantially all their assets to secure
Sonic’s obligations under the 2006 Credit Facility, including a pledge of the stock or equity interests of Sonic’s dealership franchise subsidiaries except where such a pledge is
prohibited by the applicable vehicle manufacturer. This grant of security interests replaces the grant under the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended.
 
2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as Amended
 

Prior to entering into the 2006 Credit Facility, Sonic utilized the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended. This facility was with Ford Credit, DaimlerChrysler
Financial, Toyota Financial, Bank of America, JP Morgan Chase Bank and Merrill Lynch and had a borrowing limit of $550.0 million, subject to a borrowing base calculated on
the basis of receivables, inventory and equipment and a pledge of certain additional collateral by one of Sonic’s affiliates. The amount available to be borrowed under the 2001
Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, was reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the cumulative face amount of outstanding letters of credit. The amounts outstanding under
the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, bore interest at 2.55 percentage points above LIBOR. The 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, included an annual
commitment fee equal to 0.25% of the unused portion of the 2001 Revolving Facility, as amended. Balances under the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, were
guaranteed by Sonic’s operating domestic subsidiaries.
 
Senior Subordinated 8.625% Notes
 

In August 2003, Sonic issued $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 8.625% senior subordinated notes due 2013 (the “8.625% Notes”) in a private offering to
qualified institutional buyers as defined by the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Act”). The net proceeds, before expenses, of approximately $194.3 million together with an advance
from the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, were used to redeem all of the 11% senior subordinated notes due 2008 (the “11% Notes”) for $194.6 million which
included accrued but unpaid interest
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and the redemption premium of 5.5% on September 10, 2003. The 8.625% Notes are unsecured obligations that rank equal in right of payment to all of Sonic’s existing and
future senior subordinated indebtedness, mature on August 15, 2013 and are redeemable at Sonic’s option after August 15, 2008. In addition, up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 8.625% Notes may be redeemed on or before August 15, 2006 with net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings. Sonic’s obligations under the
8.625% Notes are guaranteed by Sonic’s operating domestic subsidiaries.
 

In November 2003, Sonic issued an additional $75.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 8.625% Notes in an add-on private offering to qualified institutional
buyers as defined by the Act. The net proceeds, before expenses, of approximately $78.9 million, were used to pay down the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended. This
$75.0 million issuance contains the same provisions and terms as the $200.0 million issuance.
 

The indentures governing the 8.625% Notes contain certain specified restrictive and required financial covenants. Sonic has agreed not to pledge any assets to any third
party except under certain limited circumstances. Sonic also has agreed to certain other limitations or prohibitions concerning the incurrence of other indebtedness, capital
stock, guaranties, asset sales, investments, cash dividends to shareholders, distributions and redemptions. Specifically, the indenture governing Sonic’s 8.625% Notes limits
Sonic’s ability to pay quarterly cash dividends on Sonic’s Class A and B common stock in excess of $0.10 per share. Sonic may only pay quarterly cash dividends on Sonic’s
Class A and B common stock if Sonic complies with Section 1009 of the indenture governing the 8.625% Notes, which was filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Sonic’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-109426). Sonic was in compliance with all restrictive covenants as of December 31, 2006.
 
5.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
 

In 2002, Sonic issued $149.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.25% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2009 (the “2002 Convertibles”) with net
proceeds, before expenses, of approximately $145.1 million. The net proceeds were used to repay a portion of the amounts outstanding under the 2001 Revolving Credit Facility,
as amended. During 2002, Sonic repurchased $19.4 million in aggregate principal of the 2002 Convertibles. The 2002 Convertibles are unsecured obligations that rank equal in
right of payment to all of Sonic’s existing and future senior subordinated indebtedness, mature on May 7, 2009 and are redeemable at Sonic’s option after May 7, 2005. Sonic’s
obligations under the 2002 Convertibles are not guaranteed by any of Sonic’s subsidiaries.
 

The 2002 Convertibles are convertible into shares of Class A common stock, at the option of the holder, if as of the last day of the preceding fiscal quarter, the closing
sale price of the Class A common stock for at least 20 trading days in a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading-day of such preceding fiscal quarter is
more than 110% of the conversion price per share of Class A common stock on the last day of such preceding fiscal quarter. If this condition is satisfied, then the 2002
Convertibles will be convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, through maturity. The initial conversion price per share is $46.87, and will be subject to adjustment for
certain distributions on, or other changes in Sonic’s Class A common stock, if any, prior to the conversion date. In addition, on or before May 7, 2007, a holder also may convert
the 2002 Convertibles into shares of the Class A common stock at any time after a 10 consecutive trading-day period in which the average of the trading day prices for the 2002
Convertibles for that 10 trading-day period is less than 103% of the average conversion value for the 2002 Convertibles during that period. The conversion value is equal to the
product of the closing sale price for Sonic’s Class A common stock on a given day multiplied by the then current conversion rate, which is the number of shares of Class A
common stock into which each $1,000 principal amount of 2002 Convertibles is then convertible. Neither of these conversion features were satisfied during 2006.
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4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes
 

In November and December 2005, Sonic issued $160.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2005 Convertibles with net proceeds, before expenses, of approximately
$156.2 million. The 2005 Convertibles bear interest at an annual rate of 4.25% until November 30, 2010 and 4.75% thereafter. The net proceeds were used to repay a portion of
the amounts outstanding under Sonic’s 2001 Revolving Credit Facility, as amended, and to pay the net cost of convertible note hedge and warrant transactions. The 2005
Convertibles are unsecured obligations that rank equal in right of payment to all of Sonic’s existing and future senior subordinated indebtedness, mature on November 30, 2015
and are redeemable on or after November 30, 2010. Sonic’s obligations under the 2005 Convertibles are not guaranteed by any of Sonic’s subsidiaries. Holders of the 2005
Convertibles may convert them into cash and shares of Sonic’s Class A common stock at an initial conversion rate of 41.4185 shares per $1,000 of principal amount, subject to
distributions on, or other changes in Sonic’s Class A common stock, if any, prior to the conversion date. The 2005 Convertibles are convertible into cash and shares of Sonic’s
Class A common stock if prior to October 31, 2010, during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per $1,000
principal amount of 2005 Convertibles was less than 103% of the product of the closing price of Sonic’s Class A common stock and the applicable conversion rate for the 2005
Convertibles; if Sonic calls the 2005 Convertibles for redemption; or upon the occurrence of certain corporate transactions; or on or after October 31, 2010. Upon conversion of
the 2005 Convertibles, Sonic will be required to deliver cash equal to the lesser of the aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Convertibles being converted and Sonic’s total
conversion obligation. If Sonic’s total conversion obligation exceeds the aggregate principal amount of the 2005 Convertibles being converted, Sonic will deliver shares of
Class A common stock to the extent of the excess amount, if any. None of the conversion features on the 2005 Convertibles were triggered in 2006. Sonic used $18.5 million of
the net proceeds from the sale of the 2005 Convertibles to pay the net cost of convertible note hedge and warrant transactions entered into with the initial purchasers of the 2005
Convertibles. The convertible note hedge and warrant transactions were designed to increase the effective conversion price per share of Sonic’s Class A common stock from
$24.14 to $33.00 and, therefore, mitigate the potential dilution upon conversion of the 2005 Convertibles at the time of conversion. See Note 1, “Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” for a discussion regarding the convertible note hedge and warrant transactions.
 
The Mortgage Facility
 

Sonic had a revolving real estate and construction (the “Construction Loan”) and mortgage refinancing (the “Permanent Loan”) line of credit with Toyota Credit
(collectively, “The Mortgage Facility”) with $100.0 million of borrowing availability. There were no amounts outstanding under the Mortgage Facility at December 31, 2005
and 2006. Subsequent to December 31, 2006, the Mortgage Facility was terminated.
 
Notes Payable to a Finance Company
 

Three notes payable totaling $26.6 million in aggregate principal were assumed in connection with an acquisition during 2004 (the “Assumed Notes”). Sonic recorded
the Assumed Notes at fair value using an interest rate of 5.35%. The interest rate used to calculate the fair value was based on a quoted market price for notes with similar terms
as of the date of assumption. As a result of calculating the fair value, a premium of $7.3 million was recorded that will be amortized over the lives of the Assumed Notes. At
December 31, 2006, the principal balance on the Assumed Notes was $23.1 million.
 
Subsidiary Guarantees
 

Balances outstanding under Sonic’s 8.625% Notes are guaranteed by all of Sonic’s operating domestic subsidiaries. These guarantees are full and unconditional and joint
and several. The parent company has no
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independent assets or operations. The non-domestic and non-operating subsidiaries that are not guarantors are considered to be minor as defined by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”).
 
7. INCOME TAXES
 

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following:
 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

Current:             
Federal   $35,830  $ 31,123  $ 40,919
State    6,734   3,883   7,594

       
    42,564   35,006   48,513
Deferred    11,376   27,539   18,278
       

Total provision for income taxes for continuing operations   $53,940  $ 62,545  $ 66,791
       

 
The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate with Sonic’s federal and state overall effective income tax rate from continuing operations is as follows:

 

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

 
Statutory federal rate   35.00% 35.00% 35.00%
Effective state income tax rate   2.96  2.01  3.46 
Other   —    0.36  1.93 
     
Effective tax rate   37.96% 37.37% 40.39%
     

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and

the amounts used for tax purposes. Significant components of Sonic’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:
 

   

2005

  

2006

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
Deferred tax assets:          

Allowance for bad debts   $ 1,417  $ 791 
Accruals and reserves    25,650   32,428 
Net operating loss carryforwards    8,019   9,306 
Other    46   46 

    
Total deferred tax assets    35,132   42,571 

Deferred tax liabilities:          
Basis difference in inventory    (5,300)  (4,485)
Basis difference in property and equipment    (14,963)  (13,783)
Basis difference in goodwill    (128,794)  (147,312)
State valuation allowance    —     (143)
Other    (3,015)  (2,368)

    
Total deferred tax liability    (152,072)  (168,091)

    
Net deferred tax liability   $(116,940) $ (125,520)
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Net current deferred tax assets are recorded in other current assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2006, Sonic had state net
operating loss carryforwards of $239.3 million that will expire between 2014 and 2026.
 
8. RELATED PARTIES
 
Registration Rights Agreement
 

Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, Sonic signed a Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 30, 1997 with Sonic Financial Corporation (“SFC”), O.
Bruton Smith, B. Scott Smith and William S. Egan (collectively, the “Class B Registration Rights Holders”). SFC currently owns 8,881,250 shares of Class B common stock;
O. Bruton Smith, 2,171,250 shares; and B. Scott Smith, 976,875 shares; all of which are covered by the Registration Rights Agreement. The Egan Group LLC, an assignee of
William S. Egan, also owns certain shares of Class A common stock to which the Registration Rights Agreement applies. If, among other things provided in Sonic’s charter,
offers and sales of shares of Class B common stock are registered with the SEC, then such shares will automatically convert into a like number of shares of Class A common
stock.
 

The Class B Registration Rights Holders have certain limited piggyback registration rights under the Registration Rights Agreement. These rights permit them to have
their shares of Sonic’s common stock included in any Sonic registration statement registering Class A common stock, except for registrations on Form S-4, relating to exchange
offers and certain other transactions, and Form S-8, relating to employee stock compensation plans. The Registration Rights Agreement expires in November 2007. SFC is
controlled by O. Bruton Smith.
 
Other Transactions
 

Sonic leases office space in Charlotte from a subsidiary of SFC for a majority of its headquarters personnel. Annual aggregate rent under this lease was approximately
$0.6 million in 2004, $0.5 million in 2005 and $0.6 million in 2006.
 

Sonic rents various aircraft owned by SFC, subject to their availability, for business-related travel by Sonic executives. Sonic incurred costs of approximately $0.5
million in 2004, $0.8 million in 2005 and $1.2 million in 2006 for the use of these aircraft.
 

Certain of Sonic’s dealerships purchase the Z-Max oil additive product from Oil Chem Research Company, a subsidiary of Speedway Motorsports, Inc. (“SMI”) whose
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is O. Bruton Smith, for resale to service customers of Sonic’s dealerships in the ordinary course of business. Total purchases from Oil
Chem by Sonic dealerships totaled approximately $1.4 million in 2004, $1.5 million in 2005 and $1.4 million in 2006.
 

Sonic donates cash throughout the year to Speedway Children’s Charities, a non-profit organization founded by O. Bruton Smith. O. Bruton Smith and B. Scott Smith are
both board members of Speedway Children’s Charities. Donations to this organization amounted to $0.2 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.
 
9. CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND PER SHARE DATA
 

Preferred Stock—Sonic has 3 million shares of “blank check” preferred stock authorized with such designations, rights and preferences as may be determined from time
to time by the Board of Directors. The
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Board of Directors has designated 300,000 shares of preferred stock as Class A convertible preferred stock, par value $0.10 per share (the “Preferred Stock”) which is divided
into 100,000 shares of Series I Preferred Stock, 100,000 shares of Series II Preferred Stock, and 100,000 shares of Series III Preferred Stock. There were no shares of Preferred
Stock issued or outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2006.
 

Common Stock—Sonic has two classes of common stock. Sonic has authorized 100.0 million shares of Class A common stock at a par value of $0.01 per share. Class A
common stock entitles its holder to one vote per share. There were 29,945,785 and 30,691,576 shares outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Sonic has also
authorized 30 million shares of Class B common stock at a par value of $.01 per share. Class B common stock entitles its holder to ten votes per share, except in certain
circumstances. Each share of Class B common stock is convertible into one share of Class A common stock either upon voluntary conversion at the option of the holder, or
automatically upon the occurrence of certain events, as provided in Sonic’s charter.
 

Hedge and Warrants on 4.25% Convertible Notes—In connection with the sale of $160.0 million of 4.25% convertible notes in the fourth quarter of 2005, Sonic
executed a hedge and sold warrants to purchase shares of Sonic Class A common stock designed to mitigate the dilutive effect of the delivery of Sonic’s Class A common stock
upon conversion of these convertible notes. See Note 6.
 

Share Repurchases—Sonic’s Board of Directors has authorized Sonic to expend up to $185.0 million to repurchase shares of its Class A common stock or redeem
securities convertible into Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2006, Sonic had repurchased a total of 11,198,964 shares of Class A common stock at an average price
per share of approximately $14.20 and had redeemed 13,801.5 shares of Class A convertible preferred stock at an average price of $1,000 per share. As of December 31, 2006,
Sonic had $12.2 million remaining under the Board’s authorization.
 

Per Share Data—The calculation of diluted earnings per share considers the potential dilutive effect of options and shares under Sonic’s stock compensation plans,
Class A common stock purchase warrants, the 2002 Convertibles and the 2005 Convertibles (see Notes 1 and 6). The following table illustrates the dilutive effect of such items
on earnings per share:
 

   

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

      

Income
From Continuing

Operations

  

Loss From
Discontinued
Operations

  

Net Income

   

Shares

  

Amount

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Amount

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Amount

  

Per
Share

Amount

   (amounts in thousands except per share amounts)
Basic Earnings Per Share   41,375  $ 88,145  $ 2.13  $ (2,074) $ (0.05) $ 86,071  $ 2.08
Effect of Dilutive Securities:                            
Contingently Convertible Debt (2002 Convertibles)   2,776   4,307       260       4,567    
Stock Compensation Plans   1,066                        

             
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share   45,217  $ 92,452  $ 2.04  $ (1,814) $ (0.04) $ 90,638  $ 2.00
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

    

Income
From Continuing

Operations

 

Loss From
Discontinued
Operations

  

Net Income

  

Shares

 

Amount

 

Per
Share

Amount

 

Amount

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Amount

 

Per
Share

Amount

  (amounts in thousands except per share amounts)
Basic Earnings Per Share  41,817 $ 104,844 $ 2.51 $ (12,983) $ (0.31) $ 91,861 $ 2.20
Effect of Dilutive Securities:                       

Contingently Convertible Debt (2002 Convertibles)  2,776  4,345     194       4,539   
Stock Compensation Plans  940                    

        
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share  45,533 $ 109,189 $ 2.40 $ (12,789) $ (0.28) $ 96,400 $ 2.12

        

  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2006

    

Income
From Continuing

Operations

 

Loss From
Discontinued
Operations

  

Net Income

  

Shares

 

Amount

 

Per
Share

Amount

 

Amount

  

Per
Share

Amount

  

Amount

 

Per
Share

Amount

  (amounts in thousands except per share amounts)
Basic Earnings Per Share  42,336 $ 98,566 $ 2.33 $ (17,449) $ (0.41) $ 81,117 $ 1.92
Effect of Dilutive Securities:                       

Contingently Convertible Debt (2002 Convertibles)  2,776  4,202     154       4,356   
Contingently Convertible Debt (2005 Convertibles)  302                    
Stock Compensation Plans  851                    

        
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share  46,265 $ 102,768 $ 2.22 $ (17,295) $ (0.37) $ 85,473 $ 1.85

        
 

In addition to the stock options included in the tables above, options to purchase approximately 1.9 million, 1.7 million and 0.6 million shares of Class A common stock
were outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted net income per share because the
options were antidilutive.
 
10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
 

Substantially all of the employees of Sonic are eligible to participate in a 401(k) plan. In accordance with the formula in the 401(k) plan agreement, contributions by
Sonic to the 401(k) plan were $4.6 million in 2004, $4.5 million in 2005 and $5.6 million in 2006.
 
Stock Compensation Plans
 

Effective January 1, 2006, Sonic adopted SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, using the modified prospective application transition method. Prior to Sonic’s
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as operating cash flows on the statement of cash flows.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires excess tax benefits to be reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of taxes paid on the statement of cash flows.
 

Sonic currently has four stock compensation plans: the Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), the Sonic Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock
Option Plan (the “1997 Plan”), the First America
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Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan (the “First America Plan”), and the 2005 Formula Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “2005 Formula Plan”)
(collectively, the “Stock Plans”).
 

The 2004 Plan and the 1997 Plan were adopted by the Board of Directors in order to attract and retain key personnel and currently authorize the issuance of options to
purchase 2.0 million and 9.0 million shares of Class A common stock, respectively. Under the 2004 Plan and the 1997 Plan, options to purchase shares of Class A common
stock may be granted to key employees of Sonic and its subsidiaries and to officers, directors, consultants and other individuals providing services to Sonic. The options are
granted at the fair market value of Sonic’s Class A common stock at the date of grant, vest over a period ranging from six months to three years, are exercisable upon vesting
and expire ten years from the date of grant. The 2004 Plan also authorizes the issuance of restricted stock. Restricted stock issued under the 2004 plan generally vests at the end
of a three year term. The 2005 Formula Plan provides for grants of restricted stock to non-employee directors and restrictions on those shares generally expire one year from the
date of grant. Individuals receiving restricted shares under both the 2005 Formula Plan and the 2004 Plan have voting rights and receive dividends on unvested shares. The First
America Plan was assumed by Sonic in connection with the purchase of First America Automotive in 1999. Although Sonic does not issue stock-based awards under the First
America Plan, options to purchase Sonic’s Class A common stock were outstanding under this plan during the year ended December 31, 2006. Sonic issues new shares of
Class A common stock to employees and directors to satisfy its option exercise and stock grant obligations. To offset the effects of these transactions, Sonic will periodically
buy back shares of Class A common stock after considering cash flow, market conditions and other factors.
 

A summary of the status of the options related to the Stock Plans is presented below:
 

   

Options
Outstanding

  

Exercise Price
Per Share

  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

  

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

   (in thousands)        (in years)   (in thousands)
Balance—December 31, 2005   5,531  $ 6.00—37.50  $ 19.12       

Granted   662   23.30—26.42   25.42       
Exercised   (1,154)  6.00—26.92   16.15       
Forfeited   (305)  12.41—37.50   26.28       

             
Balance—December 31, 2006   4,734  $ 7.01—37.50  $ 20.24  6.0  $ 53,323
             

Exercisable   3,391  $ 7.01—37.50  $ 19.42  5.0  $ 36,807
 

   

December 31,

   

2004

  

2005

  

2006

Weighted Average Grant-Date Fair Value of Options Granted   $ 9.43  $ 7.50  $ 7.87
Intrinsic Value of Options Exercised    12,460   3,565   11,972
Fair Value of Shares Vested    8,224   14,135   4,356
 

Sonic recognized compensation expense within selling, general and administrative expenses related to the options in the Stock Plans of $4.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006. Tax benefits recognized related to the compensation expenses were $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. No compensation expense related
to these plans was recorded in the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005. The total compensation cost related to unvested options not yet recognized at December 31, 2006
was $6.1 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.5 years. Sonic received $18.6 million in cash from the exercise of stock options during
the year ended December 31, 2006. Sonic’s tax benefit associated with these stock option exercises was $4.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), Sonic accounted for stock option grants under the recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related interpretations. In accordance with those provisions, because the exercise price of all options granted under those
plans equaled the market value of the underlying stock at the grant date, no stock-based employee compensation cost was recorded in the accompanying financial statements for
periods prior to January 1, 2006. Using the Black-Scholes option pricing model for all options granted, the following table illustrates what net income and earnings per share
would have been if Sonic had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to stock-based employee
compensation for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005:
 

   

For the Year ended
December 31,

 

   

2004

  

2005

 

   

(dollars in thousands
except per share

amounts)  
Net income as restated   $86,071  $91,861 
Fair value compensation cost, net of tax benefits of $4,692 and $3,531 for 2004 and 2005, respectively    (7,514)  (5,523)
    
Pro forma net income   $78,557  $86,338 
    
Basic earnings (loss) per share:          

Net income as restated   $ 2.08  $ 2.20 
Fair value compensation cost, net of tax    (0.18)  (0.14)

    
Pro forma net income   $ 1.90  $ 2.06 

    
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:          

Net income as restated   $ 2.00  $ 2.12 
Fair value compensation cost, net of tax    (0.16)  (0.12)

    
Pro forma net income   $ 1.84  $ 2.00 

    
 

A summary of the status of restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants related to the Stock Plans is presented below:
 

   

Unvested Restricted
Stock and Restricted

Stock Units

  

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value

   (in thousands)    
Balance—December 31, 2005   141  $ 21.66

Granted   143   28.86
Vested   (19)  21.96

    
Balance—December 31, 2006   265  $ 25.52
    

 
In the year ended December 31, 2004, 160,000 restricted shares of Sonic Class A common stock were awarded to certain executive officers. The restrictions on these

restricted shares expire in August 2007. Also in 2005, 12,000 restricted shares of Class A common stock were awarded to an executive officer. This award is subject to the same
restrictions and rights as the restricted stock granted to certain executive officers in 2004. During 2005, 16,470 restricted shares of Class A common stock were awarded to non-
employee directors of Sonic’s Board of Directors under the 2005 Formula Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “2005 Formula Plan”). In 2005, 2,660
restricted shares of Class A common stock were awarded to a new non-employee director of Sonic’s Board of Directors under the 2005 Formula Plan. The restrictions on these
shares granted to Non-Employee Directors generally expire one year from the grant date. Near the end of 2005,
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Sonic’s former Chief Financial Officer forfeited his grant of 50,000 restricted shares of Class A common stock in connection with his resignation. As a result, previously
recognized compensation expense relating to these 50,000 shares was reversed, resulting in a reduction of selling, general and administrative expenses of $0.3 million in 2005.
Holders of these restricted shares have voting rights and receive dividends prior to the time the restrictions lapse if, and to the extent, dividends are paid on Sonic’s Class A
common stock.
 

In the year ended December 31, 2006, approximately 143,000 restricted shares of Class A common stock and restricted stock units were awarded to Sonic’s Board of
Directors, executive officers and other key associates under the 2004 Plan. The awards of restricted shares to directors were made pursuant to the 2005 Formula Plan and vest
the day before the next annual meeting of Sonic’s stockholders. The awards to executive officers and other key associates were made in connection with establishing the
objective performance criteria for 2006 incentive compensation and cliff-vest in three years. The shares and units awarded to executive officers and other key associates are
subject to forfeiture, in whole or in part, based upon specified measures of Sonic’s earnings per share performance for the 2006 fiscal year, continuation of employment and
compliance with any restrictive covenants contained in any agreement between Sonic and the respective officer and other key associates. These awards are generally subject to
the same restrictions and rights as the shares of restricted stock granted to certain executive officers in 2004 and 2005, except that the restricted stock units do not have voting
rights and that dividends on the restricted stock units are paid to the holders in the year subsequent to the dividend declarations. Sonic recognized compensation expense within
selling, general and administrative expenses related to unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units of $1.3 million and $2.3 million in the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2006, respectively. Tax benefits recognized related to the compensation expenses were $0.5 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively. Total compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock not yet recognized at December 31, 2006 was $3.6 million and is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.6 years.
 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

The Board of Directors and stockholders of Sonic adopted the Sonic Automotive, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) to attract and retain key personnel.
The ESPP authorizes the issuance of options to purchase 3.0 million shares of Class A common stock. Under the terms of the ESPP, on January 1 of each year all eligible
employees electing to participate will be granted an option to purchase shares of Class A common stock. Sonic’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors will
annually determine the number of shares of Class A common stock available for purchase under each award. The purchase price at which Class A common stock will be
purchased through the ESPP is 85% of the lesser of (i) the fair market value of the Class A common stock on the applicable grant date and (ii) the fair market value of the
Class A common stock on the applicable exercise date. The grant dates are January 1 of each year plus any other interim dates designated by the Compensation Committee. The
exercise dates are the last trading days on the New York Stock Exchange for March, June, September and December, plus any other interim dates designated by the
Compensation Committee. ESPP options will expire on the last exercise date of the calendar year in which granted.
 

The Board of Directors of Sonic adopted the Sonic Automotive, Inc. Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Nonqualified ESPP”) to provide options to
purchase Class A common stock to employees of Sonic’s subsidiaries that are not eligible to participate in the ESPP. Employees of Sonic who are eligible to participate in the
ESPP are not eligible to participate in the Nonqualified ESPP. Under the terms of the Nonqualified ESPP, on January 1 of each year all employees eligible to participate in the
Nonqualified ESPP and who elect to participate in the Nonqualified ESPP will be granted an option to purchase shares of Class A common stock. Sonic’s Compensation
Committee will annually determine the number of shares of Class A common stock available for purchase under each award.
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The purchase price at which Class A common stock will be purchased through the Nonqualified ESPP is 85% of the lesser of (i) the fair market value of the Class A
common stock on the applicable grant date and (ii) the fair market value of the Class A common stock on the applicable exercise date. The grant dates are January 1 of each year
plus any other interim dates designated by the Compensation Committee. The exercise dates are the last trading days on the New York Stock Exchange for March, June,
September and December, plus any other interim dates designated by the Compensation Committee. Nonqualified ESPP options will expire on the last exercise date of the
calendar year in which granted. In adopting the Nonqualified ESPP the Board of Directors authorized options for 300,000 shares of Class A common stock to be granted under
the Nonqualified ESPP.
 

Under both the ESPP and the Nonqualified ESPP, Sonic issued options exercisable for approximately 1,058,000 shares in 2004, 1,043,000 shares in 2005, and 0 shares
in 2006. Sonic issued approximately 208,000 shares in 2004, 184,000 shares in 2005 and 32,395 shares to employees in 2006 at a weighted average purchase price of $18.95,
$19.07 and $18.94 per share, respectively. The weighted average fair value of shares granted under both the ESPP and the Nonqualified ESPP was $5.84 and $8.20 per share in
2004, and 2005, respectively. Sonic received $0.6 million in cash from the exercise of ESPP options during the year ended December 31, 2006.
 
Black-Scholes Assumptions
 

The weighted average fair value of options granted in each of the three years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was estimated using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
 

   

2004

 

2005

 

2006 (1)

Stock Option Plans        
Dividend yield   1.60—2.56%  2.02—2.50%  1.82—2.06%
Risk free interest rates   2.80—3.65%  3.58—4.34%  4.54—4.97%
Expected lives   5 years  5 years  3.5—5 years
Volatility   50.17%  47.69%  36.60%

Employee Stock Purchase Plan        
Dividend yield   1.68%  1.94%  N/A
Risk free interest rates   1.31%  2.59%  N/A
Expected lives   0.5 year  0.5 year  N/A
Volatility   41.98%  47.69%  N/A

 
 (1) No Employee Stock Purchase Plan Grants were made in 2006.
 

Sonic used an expected term of three and a half to five years for current year option grants based on several facts associated with past grants and exercises. First, the
historical exercise experience indicates that the expected term is at least three years (consistent with the three year graded vesting period attached to the majority of these
options) and the majority of Sonic’s grants are in the early to middle stages of their contractual terms of ten years; second, the contractual term of all of Sonic’s options is ten
years; and third, since Sonic began granting stock options in 1997, none of these stock option grants have completed their contractual term of ten years.
 

Expected volatility was estimated using Sonic’s stock price over the last three years. Prior to this period, Sonic was a fast growing, new company in an un-established
retail sector of the equity market. As such, the volatility of Sonic’s stock between 1997 and 2002 was higher than what is expected in the future due to a change in strategy that
includes slowing the pace of acquisitions and the payment of quarterly dividends and the establishment of the retail automotive sector in the equity market.
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Facility and Equipment Leases
 

During 2006, Sonic’s management decided to cease using several dealership properties which are leased under operating leases. Accordingly, operating lease exit
accruals in the amount of $9.6 million were established in the year ended December 31, 2006. Of the $9.6 million accrual established in the year ended December 31, 2006,
$2.0 million was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses and $7.6 million was recorded in discontinued operations. These operating lease accruals represent the
present value of the lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals, for the remaining life of the operating leases and other accruals necessary to satisfy the lease commitment
to the landlord. A summary of the activity of these operating lease accruals consists of the following:
 

   

(dollars in thousands)

 
Balance, December 31, 2005   $ 601 
Lease exit expense    9,598 
Payments    (1,468)
   
Balance, December 31, 2006   $ 8,731 
   

 
The Company leases facilities for the majority of its dealership operations under operating lease arrangements. These facility lease arrangements generally have fifteen to

twenty year terms with one or two five year renewal options and do not contain provisions for contingent rent related to dealership’s operations. Approximately 20% of these
facility leases are based on capitalization rates with payments that vary based on interest rates. The Company also leases certain equipment for use in dealership operations.
These equipment lease arrangements generally have three to five year terms with one or two year renewal options. Minimum future lease payments for both facility and
equipment leases and sub-leases to be received as required under noncancelable operating leases for both continuing and discontinued operations based on interest rates as of the
inception of each lease are as follows:
 

Year ending December 31,

  

Future
Minimum

Lease
Payments, Net

  

Receipts
from

Future
Subleases

 
   (dollars in thousands)  
2007   $ 129,369  $(12,159)
2008    121,795   (10,507)
2009    110,798   (8,833)
2010    108,443   (8,096)
2011    111,080   (7,629)
Thereafter    832,624   (53,649)

 
Total lease expense for continuing operations in 2004, 2005 and 2006 was approximately $94.2 million, $108.1 million and $113.8 million, respectively. Total lease

expense for discontinued operations in 2004, 2005 and 2006 was approximately $13.3 million, $10.7 million and $23.0 million, respectively. The total net contingent rent
benefit relating to a decrease in interest rates since the underlying leases commenced for continuing operations in 2004 and 2005 was $2.3 million, $0.6 million respectively. The
total net contingent rent benefit relating to a decrease in interest rates since the underlying leases commenced for discontinued operations in 2004 and 2005 was $0.5 million and
$0.4 million respectively. Total contingent rent expense relating to an increase in interest rates since the underlying leases commenced for continuing and discontinued
operations in 2006 were $2.9 million and $0.2 million respectively.
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Guarantees and Indemnifications
 

In accordance with the terms of Sonic’s operating lease agreements, Sonic’s dealership subsidiaries, acting as lessees, generally agree to indemnify the lessor from
certain exposure arising as a result of the use of the leased premises, including environmental exposure and repairs to leased property upon termination of the lease. In addition,
Sonic has generally agreed to indemnify the lessor in the event of a breach of the lease by the lessee.
 

In connection with franchise dispositions, certain of Sonic’s dealership subsidiaries have assigned or sublet to the buyer its interests in real property leases associated
with such dealerships. In general, the subsidiaries retain responsibility for the performance of certain obligations under such leases, including rent payments, and repairs to
leased property upon termination of the lease, to the extent that the assignee or sublessee does not perform. The total estimated rent payments remaining, before consideration of
sublease proceeds, under such leases as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $136.7 million. However, in accordance with the terms of the assignment and sublease
agreements, the assignees and sublessees have generally agreed to indemnify Sonic and its subsidiaries in the event of non-performance. Additionally, in connection with certain
dispositions, Sonic has obtained indemnifications from the parent company or owners of these assignees and sublessees in the event of non-performance.
 

In accordance with the terms of agreements entered into for the sale of Sonic’s franchises, Sonic generally agrees to indemnify the buyer from certain liabilities and costs
arising subsequent to the date of sale, including environmental exposure and exposure resulting from the breach of representations or warranties made in accordance with the
agreement. While Sonic’s exposure with respect to environmental remediation and repairs is difficult to quantify, Sonic’s maximum exposure associated with these general
indemnifications was $32.3 million at December 31, 2006. These indemnifications generally expire within a period of one to three years following the date of sale. The
estimated fair value of these indemnifications was not material.
 
Legal Matters
 

Sonic is a defendant in the matter of Galura, et al. v. Sonic Automotive, Inc., a private civil action filed in the Circuit Court of Hillsborough County, Florida. In this
action, originally filed on December 30, 2002, the plaintiffs allege that Sonic and Sonic’s Florida dealerships sold an antitheft protection product in a deceptive or otherwise
illegal manner, and further sought representation on behalf of any customer of any of Sonic’s Florida dealerships who purchased the antitheft protection product since
December 30, 1998. The plaintiffs are seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief on behalf of this class of customers. In June 2005, the court granted the plaintiffs’ motion
for certification of the requested class of customers, but the court has made no finding to date regarding actual liability in this lawsuit. Sonic subsequently filed a notice of
appeal of the court’s class certification ruling with the Florida Court of Appeals. Sonic intends to continue its vigorous defense of this lawsuit, including the aforementioned
appeal of the trial court’s class certification order, and to assert available defenses. However, an adverse resolution of this lawsuit could result in the payment of significant costs
and damages, which could have a material adverse effect on Sonic’s future results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
 

Sonic is involved, and expects to continue to be involved, in numerous legal and administrative proceedings arising out of the conduct of Sonic’s business, including
regulatory investigations and private civil actions brought by plaintiffs purporting to represent a potential class or for which a class has been certified. Although Sonic
vigorously defends itself in all legal and administrative proceedings, the outcomes of pending and future proceedings arising out of the conduct of Sonic’s business, including
litigation with customers, employment related lawsuits, contractual disputes, class actions, purported class actions and actions brought by governmental authorities, cannot be
predicted with certainty. An unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could
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have a material adverse effect on Sonic’s business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects. Included in other accrued liabilities at December 31, 2005
and 2006 were $3.5 million and $2.0 million, respectively, in reserves that Sonic has provided for pending proceedings.
 
12. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
 

The following table summarizes Sonic’s results of operations as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Income by quarter for 2005 and 2006.
 

   

First
Quarter

  

Second
Quarter

  

Third
Quarter

  

Fourth
Quarter

   (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
Year Ended December 31, 2005:                 

Total revenues   $ 1,629,303  $ 1,886,171  $ 1,924,513  $ 1,838,733
Gross profit   $ 255,725  $ 284,188  $ 290,954  $ 286,178
Net income   $ 17,112  $ 27,004  $ 26,804  $ 20,941
Earnings per share—Basic   $ 0.41  $ 0.65  $ 0.64  $ 0.50
Earnings per share—Diluted   $ 0.40  $ 0.62  $ 0.61  $ 0.48

Year Ended December 31, 2006:                 
Total revenues   $ 1,878,172  $ 2,069,031  $ 2,066,459  $ 1,958,412
Gross profit   $ 296,779  $ 313,031  $ 316,710  $ 305,062
Net income   $ 17,082  $ 12,188  $ 28,608  $ 23,239
Earnings per share—Basic   $ 0.41  $ 0.29  $ 0.68  $ 0.54
Earnings per share—Diluted   $ 0.39  $ 0.29  $ 0.65  $ 0.52

(1) Operations are subject to seasonal variations. The first and fourth quarters generally contribute less revenue and operating profits than the second and third quarters. Parts
and service demand remains more stable throughout the year.

(2) The sum of basic and diluted earnings per share for the quarters may not equal the full year amount due to weighted average common shares being calculated on a
quarterly versus annual basis.

(3) Amounts presented differ from amounts previously reported on Form 10-Q due to the classification of certain franchises in discontinued and continuing operations in
accordance with SFAS No. 144 (see Note 2).
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EXHIBIT NO.

 

DESCRIPTION

1.1*

 

Purchase Agreement dated November 18, 2005 among Sonic, Bank of America Securities LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc. and Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Sonic’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 23, 2005) (the “November 2005 Form 8-K”)).

3.1*
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Sonic (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Sonic’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-33295) (the “Form S-1”)).

3.2*
 

Certificate of Amendment to Sonic’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation effective June 18, 1999 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.2 to Sonic’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (the “1999 Form 10-K”)).

3.3*
 

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Class A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1998).

3.4*
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sonic (as amended February 9, 2006) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Sonic’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed February 13, 2006)).

4.1*  Specimen Certificate representing Class A Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form S-1)

4.2*
 

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 30, 1997 among Sonic, O. Bruton Smith, Bryan Scott Smith, William S. Egan and Sonic
Financial Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Form S-1).

4.3*
 

Form of 5.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Note due 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Sonic’s Amended Current
Report on Form 8-K/A filed on May 6, 2002 (the “May 2002 Form 8-K/A”)).

4.4*
 

Supplemental Indenture by and among Sonic and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the May 2002
Form 8-K/A).

4.5*
 

Form of 8 5/8% Senior Subordinated Note due 2013, Series B (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to Sonic’s Registration Statement
on Form S-4 (Reg. Nos. 333-109426 and 333-109426-1 through 109426-261) (the “2003 Exchange Offer Form S-4”)).

4.6*

 

Indenture dated as of August 12, 2003 among Sonic Automotive, Inc., as issuer, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein, as guarantors, and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), relating to the 8 5/8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the 2003 Exchange Offer Form S-4).

4.7*  Form of 4.25% Convertible Senior Subordinated Note due 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

4.8*
 

Subordinated Indenture, dated as of May 7, 2002, among Sonic, the guarantors named there in and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Sonic’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2005).

  4.9*
 

Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 23, 2005, between Sonic and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

10.1*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2004). (1)
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10.2*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, Amended and Restated as of April 22, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Sonic’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003). (1)

10.3*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Amended and Restated as of May 8, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15
to the 2002 Annual Report). (1)

10.4*  
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan, Amended and Restated as of October 23, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the 2002 Annual Report). (1)

10.5*  
 

FirstAmerica Automotive, Inc. 1997 Stock Option Plan, Amended and Restated as of December 10, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to Sonic’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-95791)). (1)

  10.6*
 

Employment Agreement dated November 4, 2004 between Sonic and Jeffrey C. Rachor (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the 2004
Annual Report). (1)

  10.7*
 

Employment Agreement dated December 27, 2004 between Sonic and Mark J. Iuppenlatz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the
2004 Annual Report). (1)

  10.8*
 

Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2005 Formula Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 27, 2005). (1)

  10.9*
 

Purchased call option confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.10*
 

Purchased call option confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.11*
 

Warrant confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.12*
 

Warrant confirmation, dated November 18, 2005, between Sonic and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the November 2005 Form 8-K).

  10.13*
 

Employment Agreement dated January 30, 2006 between Sonic and Mr. David P. Cosper (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Sonic’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006 (the “March 2006 Form 10-Q”)). (1)

10.14*

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006 (the “Credit Agreement”), among Sonic; the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein; Bank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Lender and L/C Issuer; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Syndication Agent and Lender, Toyota
Motor Credit Corporation, as Documentation Agent and Lender; and BMW Financial Services NA, LLC, Carolina First Bank, Comerica Bank,
Fifth Third Bank, General Electric Capital Corporation, KeyBank National Association, Nissan Motor Acceptance Corporation, Sovereign
Bank, SunTrust Bank, Wachovia Bank, National Association and World Omni Financial Corp., each as a Lender and, collectively, the
“Lenders” (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.15*
 

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Bank of America, N.A.,
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.16*
 

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).
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10.17*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Toyota Motor Credit
Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.18*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of BMW Financial
Services NA, LLC, pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.19*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Carolina First Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.20*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Comerica Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.21*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Fifth Third Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.22*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of General Electric
Capital Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.23*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of KeyBank National
Association pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.24*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Nissan Motor
Acceptance Corporation pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.25*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Sovereign Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.26*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of SunTrust Bank
pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.27*
  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of Wachovia Bank,
National Association, pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.28*

  

Promissory Note, dated February 17, 2006, executed by Sonic and the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein in favor of World Omni Financial
Corp. pursuant to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.29*

  

Security Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the March 2006 Form 10-
Q).

10.30*
  

Company Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, as Guarantor, to Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent
for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.31*

  

Subsidiary Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein, as Guarantors, to Bank of
America, N.A, as Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the March
2006 Form 10-Q).
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10.32*
  

Securities Pledge Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2006, by Sonic, the subsidiaries of Sonic named therein and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the March 2006 Form 10-Q).

10.33   Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement. (1)

10.34   Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (1)

21.1    Subsidiaries of Sonic.

23.1    Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

31.1    Certification of Mr. David P. Cosper pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2    Certification of Mr. O. Bruton Smith pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1    Certification of Mr. David P. Cosper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2    Certification of Mr. O. Bruton Smith pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed Previously
 
(1) Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 
 



Exhibit 10.33
 

FORM
SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
 

PERFORMANCE-BASED
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

 
This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement is entered into as of <Date Granted> (the “Grant Date”) between SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC., a Delaware corporation (the

“Company”), and <Name> (the “Recipient”).
 

WHEREAS, the Company has established the Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), pursuant to which the Company may, from time to time,
make grants of restricted stock units (“Restricted Stock Units”) to eligible employees and other individuals providing services to the Company and its Subsidiaries (as defined
in the Plan);
 

WHEREAS, in consideration for the Recipient’s service to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, the Company has determined to grant the Recipient a certain number of
Restricted Stock Units representing the contingent right to receive a corresponding number of shares of the Company’s Common Class A Stock, par value $.01 per share (the
“Common Stock”), pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, the grant of Restricted Stock Units also is in consideration for and conditioned upon the Recipient entering into the Restrictive Covenants and
Confidentiality Agreement that accompanies this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (unless such Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement was previously executed
and delivered to the Company in connection with a prior stock incentive award).
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows:
 

1. Grant of Restricted Stock Units. In consideration for the Recipient’s service to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries and subject to the terms and conditions set
forth in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and the Plan, the Company hereby grants to the Recipient              (            ) Restricted Stock Units (the “Target Grant”). As
used hereinafter, the term “Restricted Stock Units” shall refer to the Target Grant or the Adjusted Grant (defined in Section 2 below), as applicable.

 
This grant of Restricted Stock Units also is subject to the Recipient’s entering into the accompanying Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement. If the

Recipient has previously executed and delivered to the Company the same Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement in connection with a prior stock incentive
award, the Recipient shall be deemed to have satisfied such condition with respect to this grant of Restricted Stock Units.

 
2. Performance Conditions. If [insert performance conditions], the Target Grant shall be immediately and automatically forfeited in its entirety and the Recipient

shall not have any further interest in such Restricted Stock Units. If [insert performance conditions], then the number of Restricted Stock Units subject to this Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement shall be adjusted [describe adjustment] (the “Adjusted Grant”).

 
3. Vesting Conditions. Subject to Section 2 above, the Restricted Stock Units shall vest [insert vesting schedule], except as otherwise provided below or elsewhere

in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. [Describe effect of “Termination of Service”]



4. Settlement of Restricted Stock Units. Upon meeting the vesting conditions in Section 3 above, the number of Restricted Stock Units that have become so vested
shall be settled and paid in the form of an equivalent number of shares of Common Stock within thirty-one (31) days after the date of such vesting event; provided,
however, in the event this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement provides for a deferral of compensation under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”), and settlement of the Restricted Stock Units is triggered by the Recipient’s separation from service (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code),
payment of such shares of Common Stock shall not be made until the expiration of six full calendar months following such separation from service unless earlier payment
would comply with Section 409A of the Code.

 
5. Dividend Equivalents. If the Board of Directors of the Company declares a cash dividend with respect to the Common Stock, the Recipient shall be credited for

each outstanding Restricted Stock Unit held by the Recipient on the record date with an amount of cash equal to the dividend paid with respect to a share of Common
Stock; provided, however, that such cash dividend equivalents that are credited during a calendar year shall be accumulated and then paid to the Recipient in cash by no
later than March 15 of the following year; and provided further, that cash dividend equivalents shall be paid only with respect to the number of unvested Restricted Stock
Units that remain outstanding following the determination of the extent to which the performance conditions in Section 2 have been satisfied.

 
6. No Rights as Stockholder Prior to Settlement. The Recipient shall have no rights as a stockholder of the Company with respect to any shares of Common Stock

represented by the Restricted Stock Units until the Recipient shall have become the holder of record of such Common Stock. Except as otherwise provided in this
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, no adjustments shall be made for distributions (whether in cash, units, securities or other property) by the Company or other rights for
which the record date is prior to the date that the Recipient shall have become the holder of record of such shares of Common Stock.

 
7. Restrictions on Transferability. The Recipient may not sell, assign, convey, pledge, exchange, hypothecate, alienate or otherwise dispose of or transfer the

Restricted Stock Units in any manner. No assignment, pledge or transfer of the Restricted Stock Units, or of the rights represented thereby, whether voluntary or
involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall be effective; but immediately upon any such attempt to assign, pledge or otherwise transfer the Restricted Stock Units,
the Restricted Stock Units shall be forfeited.

 
8. Restrictive Covenants. In the event that the Company determines that the Recipient has violated the terms of any secrecy, confidentiality, noncompetition, no-

solicit and/or no-hire covenants or clauses contained in any agreement with the Company and/or one or more Subsidiaries, including but not limited to any Restrictive
Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement (even if such covenants, clauses or agreements are held invalid or unenforceable), then (a) any unvested Restricted Stock Units
and any shares of Common Stock arising from vested Restricted Stock Units that have not yet been delivered to the Recipient shall be immediately and automatically
forfeited and rescinded upon such violation and (b) if any other Restricted Stock Units have vested after such violation or within two (2) years prior to such violation, then
(without regard to tax consequences) the Recipient agrees to return the corresponding shares of Common Stock to the Company or if the Recipient has sold or disposed of
such shares, the Recipient agrees to immediately pay the Company an amount equal to the fair market value of such shares at the time of such sale or disposition. The
Company and its Subsidiaries shall have the right to offset such amount against any amounts otherwise owed to the Recipient by the Company or a Subsidiary (including,
but not limited to, wages or other compensation, vacation pay, fringe benefits or pursuant to any other compensatory arrangement). Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing
under this Section shall limit the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ remedies under any such agreements containing secrecy, confidentiality, noncompetition, no-solicit and/or
no-hire covenants or clauses or otherwise against the Recipient for violations thereof.

 
9. Forfeiture Procedures. In the event of any forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units, such forfeiture shall be automatic and without further act or deed by the

Recipient. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if
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requested by the Company (or its agent), the Recipient shall execute such documents (including, without limitation, a power of attorney in favor of the Company) and take
such other action deemed necessary or desirable by the Company to evidence such forfeiture.

 
10. Tax Matters (Withholding). The Recipient shall pay or make provision for payment to the Company or its Subsidiary, as applicable, through payroll or other

withholding (which withholding the Recipient hereby authorizes) or other means acceptable to the Company or its Subsidiary and permissible under the Plan, the amount
necessary to satisfy any federal, state or local withholding requirements applicable to any taxable event arising in connection with the Restricted Stock Units (including,
without limitation, vesting events and the payment of dividend equivalents). If other satisfactory arrangements have not been made by the Recipient, the Company may
retain from the Common Stock otherwise deliverable to the Recipient upon vesting of the Restricted Stock Units such number of shares with a fair market value equal to
the required withholding amount. The determination of the withholding amounts due shall be made by the Company and its Subsidiaries and shall be binding upon the
Recipient. The Company shall not be required to deliver such shares of Common Stock unless the Recipient has made acceptable arrangements to satisfy any such
withholding requirements. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to impose on the Company a duty to withhold where applicable law does not require such
withholding.

 
THE RECIPIENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE RECIPIENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR AND IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH THE RECIPIENT’S OWN

TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THE RECIPIENT THAT MAY ARISE IN CONNECTION WITH THE RESTRICTED STOCK
UNITS.

 
11. Adjustments; Change in Control. The Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement may be subject to adjustment as

provided in the Plan in the event of a merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, combination of shares, stock dividend, stock split, or other relevant changes
in the Company’s capital structure. In addition, the Restricted Stock Units may become fully vested in connection with a “Change in Control” (as defined in the Plan, but,
to the extent applicable, only if such “Change in Control” also constitutes a “change in control event” under Section 409A of the Code).

 
The existence of the Restricted Stock Units shall not affect in any way the authority of the Company and its stockholders to exercise their corporate rights and

powers, including, but not by way of limitation, the right of the Company to authorize any adjustment, reclassification, reorganization, or other change in its capital or
business structure, any merger or consolidation of the Company, the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the issuance of securities with preference ahead of or
affecting the Common Stock, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its business or assets.

 
12. Nature of Arrangement. The Recipient’s rights under this Restricted Stock Agreement shall be only contractual in nature unsecured by any assets of the

Company or any Subsidiary. The Company shall not be required to segregate any specific funds, assets or other property with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. To the
extent that this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement provides for a deferral of compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, this Restricted Stock Agreement
is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code and shall be interpreted consistent with such intent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company does not guarantee
to the Recipient that this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement complies with or is exempt from Section 409A, and shall not indemnify or hold harmless the Recipient with
respect to any tax consequences that arise from any such failure under Section 409A of the Code.

 
13. Securities Laws. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary or in the Plan, the Company shall be under no obligation to issue any shares of Common

Stock to the Recipient pursuant to this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement unless and until the Company has determined that such issuance is either exempt from
registration, or is registered, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is either exempt from registration and qualification, or is registered or qualified, as
applicable, under all applicable
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state securities or “blue sky” laws. Nothing in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall be construed to obligate the Company at any time to file or maintain a
registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or to effect similar compliance under any applicable state laws with respect to the Common Stock that
may be issued pursuant to this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. The Company may require that the Recipient make such representations and agreements and furnish such
information as the Company deems appropriate to assure compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

 
14. Resolution of Disputes; Interpretation. Any question of interpretation, dispute or disagreement that arises under, or as a result of, this Restricted Stock Unit

Agreement shall be determined by the Committee in its absolute and uncontrolled discretion, and any such determination or other interpretation by the Committee pursuant
to this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall be final, binding and conclusive on all parties affected thereby.

 
15. Miscellaneous.

 
(a) Binding on Successors and Representatives. Subject to the transfer restrictions applicable to the Recipient hereunder and other conditions hereof, this

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company and the Recipient’s heirs, executors,
administrators and personal representatives; and the parties agree, for themselves and their successors, representatives and assigns, to execute any instrument which
may be necessary legally to effect the terms and conditions of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.

 
(b) No Employment Rights. Nothing contained in this Restricted Stock Agreement shall confer upon the Recipient any right to continue in the employ or

service of the Company or any Subsidiary nor interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or a Subsidiary to terminate the Recipient’s employment
by, or performance of services for, the Company or Subsidiary at any time.

 
(c) Entire Agreement. This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement together with the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and supersedes any previous agreement, whether written or oral, with respect thereto. This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement has
been entered into in compliance with the terms of the Plan; wherever a conflict may arise between the terms of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and the terms
of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control.

 
(d) Amendment. Except as otherwise provided below or in the Plan, neither this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement nor any of the terms and conditions herein

set forth may be altered or amended orally, and any such alteration or amendment shall be effective only when reduced to writing and signed by each of the parties
or their respective successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent applicable, it is intended that this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement comply
with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. The Company or the Committee may, without obtaining the Recipient’s written consent, amend this Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement in any respect either deems necessary or advisable to comply with Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations and guidance
thereunder and/or to prevent this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement from being subject to Section 409A of the Code.

 
(e) Construction of Terms and Definitions. Any reference herein to the singular or plural shall be construed as plural or singular whenever the context

requires. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

(f) Notices. All notices required and permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (i) if delivered by hand,
when so delivered; (ii) if sent by Federal Express or other overnight express service, one (1) business day after delivery to such service; or (iii) if mailed by certified
or registered mail, return receipt requested, three (3) days after delivery to the post

 
4



office. In each case, all notices shall be addressed to the intended recipient as follows or at such other address as is provided by either party by notice to the other:
 

If to the Company:   With a copy to:

Sonic Automotive, Inc.   Sonic Automotive, Inc.
Attention: Chief Financial Officer   Attention: General Counsel
6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109   6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109
Charlotte, NC 28212   Charlotte, NC 28212

If to the Recipient:    

The Recipient’s address appearing in the Company’s records.
  

(g) Governing Law. This Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of North Carolina,
without regard to its principles of conflict of laws. The parties agree that any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or related to this Restricted Stock Unit
Agreement shall be instituted only in the state or federal courts sitting in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina.

 
(h) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement shall not affect the other provisions

hereof, and the Committee may elect in its discretion to construe such invalid or unenforceable provision in a manner which conforms to applicable law or as if such
provision was omitted.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement as of the day and year first written above.

 
SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.    RECIPIENT: <NAME>

By:        (SEAL)

Title:         
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Exhibit 10.34
 

FORM
SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
 

PERFORMANCE-BASED
RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT

 
This Restricted Stock Agreement is entered into as of <Date Granted> (the “Grant Date”) between SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC., a Delaware corporation (the

“Company”), and <Name> (the “Recipient”).
 

WHEREAS, the Company has established the Sonic Automotive, Inc. 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), pursuant to which the Company may, from time to time,
make grants of restricted shares of the Company’s Common Class A Stock, par value $.01 per share (the “Common Stock”), to eligible employees and other individuals
providing services to the Company and its Subsidiaries (as defined in the Plan);
 

WHEREAS, in consideration for the Recipient’s service to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries, the Company has determined to grant the Recipient restricted shares of
the Company’s Common Stock pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Restricted Stock Agreement; and
 

WHEREAS, the grant of restricted Common Stock also is in consideration for and conditioned upon the Recipient entering into the Restrictive Covenants and
Confidentiality Agreement that accompanies this Restricted Stock Agreement (unless such Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement was previously executed and
delivered to the Company in connection with a prior stock incentive award).
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises, mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set forth, the parties hereby agree as follows:
 

1. Grant of Restricted Stock. In consideration for the Recipient’s service to the Company and/or its Subsidiaries and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in
this Restricted Stock Agreement and the Plan, the Company hereby grants to the Recipient              (            ) restricted shares of Common Stock (the “Target Grant”). As
used in this Restricted Stock Agreement, the term “Restricted Stock” shall refer to the Target Grant or the Adjusted Grant (defined in Section 2 below), as applicable.

 
This grant of Restricted Stock also is subject to the Recipient’s entering into the accompanying Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement. If the

Recipient has previously executed and delivered to the Company the same Restrictive Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement in connection with a prior stock incentive
award, the Recipient shall be deemed to have satisfied such condition with respect to this grant of Restricted Stock.

 
2. Performance Conditions. If [insert performance conditions], the Target Grant shall be immediately and automatically forfeited in its entirety and the Recipient

shall not have any further interest in such shares of Common Stock. If [insert performance conditions], then the number of restricted shares of Common Stock subject to
this Restricted Stock Agreement shall be adjusted [describe adjustment] (the “Adjusted Grant”).

 
3. Vesting Conditions. Subject to Section 2 above, the Restricted Stock shall vest [insert vesting schedule], except as otherwise provided below or elsewhere in this

Restricted Stock Agreement. [Describe effect of “Termination of Service”]



4. Restrictions on Transferability. The Recipient may not sell, assign, convey, pledge, exchange, hypothecate, alienate or otherwise dispose of or transfer the
Restricted Stock in any manner to the extent it remains unvested. No assignment, pledge or transfer of the Restricted Stock, or of the rights represented thereby, whether
voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall be effective; but immediately upon any such attempt to assign, pledge or otherwise transfer the Restricted
Stock, the Restricted Stock shall be forfeited.

 
5. Restrictive Covenants. In the event that the Company determines that the Recipient has violated the terms of any secrecy, confidentiality, noncompetition, no-

solicit and/or no-hire covenants or clauses contained in any agreement with the Company and/or one or more Subsidiaries, including but not limited to any Restrictive
Covenants and Confidentiality Agreement (even if such covenants, clauses or agreements are held invalid or unenforceable), then (a) any unvested shares of Restricted
Stock and any vested shares of Common Stock that have not yet been delivered to the Recipient shall be immediately and automatically forfeited and rescinded upon such
violation and (b) if any other shares of Restricted Stock have vested after such violation or within two (2) years prior to such violation, then (without regard to tax
consequences) the Recipient agrees to return such shares of Common Stock to the Company or if the Recipient has sold or disposed of such shares, the Recipient agrees to
immediately pay the Company an amount equal to the fair market value of such shares at the time of such sale or disposition. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall have
the right to offset such amount against any amounts otherwise owed to the Recipient by the Company or a Subsidiary (including, but not limited to, wages or other
compensation, vacation pay, fringe benefits or pursuant to any other compensatory arrangement). Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing under this Section shall limit the
Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ remedies under any such agreements containing secrecy, confidentiality, noncompetition, no-solicit and/or no-hire covenants or clauses or
otherwise against the Recipient for violations thereof.

 
6. Forfeiture Procedures. In the event of any forfeiture of the Restricted Stock, such forfeiture shall be automatic and without further act or deed by the Recipient.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if requested by the Company (or its agent), the Recipient shall execute such documents (including, without limitation, a power of attorney
in favor of the Company) and take such other action deemed necessary or desirable by the Company to evidence such forfeiture.

 
7. Tax Matters (Withholding and 83(b) Elections). The Recipient shall pay or make provision for payment to the Company or its Subsidiary, as applicable, through

payroll or other withholding (which withholding the Recipient hereby authorizes) or other means acceptable to the Company or its Subsidiary and permissible under the
Plan, the amount necessary to satisfy any federal, state or local withholding requirements applicable to any taxable event arising in connection with the Restricted Stock
(including, without limitation, vesting events and the payment of dividends). If other satisfactory arrangements have not been made by the Recipient, the Company may
retain from the Common Stock otherwise deliverable to the Recipient upon vesting of the Restricted Stock such number of shares with a fair market value equal to the
required withholding amount. The determination of the withholding amounts due shall be made by the Company and its Subsidiaries and shall be binding upon the
Recipient. The Company shall not be required to deliver such shares of Common Stock unless the Recipient has made acceptable arrangements to satisfy any such
withholding requirements. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to impose on the Company a duty to withhold where applicable law does not require such
withholding.

 
THE RECIPIENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE RECIPIENT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR AND IS ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH THE RECIPIENT’S OWN

TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THE RECIPIENT THAT MAY ARISE IN CONNECTION WITH THE RESTRICTED STOCK,
INCLUDING THE DECISION TO MAKE AND TIMELY FILE, AND THE CONSEQUENCES OF, ANY ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b) OF THE INTERNAL
REVENUE CODE. THE RECIPIENT ALSO SHALL TIMELY DELIVER A COPY OF ANY SUCH SECTION 83(b) FILING TO THE COMPANY.
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8. Book-Entry Form. The shares of Restricted Stock generally shall be evidenced in book-entry or similar form and maintained by or on behalf of the Company in
such form. In such case, no stock certificates shall be issued and the applicable restrictions will be noted in the records of the Company and its transfer agent.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the discretion of the Company, a certificate or certificates representing the Restricted Stock may be registered in the name of the
Recipient and held in escrow or other custody by or on behalf of the Company. In either case, each certificate or book-entry record may bear such legends as the Company
deems appropriate to reflect the applicable terms and conditions upon the Restricted Stock.

 
9. Rights as Shareholder. Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting and transfer restrictions that apply to the Restricted Stock, the Recipient generally shall otherwise

have the beneficial ownership of the Restricted Stock and shall be entitled to exercise the rights and privileges of a shareholder with respect to the Restricted Stock,
including the right to receive dividends (if any) paid with respect to such shares and the right to vote such shares; provided, however, that (a) any dividend payments will
be made no later than the end of the calendar year in which the dividends are paid to shareholders of the Common Stock or, if later, the fifteenth day of the third month
following the date the dividends are paid to shareholders of the Common Stock; and (b) with respect to any shares of Common Stock that arise from dividends or
adjustments under Section 10 with respect to the Restricted Stock, the Recipient shall have the same rights and privileges, and shall be subject to the same restrictions, that
apply to the Restricted Stock under this Restricted Stock Agreement and the Plan.

 
10. Adjustments; Change in Control. The Restricted Stock granted pursuant to this Restricted Stock Agreement may be subject to adjustment as provided in the

Plan in the event of a merger, consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, combination of shares, stock dividend, stock split, or other relevant changes in the
Company’s capital structure. In addition, the Restricted Stock may become fully vested in connection with a “Change in Control” (as defined in the Plan).

 
The existence of the Restricted Stock shall not affect in any way the authority of the Company and its stockholders to exercise their corporate rights and powers,

including, but not by way of limitation, the right of the Company to authorize any adjustment, reclassification, reorganization, or other change in its capital or business
structure, any merger or consolidation of the Company, the dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the issuance of securities with preference ahead of or affecting the
Common Stock, or any sale or transfer of all or any part of its business or assets.

 
11. Securities Laws. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary or in the Plan, the Company shall be under no obligation to issue any shares of Common

Stock to the Recipient pursuant to this Restricted Stock Agreement unless and until the Company has determined that such issuance is either exempt from registration, or
is registered, under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is either exempt from registration and qualification, or is registered or qualified, as applicable, under all
applicable state securities or “blue sky” laws. Nothing in this Restricted Stock Agreement shall be construed to obligate the Company at any time to file or maintain a
registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or to effect similar compliance under any applicable state laws with respect to the Common Stock that
may be issued pursuant to this Restricted Stock Agreement. The Company may require that the Recipient make such representations and agreements and furnish such
information as the Company deems appropriate to assure compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

 
12. Resolution of Disputes; Interpretation. Any question of interpretation, dispute or disagreement that arises under, or as a result of, this Restricted Stock

Agreement shall be determined by the Committee in its absolute and uncontrolled discretion, and any such determination or other interpretation by the Committee pursuant
to this Restricted Stock Agreement shall be final, binding and conclusive on all parties affected thereby.

 
13. Miscellaneous.

 
(a) Binding on Successors and Representatives. Subject to the transfer restrictions applicable to the Recipient hereunder and other conditions hereof, this

Restricted Stock Agreement shall be binding
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upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company and the Recipient’s heirs, executors, administrators and personal representatives; and the
parties agree, for themselves and their successors, representatives and assigns, to execute any instrument which may be necessary legally to effect the terms and
conditions of this Restricted Stock Agreement.

 
(b) No Employment Rights. Nothing contained in this Restricted Stock Agreement shall confer upon the Recipient any right to continue in the employ or

service of the Company or any Subsidiary nor interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or a Subsidiary to terminate the Recipient’s employment
by, or performance of services for, the Company or Subsidiary at any time.

 
(c) Entire Agreement. This Restricted Stock Agreement together with the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the Restricted

Stock Agreement and supersedes any previous agreement, whether written or oral, with respect thereto. This Restricted Stock Agreement has been entered into in
compliance with the terms of the Plan; wherever a conflict may arise between the terms of this Restricted Stock Agreement and the terms of the Plan, the terms of
the Plan shall control.

 
(d) Amendment. Except as otherwise provided below or in the Plan, neither this Restricted Stock Agreement nor any of the terms and conditions herein set

forth may be altered or amended orally, and any such alteration or amendment shall be effective only when reduced to writing and signed by each of the parties or
their respective successors and assigns. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent applicable, it is intended that this Restricted Stock Agreement comply with the
provisions of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The Company or the Committee may, without obtaining the
Recipient’s written consent, amend this Restricted Stock Agreement in any respect either deems necessary or advisable to comply with Section 409A of the Code
and applicable regulations and guidance thereunder and/or to prevent this Restricted Stock Agreement from being subject to Section 409A of the Code.

 
(e) Construction of Terms and Definitions. Any reference herein to the singular or plural shall be construed as plural or singular whenever the context

requires. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Restricted Stock Agreement shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan.
 

(f) Notices. All notices required and permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (i) if delivered by hand,
when so delivered; (ii) if sent by Federal Express or other overnight express service, one (1) business day after delivery to such service; or (iii) if mailed by certified
or registered mail, return receipt requested, three (3) days after delivery to the post office. In each case, all notices shall be addressed to the intended recipient as
follows or at such other address as is provided by either party by notice to the other:

  
If to the Company:   With a copy to:

Sonic Automotive, Inc.   Sonic Automotive, Inc.
Attention: Chief Financial Officer   Attention: General Counsel
6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109   6415 Idlewild Road, Suite 109
Charlotte, NC 28212   Charlotte, NC 28212

If to the Recipient:    

The Recipient’s address appearing in the Company’s records.
 

(g) Governing Law. This Restricted Stock Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of North Carolina,
without regard to its principles of conflict of laws. The parties agree that any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or related to this Restricted Stock Agreement
shall be instituted only in the state or federal courts sitting in Mecklenburg County, North Carolina.
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(h) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any particular provision of this Restricted Stock Agreement shall not affect the other provisions hereof,
and the Committee may elect in its discretion to construe such invalid or unenforceable provision in a manner which conforms to applicable law or as if such
provision was omitted.

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Restricted Stock Agreement as of the day and year first written above.

 
SONIC AUTOMOTIVE, INC.    RECIPIENT: <NAME>

By:        (SEAL)

Title:         
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Exhibit 21.1
 

Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

ADI of the Southeast LLC   South Carolina    

AnTrev, LLC   North Carolina    

Arngar, Inc.    North Carolina   Arnold Palmer Cadillac

Autobahn, Inc.    California   Autobahn Motors

Avalon Ford, Inc.    Delaware    

Capitol Chevrolet and Imports, Inc.  
  

Alabama
  

Capitol Chevrolet
Capitol Hyundai

Casa Ford of Houston, Inc.    Texas    

Cobb Pontiac-Cadillac, Inc.  
  

Alabama
  

Classic Cadillac
Classic Cadillac Buick

Cornerstone Acceptance Corporation   Florida   Cornerstone Acceptance Corporation

FAA Auto Factory, Inc.    California    

FAA Beverly Hills, Inc.    California   Beverly Hills BMW

FAA Capitol F, Inc.    California    

FAA Capitol N, Inc.    California   Capitol Nissan

FAA Concord H, Inc.    California   Concord Honda

FAA Concord N, Inc.    California    

FAA Concord T, Inc.  
  

California
  

Concord Toyota
Concord Scion

FAA Dublin N, Inc.    California   Dublin Nissan

FAA Dublin VWD, Inc.    California   Dublin Volkswagen

FAA Holding Corp.    California    

FAA Las Vegas H, Inc.    Nevada   Honda West

FAA Marin F, Inc.    California    

FAA Marin LR, Inc.    California    

FAA Poway G, Inc.    California    

FAA Poway H, Inc.    California   Poway Honda

FAA Poway T, Inc.  
  

California
  

Poway Toyota
Poway Scion

FAA San Bruno, Inc.  
  

California
  

Melody Toyota
Melody Scion

FAA Santa Monica V, Inc.    California   Volvo of Santa Monica

FAA Serramonte, Inc.  

  

California

  

Serramonte Auto Plaza
Dodge of Serramonte
Serramonte Mitsubishi
Serramonte Nissan
Serramonte Chrysler Jeep Dodge



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

FAA Serramonte H, Inc.    California   Honda of Serramonte

FAA Serramonte L, Inc.  
  

California
  

Lexus of Serramonte
Lexus of Marin

FAA Stevens Creek, Inc.    California   Stevens Creek Nissan

FAA Torrance CPJ, Inc.    California   South Bay Chrysler Jeep Dodge

FirstAmerica Automotive, Inc.    Delaware    

Fort Mill Ford, Inc.    South Carolina    

Fort Myers Collision Center, LLC   Florida    

Franciscan Motors, Inc.    California   Acura of Serramonte

Frank Parra Autoplex, Inc.    Texas    

Freedom Ford, Inc.    Florida    

Frontier Oldsmobile-Cadillac, Inc.    North Carolina    

HMC Finance Alabama, Inc.    Alabama    

Kramer Motors Incorporated   California   Honda of Santa Monica

L Dealership Group, Inc.    Texas    

Marcus David Corporation

  

North Carolina

  

Town and Country Toyota
Town and Country Toyota
Certified Used Cars
Town and Country Toyota-Scion

Massey Cadillac, Inc.    Tennessee   Massey Cadillac

Massey Cadillac, Inc.    Texas    

Mountain States Motors Co., Inc.    Colorado    

Ontario L, LLC   California   Crown Lexus

Philpott Motors, Ltd.  

  

Texas

  

Philpott Ford
Philpott Toyota
Philpott Motors Hyundai

Riverside Nissan, Inc.    Oklahoma    

Royal Motor Company, Inc.    Alabama    

SAI AL HC1, Inc.    Alabama    

SAI AL HC2, Inc.    Alabama   Tom Williams Collision Center

SAI FL HC1, Inc.    Florida    

SAI FL HC2, Inc.    Florida    

SAI FL HC3, Inc.    Florida    

SAI FL HC4, Inc.    Florida    

SAI FL HC5, Inc.    Florida    

SAI FL HC6, Inc.    Florida    

SAI GA HC1, LP   Georgia    



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

SAI MD HC1, Inc.    Maryland    

SAI OH HC1, Inc.    Ohio    

SAI OK HC1, Inc.    Oklahoma    

SAI TN HC1, LLC   Tennessee    

SAI TN HC2, LLC   Tennessee    

Santa Clara Imported Cars, Inc.  
  

California
  

Honda of Stevens Creek
Stevens Creek Used Cars

Sonic Automotive-Clearwater, Inc.  
  

Florida
  

Clearwater Toyota
Clearwater Scion

Sonic Automotive F&I, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic Automotive Management Company, Inc.    North Carolina    

Sonic Automotive of Chattanooga, LLC   Tennessee   BMW of Chattanooga

Sonic Automotive of Georgia, Inc.    Georgia    

Sonic Automotive of Nashville, LLC

  

Tennessee

  

BMW of Nashville
MINI of Nashville
Sonic Automotive Body Shop

Sonic Automotive of Nevada, Inc.    Nevada    

Sonic Automotive of Tennessee, Inc.    Tennessee    

Sonic Automotive of Texas, L.P.    Texas   Lone Star Ford

Sonic Automotive Servicing Company, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic Automotive Support, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic Automotive West, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic Automotive-1400 Automall Drive,
Columbus, Inc.  

  
Ohio

  

Hatfield Hyundai
Hatfield Isuzu
Hatfield Subaru

Sonic Automotive-1455 Automall Drive,
Columbus, Inc.  

  
Ohio

  

Volkswagen West
Hatfield Kia
Hatfield Volkswagen

Sonic Automotive-1495 Automall Drive,
Columbus, Inc.  

  Ohio   

 

Sonic Automotive-1500 Automall Drive,
Columbus, Inc.  

  
Ohio

  

Toyota West
Hatfield Automall
Scion West

Sonic Automotive—1720 Mason Ave., DB, Inc.    Florida    

Sonic Automotive—1720 Mason Ave., DB, LLC   Florida   Mercedes-Benz of Daytona Beach

Sonic Automotive 2424 Laurens Rd.,
Greenville, Inc.  

  South Carolina   

 



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

Sonic Automotive—2490 South Lee
Highway, LLC   

 
Tennessee   

 

Sonic Automotive 2752 Laurens Rd.,
Greenville, Inc.  

  South Carolina   
Century BMW
Century MINI

Sonic Automotive—3401 N. Main, TX, L.P.  
  

Texas
  

Ron Craft Chevrolet Cadillac
Baytown Auto Collision Center

Sonic Automotive-3700 West Broad Street, Columbus, Inc.  

  Ohio   Trader Bud’s Westside Chrysler Jeep

Sonic Automotive-4000 West Broad Street, Columbus, Inc.  

  Ohio   Trader Bud’s Westside Dodge

Sonic Automotive—4701 I-10 East, TX, L.P.    Texas   Baytown Ford

Sonic Automotive—5221 I-10 East, TX, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic Automotive 5260 Peachtree
Industrial Blvd., LLC

  
Georgia

  

Dyer and Dyer Volvo
(Chamblee location)
Volvo at Gwinnett Place

Sonic Automotive-5585 Peachtree
Industrial Blvd., LLC

  Georgia   

 

Sonic Automotive—6008 N. Dale Mabry,
FL, Inc.  

  Florida   Volvo of Tampa

Sonic Automotive—9103 E. Independence,
NC, LLC

  North Carolina   Infiniti of Charlotte

Sonic Advantage PA, L.P

  

Texas

  

Performance Auto Leasing
Audi West Houston
Porsche of West Houston

Sonic Agency, Inc.    Michigan    

Sonic—Ann Arbor Imports, Inc.  

  

Michigan

  

Mercedes-Benz of Ann Arbor
BMW of Ann Arbor

Sonic—Bethany H, Inc.  
  

Oklahoma
  

Steve Bailey Honda
Steve Bailey Pre-Owned Super Center

Sonic—Buena Park H, Inc.    California   Buena Park Honda

Sonic—Cadillac D, L.P.    Texas   Massey Cadillac

Sonic—Calabasas A, Inc.    California   Acura 101 West

Sonic—Calabasas V, Inc.    California    

Sonic—Camp Ford, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic—Capitol Cadillac, Inc.  
  

Michigan
  

Capitol Cadillac
Capitol Hummer

Sonic—Capitol Imports, Inc.  
  

South Carolina
  

Capitol Imports
Capitol Hyundai

Sonic—Carrollton V, L.P.    Texas    



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

Sonic—Carson F, Inc.    California   Don Kott Ford

Sonic—Carson LM, Inc.    California   Don Kott Lincoln Mercury

Sonic—Chattanooga D East, LLC   Tennessee    

Sonic—Clear Lake Volkswagen, L.P.   Texas   Clear Lake Volkswagen

Sonic—Clear Lake N, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic—Coast Cadillac, Inc.    California   Coast Cadillac

Sonic—Crest Cadillac, LLC
  

Tennessee
  

Crest Cadillac
Crest Hummer

Sonic—Crest H, LLC   Tennessee   Crest Honda

Sonic—Denver T, Inc.  
  

Colorado
  

Mountain States Toyota
Mountain States Toyota and Scion

Sonic—Denver Volkswagen, Inc.    Colorado    

Sonic Development, LLC   North Carolina    

Sonic Divisional Operations, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic—Downey Cadillac, Inc.    California   Massey Cadillac

Sonic—Englewood M, Inc.    Colorado    

Sonic eStore, Inc.    North Carolina    

Sonic FFC 1, Inc.    Delaware    

Sonic FFC 2, Inc.    Delaware    

Sonic FFC 3, Inc.    Delaware    

Sonic—FM Automotive, LLC   Florida   Mercedes-Benz of Fort Myers

Sonic—FM, Inc.    Florida   BMW of Fort Myers

Sonic—FM VW, Inc.    Florida   Volkswagen of Fort Myers

Sonic—Fort Mill Chrysler Jeep, Inc.    South Carolina    

Sonic—Fort Mill Dodge, Inc.    South Carolina    

Sonic—Fort Worth T, L.P.  
  

Texas
  

Toyota of Fort Worth
Scion of Fort Worth

Sonic—Frank Parra Autoplex, L.P.  

  

Texas

  

Frank Parra Chevrolet
Frank Parra Chrysler Jeep
Frank Parra Chrysler Jeep Dodge

Sonic Fremont, Inc.  

  

California

  

Jaguar Fremont
Land Rover Fremont
Volvo Fremont

Sonic—Freeland, Inc.    Florida   Honda of Fort Myers

Sonic—Global Imports, L.P.  
  

Georgia
  

Global Imports [BMW]
Global Imports MINI

Sonic—Harbor City H, Inc.    California   Carson Honda



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

Sonic Houston JLR, LP
  

Texas
  

Jaguar Houston North
Land Rover Houston North

Sonic Houston LR, L.P   Texas   Land Rover Houston

Sonic—Houston V, L.P   Texas   Volvo of Houston

Sonic—Integrity Dodge LV, LLC   Nevada    

Sonic—Jersey Village Volkswagen, L.P.  
  

Texas
  

Momentum Volkswagen of
Jersey Village

Sonic—LS, LLC   Delaware    

Sonic—LS Chevrolet, L.P.    Texas   Lone Star Chevrolet

Sonic—Lake Norman Chrysler Jeep, LLC   North Carolina    

Sonic—Lake Norman Dodge, LLC   North Carolina    

Sonic—Las Vegas C East, LLC   Nevada   Cadillac of Las Vegas

Sonic—Las Vegas C West, LLC   Nevada   Cadillac of Las Vegas—West

Sonic—Lloyd Nissan, Inc.    Florida   Lloyd Nissan

Sonic—Lloyd Pontiac—Cadillac, Inc.    Florida   Lloyd Pontiac-Cadillac-GMC

Sonic—Lone Tree Cadillac, Inc.  
  

Colorado
  

Don Massey Cadillac
Don Massey Collision Center

Sonic—Lute Riley, L.P.    Texas   Lute Riley Honda

Sonic—Manhattan Fairfax, Inc.    Virginia   BMW of Fairfax

Sonic—Massey Cadillac, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic—Massey Chevrolet, Inc.    California   Massey Chevrolet

Sonic—Massey Pontiac Buick GMC, Inc.    Colorado    

Sonic—Mesquite Hyundai, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic Momentum B, L.P.  
  

Texas
  

Momentum BMW
Momentum MINI

Sonic Momentum JVP, L.P.  

  

Texas

  

Momentum Jaguar of Houston
Momentum Volvo
Momentum Porsche

Sonic Momentum VWA, L.P.  
  

Texas
  

Momentum Volkswagen
Momentum Audi

Sonic Montgomery B, Inc.    Alabama   BMW of Montgomery

Sonic Nashville M, LLC   Tennessee   Mercedes-Benz of Nashville

Sonic—Newsome Chevrolet World, Inc.    South Carolina   Capitol Chevrolet

Sonic—Newsome of Florence, Inc.  

  

South Carolina

  

Newsome Automotive (Mercedes)
Imports of Florence (BMW)
Newsome Chevrolet

Sonic—North Cadillac, Inc.  
  

Florida
  

Massey Cadillac
Massey Saab of Orlando



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

Sonic—North Charleston, Inc.  
  

South Carolina
  

Altman Lincoln- Mercury
Altman Hyundai

Sonic—North Charleston Dodge, Inc.    South Carolina    

Sonic of Texas, Inc.    Texas    

Sonic Okemos Imports, Inc.    Michigan    

Sonic—Oklahoma T, Inc.  
  

Oklahoma
  

Riverside Toyota
Riverside Scion

Sonic Peachtree Industrial Blvd., L.P.    Georgia    

Sonic—Plymouth Cadillac, Inc.    Michigan   Don Massey Cadillac

Sonic—Reading, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic Resources, Inc.    Nevada    

Sonic—Richardson F, L.P.    Texas   North Central Ford

Sonic-Riverside, Inc.    Oklahoma   Riverside Chevrolet

Sonic—Riverside Auto Factory, Inc.    Oklahoma    

Sonic—Rockville Imports, Inc.  

  

Maryland

  

Rockville Porsche-Audi
Audi of Rockville
Porsche of Rockville

Sonic—Rockville Motors, Inc.    Maryland   Lexus of Rockville

Sonic—Sam White Nissan, L.P.    Texas    

Sonic—Sanford Cadillac, Inc.    Florida   Massey Cadillac of Sanford

Sonic Santa Monica M, Inc.    California   W.I. Simonson

Sonic Santa Monica S, Inc.    California   Santa Monica Subaru

Sonic—Saturn of Silicon Valley, Inc.  
  

California
  

Saturn of Stevens Creek
Saturn of Capitol Expressway

Sonic—Serramonte I, Inc.    California   Infiniti of Serramonte

Sonic—Shottenkirk, Inc.    Florida   Pensacola Honda

Sonic—South Cadillac, Inc.    Florida    

Sonic—Stevens Creek B, Inc.    California   Stevens Creek BMW

Sonic—Stone Mountain T, L.P.  
  

Georgia
  

Stone Mountain Toyota
Stone Mountain Scion

Sonic Tysons Corner H, Inc.    Virginia   Honda of Tysons Corner

Sonic Tysons Corner Infiniti, Inc.    Virginia   Infiniti of Tysons Corner

Sonic—University Park A, L.P.    Texas   University Park Audi

Sonic-Volvo LV, LLC   Nevada   Volvo of Las Vegas

Sonic Walnut Creek M, Inc.    California   Mercedes-Benz of Walnut Creek

Sonic—West Covina T, Inc.  
  

California
  

West Covina Toyota
West Covina Scion



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

Sonic—West Reno Chevrolet, Inc.    Oklahoma   City Chevrolet

Sonic—Williams Cadillac, Inc.    Alabama   Tom Williams Cadillac

Sonic—Williams Imports, Inc.  

  

Alabama

  

Tom Williams Imports
Audi
BMW
Porsche
Land Rover

Sonic—Williams Motors, LLC   Alabama   Tom Williams Lexus

Sonic Wilshire Cadillac, Inc.    California   Lou Ehlers Cadillac

Sonic—2185 Chapman Rd., Chattanooga, LLC   Tennessee   Economy Honda Superstore

Speedway Chevrolet, Inc.    Oklahoma    

SRM Assurance, Ltd.    Cayman Islands    

Stevens Creek Cadillac, Inc.    California   St. Claire Cadillac

Town and Country Ford, Incorporated   North Carolina    

Town and Country Ford of Cleveland, LLC   Tennessee    

Village Imported Cars, Inc.    Maryland   Village Volvo

Windward, Inc.    Hawaii   Honda of Hayward

Wrangler Investments, Inc.  
  

Oklahoma
  

Dub Richardson Toyota
Dub Richardson Scion

Z Management, Inc.    Colorado    

SRE Alabama—2, LLC   Alabama    

SRE Alabama—3, LLC   Alabama    

SRE Alabama—4, LLC   Alabama    

SRE Alabama—5, LLC   Alabama    

SRealEstate Arizona—1, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—2, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—3, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—4, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—5, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—6, LLC   Arizona    

SRealEstate Arizona—7, LLC   Arizona    

SRE California—1, LLC   California    

SRE California—2, LLC   California    

SRE California—3, LLC   California    

SRE California—4, LLC   California    

SRE California—5, LLC   California    



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

SRE California—6, LLC   California    

SRE Colorado—1, LLC   Colorado    

SRE Colorado—2, LLC   Colorado    

SRE Colorado—3, LLC   Colorado    

SRE Florida—1, LLC   Florida    

SRE Florida—2, LLC   Florida    

SRE Florida—3, LLC   Florida    

SRE Georgia—1, L.P.    Georgia    

SRE Georgia—2, L.P.    Georgia    

SRE Georgia—3, L.P.    Georgia    

SRE Holding, LLC   North Carolina    

SRE Maryland—1, LLC   Maryland    

SRE Maryland—2, LLC   Maryland    

SRE Michigan—1, LLC   Michigan    

SRE Michigan—2, LLC   Michigan    

SRE Michigan—3, LLC   Michigan    

SRE Nevada—1, LLC   Nevada    

SRE Nevada—2, LLC   Nevada    

SRE Nevada—3, LLC   Nevada    

SRE Nevada—4, LLC   Nevada    

SRE Nevada—5, LLC   Nevada    

SRE North Carolina—1, LLC   North Carolina    

SRE North Carolina—2, LLC   North Carolina    

SRE North Carolina—3, LLC   North Carolina    

SRE Oklahoma—1, LLC   Oklahoma    

SRE Oklahoma—2, LLC   Oklahoma    

SRE Oklahoma—3, LLC   Oklahoma    

SRE Oklahoma—4, LLC   Oklahoma    

SRE Oklahoma—5, LLC   Oklahoma    

SRE South Carolina—2, LLC   South Carolina    

SRE South Carolina—3, LLC   South Carolina    

SRE South Carolina—4, LLC   South Carolina    

SRE Tennessee—1, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—2, LLC   Tennessee    



Name of Entity

  

Domestic State

  

Certificate of
Assumed Name

SRE Tennessee—3, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—4, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—5, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—6, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—7, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—8, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Tennessee—9, LLC   Tennessee    

SRE Texas—1, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—2, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—3, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—4, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—5, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—6, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—7, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Texas—8, L.P.    Texas    

SRE Virginia—1, LLC   Virginia    

SRE Virginia—2, LLC   Virginia    



Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Sonic Automotive, Inc.:
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-82615 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-81059 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-81059 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-81053 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-81053 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-71803 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-77407 on Form S-3MEF;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-69907 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-69899 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-68183 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-65447 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-49113 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-96023 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-51978 on Form S-4;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-50430 and Nos. 333-50430-01 through 333-50430-G7 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-69901 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Statement No. 333-69901 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-95791 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-95791 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-46272 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-46272 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-46274 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement No. 333-46274 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-86672 and Nos. 333-86672-01 through 333-86672-216 on Form S-3;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-102052 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-102053 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-109411 on Form S-8;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-109426 and Nos. 333-109426-1 through 333-109426-261 on Form S-4;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-111463 and Nos. 333-111463-01 through 333-111463-263 on Form S-4;
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-117065 on Form S-8; and
 
 •  Registration Statement No. 333-124370 on Form S-8.
 

of our reports dated March 16, 2007, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Sonic Automotive, Inc. (which report on the financial statements expresses an
unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-
Based Payment, and the application of the provisions of Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.) and management’s report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sonic Automotive, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2006.

 
/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

 
Charlotte, North Carolina
March 16, 2007



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, David P. Cosper, certify that:
 
 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sonic Automotive, Inc.;
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,

in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: March 16, 2007
 
By:

 

/S/    DAVID P. COSPER        

  David P. Cosper
  Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, O. Bruton Smith, certify that:
 
 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sonic Automotive, Inc.;
 
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made,

in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that

material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to

provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over

financial reporting.
 
Date: March 16, 2007
 
By:

 

/S/    O. BRUTON SMITH        

  O. Bruton Smith
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Sonic Automotive, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David P. Cosper, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant
to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

/S/    DAVID P. COSPER        

David P. Cosper
Vice Chairman and

Chief Financial Officer
March 16, 2007



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Sonic Automotive, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, O. Bruton Smith, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

/S/    O. BRUTON SMITH        

O. Bruton Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 16, 2007
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